# IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY Digital Repository

Graduate Theses and Dissertations

Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations

2016

# Supervised agricultural experience instruction in agricultural teacher education: A national descriptive study

Bryan Dean Rank Iowa State University

Follow this and additional works at: http://lib.dr.iastate.edu/etd Part of the <u>Agricultural Education Commons</u>

#### **Recommended** Citation

Rank, Bryan Dean, "Supervised agricultural experience instruction in agricultural teacher education: A national descriptive study" (2016). *Graduate Theses and Dissertations*. 15797. http://lib.dr.iastate.edu/etd/15797

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations at Iowa State University Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Iowa State University Digital Repository. For more information, please contact digirep@iastate.edu.

# Supervised agricultural experience instruction in agricultural teacher education: A national descriptive study

by

#### **Bryan Dean Rank**

A dissertation submitted to the graduate faculty

in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

#### DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Major: Agricultural Education

Program of Study Committee: Michael S. Retallick, Major Professor Robert A. Martin Gregory S. Miller Thomas H. Paulsen Patricia Carlson

Iowa State University

Ames, Iowa

2016

Copyright © Bryan Dean Rank, 2016. All rights reserved.

### **DEDICATION**

This dissertation is dedicated to the students of Marshall High School and members of the Marshall FFA Chapter in Marshall, Texas. My experience as your agriculture science teacher was the reason I pursued this degree. It is my sincere hope that my contribution to the agricultural education discipline will benefit you and students like you across the nation. Thank you for teaching me to be an educator.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATION	ii
LIST OF FIGURES	vi
LIST OF TABLES	. vii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	viii
ABSTRACT	xi
CHAPTER I. GENERAL INTRODUCTION Background and Setting. Statement of the Problem. Objectives of the Study. Significance of the Study. Limitations. Dissertation Organization Chapter Summary. References.	1 3 3 4 4 4 5 5
CHAPTER II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE Introduction Experiential Learning Theory Historical Context of SAE Agricultural Teacher Education Locke's Motivation Hub Summary References	7 7 13 15 17 18 19
CHAPTER III. METHODS Introduction Synthesis of SAE Research 1994-2014 Search Strategies Coding SAE Instruction Content and Placement	. 24 24 24 24 25 25
Population Survey Instrument Content Analysis Request for Documents Document Analysis Summary	20 26 27 30 30 31 32
References	32

CHAPTER IV. SYNTHESIS OF CONTEMPORARY SAE RESEARCH 1994-2014		
Abstract		
Introduction	36	
Conceptual Framework	36	
Purpose	38	
Methods	38	
Findings	39	
Participation	41	
Teacher Education	42	
Benefits	44	
Professional Development	45	
Supervision	46	
Scope/Structure	47	
Economic Impact	48	
Program Quality	49	
Learning Theory	49	
International Settings		
Conclusions and Recommendations	50	
References	53	
CHAPTER V. SUPERVISED AGRICULTURAL EXPERIENCE INSTRUCTION IN AGRICULTURAL TEACHER EDUCATION PROGRAMS: A NATIONAL	<b>C</b> 1	
DESCRIPTIVE STUDY	64	
Abstract	64	
	65	
	66	
Purpose and Objectives	6/	
Methods	68	
Findings	72	
Conclusions, Implications, and Recommendations	87	
References	90	
CHAPTER VI. AN ANALYSIS OF SUPERVISED AGRICULTURAL EXPERIENCE CONTENT IN AGRICULTURAL TEACHER EDUCATION	95	
Abstract	95	
Introduction	96	
Conceptual Framework	97	
Purpose and Objectives	99	
Methods	99	
Reporting of Results	. 101	
Structure	. 103	
Record Book	. 105	
Supervision	. 106	
Overall SBAE Program	. 107	
Selection and Growth	. 108	
Experiential Learning	. 109	
History and Philosophy	. 110	

Specific Agriculture or Career Skills	
Agriculture Teacher Responsibilities	111
Legal and Ethical	
Summary of Findings	112
Limitations	113
Conclusions, Implications, and Recommendations	
References	
CHAPTER VII. GENERAL CONCLUSIONS	120
References	127
APPENDIX A. INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL	
	122
APPENDIX B. CONTENT AND PLACEMENT SURVEY INSTRUMENT	
ADDENDIV C. CONTENT ANALVER DEDUCTIVE CODING FORM	1/2
AFFENDIA C. CONTENT ANAL ISIS DEDUCTIVE CODING FORM	143
APPENDIX D. REPRINTING PERMISSIONS	

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1	Structural Dimensions Underlying the Process of Experiential Learning and the Resulting Basic Knowledge Forms	11
Figure 2.2	Comprehensive Model for Secondary Agricultural Education	12
Figure 2.3	The Motivation Sequence	18
Figure 4.1	Frequency of themes of SAE research articles, 1994–2014	40
Figure 5.1	Focus of Agricultural Teacher Education in Relation to the SBAE Model Heat Map	86
Figure 6.1	Frequency of Documents by Type	102
Figure 6.2	Frequency of themes identified in SAE agricultural teacher education course materials	103

## LIST OF TABLES

		Page
Table 3.1	Description of ordinal scale levels	
Table 5.1	Description of ordinal scale levels	71
Table 5.2	Category of department or school responsible for agriculture teacher education	72
Table 5.3	Faculty appointment of those teaching SAE curriculum	73
Table 5.4	Agriculture teacher education programs offering SAE instruction by level(s)/type(s) of program	73
Table 5.5	Courses in which SAE instruction was offered	74
Table 5.6	SAE content taught within the curriculum	75
Table 5.7	Text responses for specific recordkeeping systems	75
Table 5.8	Level of instruction pertaining to the AAAE Competencies for Teacher Education in SAE Competency 1	79
Table 5.9	Level of instruction pertaining to the AAAE Competencies for Teacher Education in SAE Competency 2	80
Table 5.10	Level of instruction pertaining to the AAAE Competencies for Teacher Education in SAE Competency 3	81
Table 5.11	Level of instruction pertaining to the AAAE Competencies for Teacher Education in SAE Competency 4	82
Table 5.12	Level of instruction pertaining to the AAAE Competencies for Teacher Education in SAE Competency 5	83
Table 5.13	B Level of instruction pertaining to the AAAE Competencies for Teacher Education in SAE Competency 6	84
Table 5.14	Level of instruction pertaining to the AAAE Competencies for Teacher Education in SAE Competency 7	85

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

There are many people I would like to thank for their support and assistance throughout this journey. In many ways, this degree program is a continuation of a lifetime of learning. I am thankful for the opportunity to thank the people who helped to mold me as a learner and as an educator.

First of all, I would like to thank Dr. Mike Retallick for accepting me as a graduate student. Dr. Retallick, your high expectations coupled with your continual support have helped me to reach beyond what I thought I was capable of. You have provided an exceptional example for me to follow as a researcher and an educator. I am truly grateful that I had the opportunity to learn from you.

Dr. Martin, thank you for mentoring me throughout my graduate school experience. I have truly enjoyed our informal conversations in the hallway and office. You have been an inspiration, and I am grateful to have had the opportunity to work with you.

Dr. Greg Miller, thank you for your help and support. You are an excellent researcher, and I have learned a great deal from our conversations. I appreciate the continual support and encouragement you have given me.

Dr. Tom Paulsen, I appreciate your easy-going yet professional personality. You have always been an encouragement. I am thankful that you gave me the opportunity to participate in the lesson plan tuning protocol and in providing feedback on your students' mini-lessons. Those experiences will be valuable as I begin my career.

Dr. Pat Carlson, I truly appreciate your perspective as an outside committee member. You have challenged me to think critically about agricultural education. I will always

viii

remember your comment in my prelim when you asked why agriculture teachers teach the three circle model to students. Thank you for your insight as well as your sense of humor.

I would like to thank the other faculty members and staff in the Agricultural Education and Studies Department: Dr. Wade Miller, Dr. Ryan Anderson, Dr. Nancy Grudens-Schuck, Dr. Kathleen Hunt, Dr. Gaylan Scofield, Dr. Sorrel Brown, Dr. Awoke Dollisso, Ms. Virginia Hanson, and Mr. Ben Chamberlain. Each of you have been an encouragement to me; thank you for your support in this journey. Ms. Wendy Ortmann and Ms. Sara Lundvall, thank you for always being willing to help and for being an encouragement during my time at Iowa State.

There are a few exceptional educators who I would like to thank for inspiring a love of agriculture and education throughout my life. First of all, my high school agriculture teacher, Mr. Steve Dockray. I may not have graduated from high school without your support and encouragement. I would also like to thank Dr. John Tavasci Jr. for his example as an educator who takes an interest in the success of individual students, academically as well as socially. In addition, I would like to thank my teaching partners in school-based agricultural education: Mr. Matt Garrett, Mr. Chad Baskin, Ms. Jessica Shadix, Ms. Jessica Rymel, Mr. Aaron Rogers, Ms. Carling Ludwig, Mr. Ian Zeringue, and the entire faculty and staff at Marshall High School. Each of you has helped and encouraged me along the way.

Mom and Dad, I would have never been able to do this without you. Thank you for all of your help along the way. Dad, thank you for believing in me and for inspiring my love for agriculture. The countless hours you spent helping me with my SAE and FFA activities were the foundation for my career choice as well as my research focus. Mom, I thought about including you as one of the educators who inspired me. Your example as a teacher has

ix

been an inspiration. I am convinced that I would not have even been able to graduate from high school if it was not for your efforts to help me with my dyslexia by helping me to read.

Finally, I would like to thank my wife. Pam, you have sacrificed more than anyone to make this journey possible. You are a great teacher in your own right and have reached students who everyone else had given up on. Thank you for being an encouragement and for supporting me in this endeavor. I love you; thank you for loving me.

#### ABSTRACT

The purpose of this dissertation was to explore how and to what extent supervised agricultural experience instruction is delivered in U.S. agricultural teacher education programs. Specific objectives of this dissertation were to synthesize supervised agricultural experience research published between 1994 and 2014, identify where and to what extent supervised agricultural experience instruction was included within agricultural teacher education programs, and describe the content of supervised agricultural experience curriculum materials within agricultural teacher education. Each of these objectives was examined as the purpose of a manuscript prepared for publication. To investigate the first research objective, an exhaustive search was conducted using library databases as well as digital journals and conference proceedings. Similar to the previous syntheses, research conducted between 1994 and 2014 was primarily descriptive, conceptually broad, and often limited to relatively small populations such as single states. The second objective was to identify where and to what extent supervised agricultural experience instruction was included within curricula in agriculture teacher education programs in the United States. The findings of this study showed that there was a broad range of instructional levels for each of the agricultural teacher preparation supervised agricultural experience competencies within individual teacher education programs. The third objective was to describe the content and placement of supervised agricultural experience curriculum within agricultural teacher education programs in course syllabi and other course materials. Eighty-eight documents from 28 agricultural teacher education programs were analyzed. Inductive coding using constant comparison revealed 10 themes addressed within the course materials provided in this study. Recordkeeping was the most common aspect of the supervised agricultural

experience curriculum to be taught using an experiential or project-based method. Additional multistate and national studies are recommended to describe the content and context of supervised agricultural experience instruction in teacher education and to refine quality indicators related to supervised agricultural experience practice. It is also recommended that supervised agricultural experience competencies in agricultural teacher education be taught using inquiry-based or problem-solving methods guided by the experiential learning process to move preservice teachers beyond conceptual supervised agricultural experience knowledge by developing the knowledge and skills necessary to overcome the barriers to the implementation and management of supervised agricultural experience.

#### **CHAPTER I. GENERAL INTRODUCTION**

The components of an effective school-based agricultural education (SBAE) program are commonly depicted in a Venn diagram as three intersecting circles consisting of contextual, inquiry-based learning through classroom and laboratory interaction, leadership engagement through the National FFA Organization and planned and supervised, experiencebased learning through supervised agricultural experience (SAE), which is the focus of this study (Talbert, Vaughn, Croom, & Lee, 2014). Over time, SAE has evolved from vocational training in a production agriculture context to include a broader variety of SAE types. The National Council for Agricultural Education ([NCAE], 2015) defined the types of SAE as exploratory, placement/internship, ownership/entrepreneurship, research, school-based enterprise, and service learning. In this chapter, the background and setting of this dissertation will be established leading to a statement of the problem and specific objectives to be addressed. The significance and the limitations of the study are described. Finally, the organization of the dissertation will be discussed.

#### **Background and Setting**

Faculty in university agricultural teacher education programs bear the responsibility of preparing future teachers to lead effective SBAE programs (Roberts & Dyer, 2004). As Roberts and Dyer (2004) stated, "Creating effective agriculture teachers is imperative for the long-term sustainability of agricultural education programs" (p. 94). Similarly, Myers and Dyer (2004) proposed "the goal of teacher education is to make the most effective use of the time available to prepare future educators for the task awaiting them" (p. 47). To meet these goals, preservice agriculture teachers are prepared using a combination of coursework, early field experience (EFE), and student-teaching. However, the combination of coursework

comprising the curricular structure of individual programs varies widely across agricultural teacher education programs (McLean & Camp, 2000).

As part of agriculture teacher education, "SBAE preservice programs should work to promote authentic experiences for preservice teachers to develop, implement, maintain, sustain, evaluate, supervise, and communicate an SAE program" (Rubenstein, Thoron, & Estepp, 2014, p. 81). In a study of 10 selected agriculture teacher education programs, all of the programs included SAE or an equivalent topic at various points within their curriculum; however, only three of the selected institutions reported a separate SAE course (McLean & Camp, 2000).

The NCAE (2015) has determined "Each portion of the title 'Supervised Agricultural Experience' is significant in describing what is expected of all teachers and students of agricultural education" (p. 1). The agriculture teacher should provide onsite supervision when possible, but also through other methods such as computer technology, written reports, and group meetings to assist students in planning and conducting their SAE (NCAE, 2015). Contextually, the SAE is based on agriculture and should form a linkage between agriculture, food, and natural resources (AFNR) instruction, the students' interests, and career exploration (NCAE, 2015).

Agriculture teachers have an effect on the implementation and success of SAE programs (Dyer & Osborne, 1995; Philipps, Osborn, Dyer, & Ball, 2008; Retallick, 2010; Rubenstein et al., 2014; Swortzel, 1996). However, "there is a paradox between the value teachers place on SAE and the manner in which SAE is being implemented" (Wilson & Moore, 2007, p. 89). Agriculture teachers have difficulty implementing SAE in practice even though they value it conceptually (Dyer & Osborne, 1995; Retallick, 2010; Wilson &

Moore, 2007). Wilson and Moore (2007) suggested that teachers are not implementing SAE because of a lack of rewards in the second phase and perceived barriers in the third phase of Locke's (1991) motivational schema. In the motivation hub, actions toward a goal are influenced by the value placed on the goal and by the perceived ability to take the actions necessary to achieve the goal (Locke, 1991). Perceived barriers limit the implementation of SAE even though agriculture teachers consider SAE programs to be valuable (Wilson & Moore, 2007).

#### **Statement of the Problem**

Although agriculture teachers value SAE, some have difficulty implementing SAE programs in practice (Dyer & Osborne, 1995; Retallick, 2010; Wilson & Moore, 2007). Relatively little research exists that examines how and to what extent SAE is taught within agricultural teacher education. McLean and Camp (2000) found "curricular structure differs widely among agricultural teacher education institutions" (p. 31). Identifying how and to what extent SAE instruction is included within agriculture teacher education curriculum will help to determine whether the current SAE instruction within agricultural teacher education programs contributes to the gap between SAE conceptualization and practice or helps to reduce it.

#### **Objectives of the Study**

The purpose of this dissertation was to explore how and to what extent SAE instruction is delivered in agricultural teacher education programs in the United States. This study focused on three research objectives:

- synthesizing peer-reviewed SAE research published between 1994 and 2014,
- identifying where and to what extent SAE instruction was included within agricultural teacher education programs in the United States, and

• describing the content and placement of SAE curriculum materials within agricultural teacher education programs

#### Significance of the Study

The results of this study provide a foundational overview of SAE curriculum in agriculture teacher education programs in the United States. This foundation provides a snapshot of one-moment-in-time that can be used in future research to identify best practices for SAE instruction in agriculture teacher education programs. This study contributes to the understanding of how SAE is taught to preservice agriculture teachers and improves SAE instruction in agricultural teacher education programs ultimately providing preservice teachers the training and tools to implement and manage successful SAE programs upon their entry into the profession as agriculture teachers.

#### Limitations

This study is limited to agriculture teacher education programs in the United States that had current students or recent graduates with an agriculture teacher education major. The study focused only on the current curriculum content and level of SAE instruction. The information obtained from this study was only baseline data to identify what was occurring at a single point in time regarding SAE instruction in agriculture teacher education programs. Agricultural teacher education program plans regarding future SAE instruction or curriculum changes are not within the scope of this study.

#### **Dissertation Organization**

This dissertation is divided into seven chapters. Chapter I serves as a general introduction to the dissertation. Chapter II is an extensive literature review of SAE and experiential learning theory. Methods used in this study are described in Chapter III. The fourth chapter is a research article that synthesizes SAE research conducted between 1994

and 2014 and addresses objective one of this study. Chapter V is a research article that describes the instructional level of SAE competencies addressing the dissertation's second objective. Chapter VI is a research article that addresses objective three and describes the content of SAE course materials used in agricultural teacher education. The conclusions and recommendations of the dissertation are presented in the seventh chapter.

#### **Chapter Summary**

In this chapter, it was identified that a gap exists between SBAE teachers' conceptualizations of SAE and how they implement SAE in practice. This gap may be explained by examining how and to what extent SAE instruction is delivered in agricultural teacher education programs.

#### References

- Dyer, J. E., & Osborne, E. W. (1995). Participation in supervised agricultural experience programs: A synthesis of research. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 36(1), 6-14. doi:10.5032/jae.1995.01006
- Locke, E. A. (1991). The motivation sequence, the motivation hub, and the motivation core. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, *50*, 288-299.
- McLean, R. C., & Camp, W. G. (2000). An examination of selected preservice agricultural teacher education programs in the United States. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 41(2), 25-35. doi:10.5032/jae.2000.02025
- Myers, B. E., & Dyer, J. E. (2004). Agriculture teacher education programs: A synthesis of the literature. *Journal of agricultural Education*, 45(3), 44-52.
  doi:10.5032/jae.2004.03044
- National Council for Agricultural Education. (2015). *Philosophy and guiding principles for execution of the supervised agricultural experience component of the total school-*

*based agricultural education program.* Retrieved from https://www.ffa.org/SiteCollectionDocuments/sae\_guiding\_principles.pdf

- Phipps, L. J., Osborne, E. W., Dyer, J. E., & Ball, A. (2008). Handbook on agricultural education in public schools (6th ed.). Clift Park, NY: Thomson Delmar.
- Retallick, M. S. (2010). Implementation of supervised agricultural experience programs: The agriculture teachers perspective. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, *51*(4), 59-70. doi:10.5032/jae.2010.04059
- Roberts, T. G., & Dyer, J. E. (2004). Characteristics of effective agriculture teachers. *Journal* of Agricultural Education, 45(4), 82-95. doi:10.5032/jae.2004.04082
- Rubenstein, E. D., Thoron, A. C., & Estepp, C. M. (2014). Perceived self-efficacy of preservice agriculture teachers toward specific SAE competencies. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 55(4), 72-84. doi:10.5032/jae.2014.04072
- Talbert, B. A., Vaughn, R., Croom, D. B., & Lee, J. S. (2014). Foundations of agricultural education (3rd ed.). Danville, IL: Professional Educators Publications.
- Wilson, E. B., & Moore, G. E. (2007). Exploring the paradox of supervised agricultural experience programs in agricultural education. *Journal of Agricultural Education*. *48*(4), 82-92. doi:10.5032/jae.2007.04082

#### **CHAPTER II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE**

#### Introduction

The purpose of this dissertation was to explore how and to what extent SAE instruction is delivered in agricultural teacher education programs in the United States. To accomplish this purpose, the specific objectives of this dissertation were to synthesize peer-reviewed SAE research published between 1994 and 2014, identify where and to what extent SAE instruction was included within agricultural teacher education programs in the United States, and describe the content and placement of SAE curriculum materials within agricultural teacher education programs.

SAE is conceptualized as an integral component of the agricultural education model. In Chapter II, the theoretical foundations of SAE in experiential learning theory will be described. The historical context of SAE will be identified. In addition, the role of agricultural teacher education in preparing preservice teachers to implement and manage SAE programs will be examined. Finally, the interaction of goals and self-efficacy in the motivation hub will be described.

#### **Experiential Learning Theory**

An educational theory is developed as a framework used to explain a philosophical position describing how learning takes place. Dewey (1938) called for "a coherent *theory* of the experience, affording positive direction to selection and organization of appropriate educational methods and materials" (p. 30). Dewey's (1938) description of learning occurring along a continuum of interconnected experiences provided a foundation that resulted in the formation of experiential learning theory.

Experiential learning theory is rooted in constructivism (Kolb, 2015; Roberts, 2006; Roberts & Ball, 2009). Rather than a single theory, constructivism is commonly described using the broad categories of cognitive constructivism, social constructivism, and radical constructivism as forms of constructivism that occur along a continuum (Doolittle & Camp, 1999). Cognitive constructivism and radical constructivism occur on opposite ends of the continuum and are based on the assumption of the objectivity or subjectivity of knowledge. Social constructivism is between, with knowledge being subjective but constructed through social interaction (Doolittle & Camp, 1999; Roberts, 2006).

Within the constructivist spectrum, the middle-range theory of experiential learning falls between the grand theories of cognitive constructivism and social constructivism (Martin & Henry, 2011). Cognitive constructivism focuses on the cognitive aspects of creating knowledge while social constructivism views knowledge as the result of social interaction and language use (Doolittle & Camp, 1999). In this way, social constructivism differs from cognitive constructivism because social constructivism is a shared experience, rather than an individual experience (Doolittle & Camp, 1999).

Experiential learning theory is based on the educational philosophy espoused by a variety of scholars including John Dewey, Kurt Lewin, Jean Piaget, and Lev Vygotsky (Kolb, 2015). Each of these people believed that knowledge was constructed through experience (Kolb, 2015). For example, Dewey (1938) considered all learning to be based on experience but indicated that not all experiences were equally educational. He contended that the quality of the experience was related directly to the value of the knowledge gained and how that knowledge was applied to new experiences. The nature of experiential learning

theory is cyclical, meaning the knowledge acquired in one iteration of the cycle is transferred to new experiences (Dewey 1938; Kolb, 2015).

Lewin (1951) stated "the term *learning* is a popular one which refers in a more or less vague way to some kind of betterment" (p. 65). Within the broad context of learning, Lewin (1951) identified four types of learning based on their psychological nature. The first type of learning is a change in cognitive structure or building knowledge. Other types of learning include a change in motivation, a change in group belonging or ideology, and voluntary control of the musculature. Lewin (1951) described the change in cognitive structure type of learning through an example of learning to navigate in a new town. In this example, as a person becomes more familiar with his or her surroundings, he or she will build a structure of knowledge about the city and begin to differentiate the best routes to travel to a destination. This example demonstrates how knowledge is actively constructed based on the individual's goals and experience within the surrounding environment (Lewin, 1951).

Similarly, Piaget (1995) described learning as an active process in which knowledge is constructed. Within the concrete operational stage, knowledge is formed through the physical manipulation of an object (Piaget, 1995). However, active learning is not limited to the concrete operational stage alone but is also part of the formal operational stage (Piaget, 1995). As a person moves into the formal operations stage, he or she begins to use abstract thought to form knowledge (Piaget, 1995). Piaget, (1995) described reflection and abstraction as methods of active learning in the formal operational stage.

At other levels the most authentic research activity may take place in the spheres of reflection, of the most advanced abstraction, and of verbal manipulations (provided

they are spontaneous and not imposed on the child at the risk of remaining partially uncomprehended). (Piaget, 1995, p. 712)

According to Piaget, knowledge is based on experience and is the result of the interaction of a person with the environment (Kolb, 2015). Active interaction with the environment can be either concrete physical experience or an abstraction that is manipulated through cognitive processes (Piaget, 1995).

Vygotsky viewed the construction of knowledge as influenced by experience as well as through historical, cultural, and social relationships (Kolb, 2015). According to Vygotsky (1978), mentoring by adults or capable peers moves the learner through the zone of proximal development that lies between the learner's actual developmental stage and the learner's potential developmental stage, "when an educator has a personal relationship with a learner, he or she can skillfully intervene to reinforce or alter a learner's pattern of interaction with the world" (Kolb, 2015, p. 27).

Grounded in the cyclical process of active learning based on experience, Kolb (2015) described the experiential learning process and structure, "the process of experiential learning can be described as a four-stage cycle involving four adaptive learning modes—concrete experience, reflective observation, abstract conceptualization, and active experimentation" (p. 66). Learning is the process in which knowledge is created through the combination of grasping and transforming experience through dialectically opposed adaptive learning modes (Kolb, 2015). Learners grasp knowledge through concrete experiences or abstract conceptualization and transform that experience through reflective observation or active experimentation (Kolb, 2015). Knowledge is continually constructed by learners as they

progress through this cycle that becomes a spiral as new experiences build on past ones (Kolb, 2015). The interaction of grasping and transforming experience is illustrated in Figure 2.1.



*Figure 2.1.* Structural dimensions underlying the process of experiential learning and the resulting basic knowledge forms. Reprinted from *Kolb, David A., Experience as the Source of Learning and Development*, 2nd ed., ©2015. Reprinted by permission of Pearson Education, Inc., New York, New York.

Within SBAE, the entire program including classroom/laboratory instruction, FFA,

and SAE has the potential to incorporate the experiential learning process (Baker, Robinson,

& Kolb, 2012). The total learning experience in SBAE is illustrated when the experiential

learning process model is placed on the agricultural education model (Baker Robinson, & Kolb, 2012) in Figure 2.2.



*Figure 2.2.* Comprehensive model for secondary agricultural education. Reprinted from Aligning Kolb's experiential learning theory with a comprehensive agricultural education model (p. 9) by Marshall A. Baker, J. Shane Robinson, and David A. Kolb, 2012, *Journal of Agricultural Education, 53*(4). Reprinted with Permission.

Combining the experiential learning process with the SBAE model demonstrates that the experiential learning process can be embedded within each of the three components (Baker, Robinson, & Kolb, 2012). Additionally, the experiential learning process encompassing the complete SBAE model demonstrates the overall use of the experiential learning process with the interaction between the three components within the model (Baker, Robinson, & Kolb, 2012). For example, a concrete experience in the SAE component could be the beginning point of reflective observation in the classroom. Agriculture teachers need to understand the process of experiential learning to use it effectively within their programs (Baker, Robinson, & Kolb, 2012; Roberts 2006). Agricultural teacher education programs incorporate the experiential learning process into preservice programs to provide teachers with experiences that are meant to link theory to practice (Miller & Wilson, 2010). Early field experience (EFE) is one example of experiential learning within agricultural teacher education. According to Smalley and Retallick (2012), "through EFE, preservice teachers have experiences that resemble and model the experiences they will have as teachers" (p. 100).

However, participation in an experience alone is not necessarily a quality learning experience (Dewey, 1938). Connecting the experience to critical thinking and applying knowledge to new experiences is the core of experiential learning theory (Dewey, 1938; Kolb, 2015). As Baker, Robinson, and Kolb (2012) stated, "it is important to not overlook the last word in experiential learning is learning" (p. 1).

#### **Historical Context of SAE**

Supervised experience is likely to have been the first component of the SBAE model to originate and is thought to be rooted in apprenticeships by which youth learned a trade from a skilled craftsman (Croom, 2008). In the early 20th century, agricultural educator Rufus Stimson pioneered the use of the home project method to give students relevant experience. Stimson proposed that projects should be completed in specific learning conditions with measurable results (Croom, 2008). According to Stimson (1919), "home project work thus gives to agricultural teaching the reality of actual life, as but little school training can give it" (p. 54).

As SAE has evolved through the years, its context has expanded beyond vocational training in production agriculture. Section 10 of The National Vocational Education Act of

1917, also known as the Smith-Hughes Act, mandated that schools provide directed or supervised practice on a farm for at least six months per year. Later, the Vocational Education Act of 1963 provided a broader context for experience that could include off-farm experience (Boone, Doerfert, & Elliot, 1987).

Through the years, SAE has been referred to by various names. Among these, *supervised farming practice, farming practice and occupational experience*, and *supervised occupational experience* were terms associated with the concept at different times in the history of school-based agricultural education (Boone, Doerfert, & Elliot, 1987). Currently, the NCAE (2015) has defined the types of SAE as exploratory, placement/internship, ownership/entrepreneurship, research, school-based enterprise, and service learning.

Although SAE is often thought of as the primary experiential learning component of the SBAE model (Baker, Robinson, & Kolb, 2012; Barrick & Hughes, 1993; Bird, Martin, & Simonsen, 2013), experiential learning occurs within the context of formal classroom instruction or FFA activities as well (NCAE, 2015). The SAE component differs from other forms of experiential learning practiced in SBAE such as inquiry-based classroom or lab instruction, field trips, or FFA competitive events because it includes career planning, is managed by the student, occurs outside of classroom instruction, and occurs in a real-world or a simulated workplace environment (NCAE, 2015).

The NCAE (2015) has determined "each portion of the title 'Supervised Agricultural Experience' is significant in describing what is expected of all teachers and students of agricultural education" (p. 1). The agricultural teacher should provide onsite supervision when possible, but also through other methods such as computer technology, written reports, and group meetings to assist students in planning and conducting their SAE (NCAE, 2015).

Contextually, the SAE is based on agriculture and should form a linkage between agriculture, food, and natural resources (AFNR) instruction, the students' interests, and career exploration (NCAE, 2015).

#### **Agricultural Teacher Education**

Agriculture teachers have an effect on the implementation and success of SAE programs (Dyer & Osborne, 1995; Philipps, Osborn, Dyer, & Ball, 2008; Retallick, 2010; Rubenstein, Thoron, & Estepp, 2014; Swortzel, 1996). Swortzel (1996) indicated that the potential for students to have successful SAEs is largely dependent on the agriculture teacher playing a critical role in promoting and managing the experiences.

However, "there is a paradox between the value teachers place on SAE and the manner in which SAE is being implemented" (Wilson & Moore, 2007, p. 89). Agriculture teachers have difficulty implementing SAE in practice even though they value it conceptually (Dyer & Osborne, 1995; Retallick, 2010; Wilson & Moore, 2007). As a possible reason for the paradox between perceived value and implementation, Wilson and Moore (2007) suggested that teachers are not implementing SAE because of a lack of rewards in the second phase and perceived barriers in the third phase of Locke's (1991) motivational schema. In the motivation hub, actions toward a goal are influenced by the value placed on the goal and by the perceived ability to take the actions necessary to achieve the goal (Locke, 1991). Perceived barriers limit the implementation of SAE even though agriculture teachers consider SAE programs to be valuable (Wilson & Moore, 2007). If agricultural teachers have effective strategies to overcome the perceived barriers they will be more likely to implement SAE (Retallick, 2010).

Faculty in university agricultural teacher education programs bear the responsibility of preparing future teachers to lead effective SBAE programs (Roberts & Dyer, 2004). As

Roberts and Dyer (2004) stated, "creating effective agriculture teachers is imperative for the long-term sustainability of agricultural education programs" (p. 94). Similarly, Myers and Dyer (2004) proposed "the goal of teacher education is to make the most effective use of the time available to prepare future educators for the task awaiting them" (p. 47). To meet these goals, preservice agriculture teachers are prepared using a combination of coursework, EFE, and student-teaching. However, the combination of coursework comprising the curricular structure of individual programs varies widely across agricultural teacher education programs (McLean & Camp, 2000).

Wolf (2011) suggested that more emphasis should be placed on SAE in teacher preparation based on findings that beginning teachers reported the least self-efficacy in the SAE domain in comparison to the classroom and FFA domains. In a separate study, Rubenstein, Thoron, and Estepp (2014) found that preservice teachers who had completed their student teaching internship reported moderately high self-efficacy for SAE competencies. These preservice teachers also regarded SAE as an important part of SBAE with 95% of study participants reporting that SAE was important or somewhat important (Rubenstein et al., 2014).

In a study of Texas A&M University agricultural education student teachers, Harlin, Edwards, and Briers (2002) found that, although student teachers continued to regard SAE as an important component of SBAE, perceptions of the importance of SAE declined after their 11-week student teaching experience. However, in a similar study of Oklahoma State University student teachers, the mean composite score for the SAE construct increased following student teaching (Young & Edwards, 2006a). Although Oklahoma preservice teachers perceived that SAE was more important after their student teaching experience, the

element related to SAE was rated of lowest importance among all of the elements of their student teaching experience in both the pretest and posttest (Young & Edwards, 2006a). This lower rating of importance in comparison to the other elements of the student teaching experience mirrored the ranking of the SAE construct by Oklahoma cooperating teachers (Young & Edwards, 2006b). Texas cooperating teachers also indicated that they perceived the SAE construct as important; however, they indicated that it was less important than all but one of the constructs comprising the essential elements of the student teaching experience (Edwards & Briers, 2001).

Student teachers have the opportunity to supervise SAE regardless of the semester in which their student teaching experience occurs; however, student teachers in the spring semester devoted more time to supervising SAEs (Robinson, Krysher, Haynes, & Edwards, 2010). Student teachers should supervise a variety of SAEs, but they are limited to the SAEs in existence at their cooperating centers (Robinson et al., 2010). According to Rubenstein, Thoron, and Estepp (2014), "SBAE preservice programs should work to promote authentic experiences for preservice teachers to develop, implement, maintain, sustain, evaluate, supervise, and communicate an SAE program" (p. 81).

#### **Locke's Motivation Hub**

Locke's (1991) motivational schema suggests that a lack of rewards as well as perceived barriers contribute to agriculture teachers not implementing SAE programs (Wilson & Moore, 2007). In the motivation hub, actions toward a goal are influenced by the value placed on the goal and by the perceived ability to take the actions necessary to achieve the goal (Locke, 1991). Locke's motivation sequence, hub, and core are displayed in Figure 2.3.



*Figure 2.3.* The motivation sequence. Reprinted from: The motivation sequence, the motivation hub, and the motivation core. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes 50*(2), 289, by Edwin A. Locke, 1991. Reprinted with permission.

Locke (1991) stated, "goals or intentions and self-efficacy (expectancy) are considered to be the most direct and immediate motivational determinants of performance" (p. 293). The performance of a task is strongly influenced by a person's goals or intent and by the confidence in being able to take necessary actions (Locke, 1991). The goals in the motivation hub are based on the values and motives described in the motivation core (Locke, 1991). Agriculture teachers may have a lack of confidence in their ability to overcome perceived barriers that can limit the implementation of SAE even though they consider SAE programs to be valuable (Wilson & Moore, 2007).

#### Summary

In this chapter, the theoretical foundation of experiential learning in SAE was established. The historical context of SAE was described. The role of agricultural teacher education in preparing preservice teachers to implement and manage SAE programs was examined. Finally, the motivation sequence, hub, and core were described.

#### References

- Baker, M. A., Robinson, J. S., & Kolb, D. A. (2012). Aligning Kolb's experiential learning theory with a comprehensive agricultural education model. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 53(4), 1-16. doi:10.5032/jae.2012.04001
- Barrick, K., & Hughes, M. (1993). A model for agricultural education in public schools.*Journal of Agricultural Education*, 34(3), 59-67. doi:10.5032/jae.1993.03059
- Bird, W. A., Martin, M. J., & Simonsen, J. C., (2013). Student motivation for involvement in supervised agricultural experiences: An historical perspective. *Journal of Agricultural Education 54*(1), 31-46. doi:10.5032/jae.2013.01031
- Boone, H. N., Doerfert, D. L., & Elliot, J. (1987). Supervised occupational experience programs: history, philosophy, current status, and future implications. *Journal of the American Association of Teacher Educators in Agriculture*, 28(4), 57-64. doi:10.5032/jaatea.1987.04057
- Croom, D. B. (2008). The development of the integrated three-component model of agricultural education. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 49(1), 110-120. doi:10.5032 /jae.2008.01110

Dewey, J. (1938). Experience and Education. New York, NY: Simon and Schuster.

Doolittle, P. E., & Camp, W. G. (1999). Constructivism: The career and technical education perspective. *Journal of Vocational and Technical Education*, 16(1). Retrieved from: http://scholar.lib.vt.edu/ejournals/JVTE/v16n1/Doolittle

- Dyer, J. E., & Osborne, E. W. (1995). Participation in supervised agricultural experience programs: a synthesis of research. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 36(1), 6-14. doi:10.5032/jae.1995.01006
- Edwards, M. C., & Briers, G. E. (2001). Cooperating teachers' perceptions of important elements of the student teaching experience: A focus-group approach with quantitative follow-up. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, *42*(3), 30-41. doi:10.5032/jae.2001.03030
- Harlin, J. F., Edwards, M. C., & Briers, G. E. (2002). A comparison of student teachers' perceptions of important elements of the student teaching experience before and after an 11-week field experience. *Journal of Agricultural Education 43*(3), 72-83. doi:10.5032/jae.2002.03072
- Knobloch, N. (2003). Is experiential learning authentic? *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 44(4), 22-33. doi:10.5032/jae.2003.04022
- Kolb, D. A. (2015). Experiential learning: Experience as the source of learning and development (2nd ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.
- Lewin, K. (1951). *Field theory in social science*. Dorwin Cartwright (Ed.). New York, NY: Harper and Brothers.
- Locke, E. A. (1991). The motivation sequence, the motivation hub, and the motivation core. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 50*, 288-299.
- McLean, R. C., & Camp, W. G. (2000). An examination of selected preservice agricultural teacher education programs in the United States. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 41(2), 25-35. doi:10.5032/jae.2000.02025

Martin, M. J., & Henry, A. (2011). Supervised agricultural experiences and learning theories: evaluating the experience through a cognitive constructivist lens. *Research Conference Proceedings North Central Region American Association for Agricultural Education*, 213-229. Retrieved from http://aaaeonline.org/Resources/Documents/Research%20Conference%20Proceeding s, %20North%20Central%202011.pdf

- Miller, G. S., & Wilson, E. B. (2010). Designing field-based and experiential education for preservice teachers in agriculture. In R. Torres, T. Kitchel, & A. Ball (Eds.), *Preparing and advancing teachers in agricultural education* (pp. 131-141), Columbus, OH: Curriculum Materials Service, The Ohio State University.
- Myers, B. E., & Dyer, J. E. (2004). Agriculture teacher education programs: A synthesis of the literature. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 45(3), 44-52.
  doi:10.5032/jae.2004.03044
- National Council for Agricultural Education. (2015). *Philosophy and guiding principles for execution of the supervised agricultural experience component of the total schoolbased agricultural education*. Retrieved from

https://www.ffa.org/SiteCollectionDocuments/sae\_guiding\_principles.pdf

- Phipps, L. J., Osborne, E. W., Dyer, J. E., & Ball, A. (2008). Handbook on agricultural education in public schools (6th ed.). Clift Park, NY: Thomson Delmar.
- Piaget, J. (1995) *Essential Piaget*. H. E. Gruber & J. J. Voneche (Eds.). Northvale, NJ: Jason Aronson.

- Retallick, M. S. (2010). Implementation of supervised agricultural experience programs: The agriculture teachers' perspective. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 51(4), 59-70. doi:10.5032/jae.2010.04059
- Roberts, T. G. (2006). A philosophical examination of experiential learning theory for agricultural educators. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 47(1), 17-29. doi:10.5032/jae.2006.01017
- Roberts, T. G., & Ball, A. L. (2009). Secondary agricultural science as content and context for teaching. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 50(1), 81-91.
  doi:10.5032/jae.2009.01081
- Roberts, T. G., & Dyer, J. E. (2004). Characteristics of effective agriculture teachers. *Journal* of Agricultural Education, 45(4), 82-95. doi:10.5032/jae.2004.04082
- Robinson, J. S., Krysher, S., Haynes, J. C., & Edwards, M. C. (2010). How Oklahoma State University spent their time student teaching in agricultural education: A fall versus spring semester comparison with implications for teacher education. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 51(4), 142-153. doi:10.5032/jae.2010.04142
- Rubenstein, E. D., Thoron, A. C., & Estepp, C. M. (2014). Perceived self-efficacy of preservice agriculture teachers toward specific SAE competencies. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 55(4), 72-84. doi:10.5032/jae.2014.04072
- Smalley, S. W., & Retallick, M. S. (2012). Agricultural education early field experience through the lens of the EFE model. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 53(2), 99-109. doi:10.5032/jae.2012.02099
- Stimson, R. W. (1919). Vocational agricultural education by home projects. New York, NY: The MacMillian Company.

Swortzel, K. A. (1996). Perceptions regarding planning activities and supervision strategies for supervised agricultural experience programs. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 37(4), 47-55. doi:10.5032/jae.1996.02047

- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). *Mind in society: The development of higher psychological processes*.M. Cole, V. John-Steiner, S. Scribner, & E. Souberman (Eds.). Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Wilson, E. B., & Moore, G. E. (2007). Exploring the paradox of supervised agricultural experience programs in agricultural education. *Journal of Agricultural Education*. 48(4), 82-92. doi:10.5032/jae.2007.04082
- Wolf, K. J. (2011). Agricultural education perceived teacher self-efficacy: A descriptive study of beginning agricultural education teachers. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 52(2), 163-176. doi:10.5032/jae.2011.02163
- Young, R. B., & Edwards, M. C. (2006a). A comparison of student teachers' perceptions of important elements of the student teaching experience before and after a 12-week field experience. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 47(3), 45-57.
  doi:10.5032/jae.2006.03045
- Young, R. B., & Edwards, M. C. (2006b). Important elements of the student teaching experience in agricultural education: A comparison of cooperating teachers' and student teachers' perspectives. *Journal of Southern Agricultural Education Research*, 56(1), 89-100.
# **CHAPTER III. METHODS**

#### Introduction

The purpose of this dissertation was to explore how and to what extent SAE instruction is delivered in agricultural teacher education programs in the United States. To accomplish this purpose, this dissertation focused on three research objectives. The first research objective was to synthesize the peer-reviewed SAE research published between 1994 and 2014. The second objective focused on identifying where and to what extent SAE instruction was included within agricultural teacher education programs in the United States. Finally, the third objective was to describe the content of SAE curriculum materials within agricultural teacher education programs. In this chapter, the methods used to investigate each of the research objectives were examined.

#### Synthesis of SAE Research 1994-2014

According to Thieman, Henry, and Kitchel (2012), "research syntheses are essential to the progression of a particular field of research because they are a collection of past research that is necessary for the systematic construction of knowledge" (p. 84). The focus of this research synthesis was to describe the depth and breadth of SAE research published in the past 21 years.

# **Search Strategies**

Search strategies, inclusion criteria, and coding are essential in rigorous research synthesis (Cooper, 2010). The dates for research studies included in this synthesis were from January 1, 1994, through December 31, 2014. These dates for inclusion were purposefully selected to begin with the research syntheses conducted by Dyer and Osborne (1995, 1996) and Dyer and Williams (1997a, 1997b). The specific search strategies used included an exhaustive search of the library databases, ERIC, and WorldCat. Journal website searches and Google Scholar were also utilized. Keywords and phrases used in the search were *supervised agricultural experience* and *experiential learning* + *agricult*\*. These keywords provided a sufficient foundation to discover the breadth of research on the subject of SAE.

# Coding

Research articles identified in the search were documented and analyzed with an initial screening for relevance based on inclusion criteria that were developed (Cooper, 2010). Inclusion criteria for this synthesis required articles (a) to be published in a peer-reviewed journal or national/regional American Association for Agricultural Education (AAAE) research conference proceedings, (b) to include research specifically pertaining to SAE, (c) to be readily available and easily accessible through the search procedures, and (d) to be published between January 1994 and December 2014. It is important to note that research studies not readily available and easily accessible through the search strategy were not included.

Articles and conference proceedings that met the inclusion criteria were analyzed and coded within a coding matrix (Cooper, 2010). This matrix included (a) year published, (b) title, (c) author(s), (d) publication, (e) methods/procedures, (f) conclusion(s)/comments, (g) preliminary theme, and (h) final theme. Manuscripts in the matrix were then coded into final themes that emerged based on content. Research studies often address more than one specific area; therefore, they could potentially fit into more than one theme. Studies that fit into multiple themes were coded for a final theme based on the predominant theme addressed in the findings and conclusion. It is also common for studies presented at national or regional research conferences to be published later in a peer-reviewed journal. In cases in which a study was included in a conference proceeding and published in a peer-reviewed

journal with no substantive changes, only the journal articles were included in this study. The coding matrix categories for publication, methods/procedures, and final theme were analyzed using the IBM SPSS Statistics 19 statistical package, and descriptive statistics were reported.

# **SAE Instruction Content and Placement**

Faculty in university agricultural teacher education programs bear the responsibility of preparing future teachers to lead effective SBAE programs (Roberts & Dyer, 2004). To investigate objective two of this dissertation, a survey instrument was developed to identify the content and placement of SAE instruction within agricultural education programs as well as measure the level of instruction in each of the *Competencies for Agriculture Teacher Preparation in SAE* (AAAE, 2013b) from the perspective of agricultural teacher educators. **Population** 

The population for this study was all agriculture teacher education programs in the United States. One faculty member from each agriculture teacher education program was contacted as the representative of his or her institution's program. The population and program representatives were identified using the AAAE Directory of University Faculty in Agricultural Education (Dyer, 2003), AAAE Agricultural Education Directory online, NAAE Teach Ag website, and university or departmental websites. The program representatives were agriculture teacher education coordinators, department heads, or faculty members designated as program contacts. Designated departmental contacts were screened using university/departmental website information to ensure that they were faculty members rather than staff. If no agriculture teacher education coordinator or designated departmental contact was identified by an institution on the institution's website, the department chair was asked to represent the department. In instances where more than one faculty member was listed as a contact, faculty biography pages were analyzed, and a representative was selected based on his or her research and teaching relating to SAE and SBAE. If no agriculture teacher education program was listed by an institution that appeared in one or more of the directories, a phone call was made to the institution to verify the existence of an agricultural teacher education program and identify a representative. This search resulted in the identification of 95 agriculture teacher education programs.

# **Survey Instrument**

A survey instrument was developed using Qualtics following the Tailored Design Method for Internet surveys (Dillman, Smyth, & Christian, 2014). The instrument consisted of three sections based on the three objectives of the study (Appendix B).

The first section of the survey instrument collected demographic information regarding the type of institution as well as the department or school that housed the agriculture teacher education program. Additionally, respondents were asked to select the type/level of agricultural teacher education in which SAE instruction was offered at their institution, category of courses in which SAE objectives were included, and the SAE course content offered in stand-alone courses or embedded within the curriculum in their agricultural teacher education program.

The second section of the survey instrument consisted of statements derived from the *Competencies for Agriculture Teacher Preparation in SAE* (AAAE, 2013b). Participants were asked to rate their institution's level of instruction for each statement using an ordinal scale. The ordinal scale for these items in the second section was adapted from the *West Virginia State Community and Technical College General Education Core-Audit Grid* (Scroggins, 2004) and consisted of a 5-point scale. The ordinal scale items are described in Table 3.1.

Table 3.1

Ordinal Scale Level	Description
Not at all	Not introduced
Introduced	Introduces students to a content area or skill they are not familiar with
Emphasized	Content area or skill has been introduced and students have a basic knowledge, instruction is focused on enhancing content and building a more complex understanding
Reinforced	Instruction builds upon a competency that has been previously introduced/emphasized and reinforces the content or skill
Applied	Applies the content or skill in a problem solving or real world setting

### Description of Ordinal Scale Levels

Note. Ordinal scale adapted from the West Virginia State Community and Technical College General Education Core-Audit Grid

In the third section, respondents were asked to indicate the area of the agricultural education model as currently depicted by the National FFA Organization that most closely approximates the focus of their institution's agriculture teacher education program. A heat map was used to show the areas of the agricultural education model that were selected by the respondents. The heat map used a color scale to visually represent the area of the model selected by each respondent. The corresponding colors ranged from gray indicating no selection to bright red indicating multiple respondents selected an area.

Content validity was evaluated by a review panel consisting of university faculty (n = 5) from across the United States, who have published SAE research. A separate panel of university faculty with experience in survey methodology (n = 4) reviewed the survey and evaluated face validity including the overall clarity and ease of navigation of the instrument. Feedback from both panels was considered, and adjustments to the survey instrument were made based on their recommendations.

After the survey instrument was revised and IRB approval was received (Appendix A), an invitation was sent via email to the agriculture teacher education program

representatives to explain the purpose of the study and emphasize the importance of their response. This invitation included a link to access the survey. Following the invitation, three reminder emails were sent to non-responders. These reminder emails were spaced several days apart over approximately two weeks. Dates and times for the reminder emails were purposefully selected to avoid the reminders being received by respondents on weekends or Monday mornings.

Email requests for participation were sent to representatives of 95 institutions across the United States. The response rate for this survey was 78.95%. Of the 75 institutions responding, 5 indicated that they did not have any currently enrolled students or graduates within the past 5 years who had a major in agriculture teacher education. An additional two respondents indicated SAE was not part of their instruction. Institutions that indicated they did not have current students or recent graduates or that did not teach SAE within their curriculum were directed to the end of the survey and thanked for their participation, leaving 68 usable responses for a usable response rate of 71.58%. Early and late responders were compared to control for nonresponse error on the ordinal scale questions. A wave of late responders could not be identified, so late responders were defined operationally as the latter 50% of responders (Lindner, Murphy, & Briers, 2001). An independent samples *t*-test showed no statistically significant (p > 0.05) difference between early and late responders on the ordinal scale questions.

Responses to the survey instrument were analyzed using the IBM SPSS 23 statistical package. Findings were reported using descriptive statistics including the frequency, median, mode, mean, and standard deviation for ordinal scale responses and as percentages or counts

for other responses. Mode, median, and frequencies are appropriate for reporting stand-alone ordinal responses (Boone & Boone, 2012).

In addition, the survey instrument contained short-answer questions to provide a richer description related to some responses. Confidentiality was maintained, and individual faculty or institutions were not identified in any reported data.

#### **Content Analysis**

After data were collected using the survey instrument, a content analysis used existing documents as a triangulation method (Merriam, 2009) to describe the content of course materials within agricultural teacher education that included SAE instruction. This content analysis investigated objective three of this dissertation.

#### **Request for Documents**

After receiving internal review board (IRB) approval (Appendix A), requests for documents that included SAE content were sent via email to representatives of 95 institutions across the United States. These 95 institutions were the population identified as part of objective two. The documents that were requested included course syllabi, handbooks, unit instructional plans, and any other documents containing SAE content that were deemed essential by the faculty contacts. Faculty representatives were asked to reply to the email with attached digital copies of the requested documents. A reminder email was sent eight days after the initial invitation to encourage non-responders to submit documents.

A total of 92 documents were received from 28 agricultural teacher education programs. An initial analysis revealed duplicate documents (n = 2) and documents that did not specifically address SAE or a similar topic (n = 2). These four documents were removed leaving 88 usable documents to be analyzed.

### **Document Analysis**

The content of the course materials was coded in a two-step process. The first step of the content analysis was inductive coding using constant comparison. The second phase involved a deductive coding process using a coding form to analyze a random sample of documents.

In the first phase of the content analysis, the documents were inductively coded using a constant comparison qualitative research strategy to determine themes emerging from the existing documents (Meriam, 2009). Although the constant comparative method was first proposed as a data analysis method in the grounded theory methodology, it has been widely used in qualitative research without building a grounded theory (Merriam, 2009).

The focus of coding using constant comparison in qualitative content analysis is to extract themes from the data (Cho & Lee, 2014). Codes that were identified within the course materials were recorded within the coding matrix and arranged into tentative themes based on the content of the code. These tentative themes were then compared and reduced to final themes (Merriam, 2009).

The second step of the content analysis was designed to assess the reliability of the inductive coding process. In the second phase, a deductive coding instrument was created with descriptions of the final themes and the course components that were identified by the principle researcher. The coding instrument was used by a critical friend as a triangulation method to assess reliability (Johnson & Christensen, 2014). Johnson and Christensen (2014) described a critical friend as someone who could be trusted to provide honest and open feedback on the researcher's actions throughout the research process.

The critical friend in this study was a graduate student with a general knowledge of SAE but who had not implemented SAE as part of an SBAE program. This critical friend

was selected to help ensure that the researcher was not biased in selecting codes that were not directly related to SAE based on the researcher's subjectivity. The critical friend used the coding instrument to deductively code a random sample consisting of 10 documents. After the critical friend deductively coded the random sample of documents, the researcher and critical friend met to compare their analyses. The only discrepancy between the researcher and the critical friend was found in one of the sample documents where the term experiential learning was used rather than SAE to describe individual projects outside of the agricultural education classroom.

Findings were reported as a description of the themes that emerged based on the constant comparison qualitative analysis. In addition, frequencies of the types of documents received as well as frequencies of codes identified within each theme are reported.

#### **Summary**

In this chapter, the methods used to investigate the primary objectives of this study were described. The research synthesis provides a foundation while the survey instrument and the content analysis provide a triangulated perspective of how and to what extent SAE is included within agricultural teacher education.

### References

American Association for Agricultural Education. (2013b). Competencies for teacher preparation in SAE. Retrieved from

http://aaaeonline.org/Resources/Documents/SIG%20Files/SAE%20Competencies.pdf Boone, H. N., & Boone, D. A. (2012) Analyzing Likert scales. *Journal of Extension*, 50(2),

1-5. Retrieved from http://www.joe.org/joe/2012april/tt2.php

- Cho, J., Y., & Lee, E., H. (2015). Reducing confusion about grounded theory and qualitative content analysis: Similarities and differences. *The Qualitative Report*, 19(32), 1-20. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol19/iss32/2
- Cooper, H. M. (2010). *Research synthesis and meta-analysis: A step-by-step approach* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Dillman, D. A., Smyth, J. D., & Christian, L. M. (2014). Internet, phone, mail and mixedmode surveys: The tailored design method (4th ed.) Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley and Sons.
- Dyer, J. E. (Ed.). (2003). Directory. American Association for Agricultural Education.
- Dyer, J. E., & Osborne, E. W. (1995). Participation in supervised agricultural experience programs: A synthesis of research. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 36(1), 6-14. doi:10.5032/jae.1995.01006
- Dyer, J. E., & Osborne, E. W. (1996). Developing a model for supervised agricultural experience program quality: A synthesis of research. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 37(2), 24-33. doi:10.5032/jae.1996.02024
- Dyer, J. E., & Williams, D. L. (1997a). Benefits of supervised agricultural experience programs: A synthesis of research. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 38(4), 50-58. doi:10.5032/jae.1997.04050
- Dyer, J. E., & Williams, D. L. (1997b). Supervision of agricultural experience programs: A synthesis of research. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 38(4), 59-67. doi:10.5032/jae.1997.04059

- Johnson, R. B., & Christensen, L. B. (2014) Educational research methods: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed approaches (5th ed.). Los Angeles, CA: Sage. Retrieved from http://www.sagepub.com/bjohnson5e/main.htm
- Lindner, J. R., Murphy, T. H., & Briers, G. E. (2001). Handling nonresponse in social science research. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 42(4), 43-53. doi:10.5032/jae.2001.04043
- Merriam, S. B. (2009). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. San Francisco, CA: Josey-Bass.
- Roberts, T. G., & Dyer, J. E., (2004). Characteristics of effective agriculture teachers. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 45(4), 82-95. doi:10.5032/jae.2004.04082

Scroggins, B. (2004, November). The teaching-learning cycle: Using student learning outcome results to improve teaching and learning. Retrieved from: http://www.elcamino.edu/ academics/slo/docs/SLOFocusOnResults.doc

Thieman, E. B., Henry, A. L., & Kitchel, T. (2012). Resilient agricultural educators: Taking stress to the next level. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 53(1), 81-94.
doi:10.5032/jae.2012.01081

#### **CHAPTER IV. SYNTHESIS OF CONTEMPORARY SAE RESEARCH 1994-2014**

A manuscript accepted for publication in the *Journal of Agricultural Education* Bryan D. Rank and Michael S. Retallick

#### Abstract

In the 1990s, a series of research syntheses were conducted on the subject of supervised agricultural experience. These syntheses included research regarding supervised agricultural experience from 1964 through 1993. With these past syntheses as the origin, contemporary supervised agricultural experience research was identified, synthesized, and coded into emerging themes. Inclusion criteria for this synthesis required articles (a) to be published in a peer-reviewed journal or national/regional American Association for Agricultural Education research conference proceedings, (b) include research specifically pertaining to supervised agricultural experience, (c) available and accessible through the search procedures; and (d) to be published between January 1994 and December 2014. An exhaustive search was conducted using library databases as well as digital journals and conference proceedings. Themes that emerged from this synthesis were (a) participation, (b) teacher education, (c) benefits, (d) professional development, (e) supervision, (f) scope/structure, (g) economic impact, (h) program quality, (i) learning theory, and (k) international settings. Similar to the previous syntheses, research conducted between 1994 and 2014 was primarily descriptive, conceptually broad, and often limited to relatively small populations such as single states. Additional multistate and national studies are recommended to describe the content and context of supervised agricultural experience instruction in teacher education and to refine quality indicators related to supervised agricultural experience practice.

Keywords: Experiential learning; SAE; Supervised agricultural experience

# Introduction

In the 1990s, a series of manuscripts were published by Dyer and Osborne (1995, 1996) and Dyer and Williams (1997a, 1997b) based on a synthesis of supervised agricultural experience (SAE) research. These syntheses included SAE research from 1964 through 1993. Dyer and his colleagues identified perceptions, benefits, participation, scope, administration, teacher satisfaction, time requirements, supervision, evaluation, program quality, student and teacher background, facilities, and the relationship between the National FFA Organization (FFA) and SAE as major subject areas in SAE research (Dyer & Osborne, 1995, 1996). SAE research from 1964 through 1993 was described as primarily descriptive and lacking empirical research (Dyer & Osborne, 1995, 1996; Dyer & Williams 1997a, 1997b). Since that time, SAE has continued to evolve, which has given rise to the need to synthesize contemporary research conducted over the past 21 years, analyze the findings, and identify areas for future studies.

# **Conceptual Framework**

The model used to conceptualize the integral components that form the foundation of a complete school-based agricultural education (SBAE) program consists of three overlapping circles in a Venn diagram (Talbert, Vaughn, Croom, & Lee, 2014). These three components are (a) contextual, inquiry-based learning through classroom and laboratory interaction; (b) leadership engagement through FFA; and (c) planned and supervised, experience-based learning through SAE (Talbert et.al., 2014), which is the focus of this study.

The National Council for Agricultural Education (NCAE) has determined "each portion of the title 'Supervised Agricultural Experience' is significant in describing what is expected of all teachers and students of agricultural education" (NCAE, 2015, p. 1). The agricultural teacher should provide onsite supervision when possible but also through other methods, such as computer technology, written reports, and group meetings, to assist students in planning and conducting their SAE (NCAE, 2015). Contextually, the SAE is based on agriculture and should form a linkage between agriculture, food, and natural resources instruction, the students' interests, and career exploration (NCAE, 2015). The SAE component differs from other forms of experiential learning practiced in SBAE, such as inquiry-based classroom or lab instruction, field trips, or FFA competitive events, because it includes career planning, is managed by the student, occurs outside of classroom instruction, and occurs in a real-world or a simulated workplace environment (NCAE, 2015).

Supervised experience is likely to have been the first component of the SBAE model to originate and is thought to be rooted in apprenticeships by which youth learned a trade from a skilled craftsman (Croom, 2008). In the early 20th century, agricultural educator Rufus Stimson pioneered the use of the home project method to give students relevant experience. Stimson proposed that projects should be completed in specific learning conditions with measurable results (Croom, 2008). As SAE has evolved through the years, its context has expanded beyond vocational training in production agriculture. Currently, the NCAE (2015) has defined the types of SAE as exploratory, placement/internship, ownership/entrepreneurship, research, school-based enterprise, and service learning.

Although agriculture teachers articulate the value of SAE as they describe it conceptually, they have difficulty implementing it in practice (Dyer & Osborne, 1995; Retallick, 2010; Wilson & Moore, 2007). This paradox between SAE conceptualization and practice is evidenced by SAE practice not adequately reflecting the conceptual foundation of

the three-circle agricultural education model (Lewis, Rayfield, & Moore, 2012a, 2012b; Retallick, 2010; Retallick & Martin, 2008; Wilson & Moore, 2007).

#### Purpose

The purpose of this study was to identify, code, and synthesize contemporary SAE research published between 1994 and 2014. The specific objective was to describe themes that have emerged from SAE research.

#### Methods

According to Thieman, Henry, and Kitchel (2012), "research syntheses are essential to the progression of a particular field of research because they are a collection of past research that is necessary for the systematic construction of knowledge" (p. 84). The focus of this research synthesis was to describe the depth and breadth of SAE research published in the past 21 years.

Search strategies, inclusion criteria, and coding are essential in rigorous research synthesis (Cooper, 2010). The dates for research studies included in this synthesis were from 1994 through 2014. These dates for inclusion were purposefully selected to begin with the research syntheses conducted by Dyer and Osborne (1995, 1996) and Dyer and Williams (1997a, 1997b). The specific search strategies used included an exhaustive search of the library databases, ERIC, and WorldCat. Journal website searches and Google Scholar were also utilized. Keywords and phrases used in the search were *supervised agricultural experience* and *experiential learning* + *agricult*\*. These keywords provided a sufficient foundation to discover the breadth of research on the subject of SAE.

Research articles identified in the search were documented and analyzed with an initial screening for relevance based on inclusion criteria that were developed (Cooper, 2010). Inclusion criteria for this synthesis required articles (a) to be published in a peer-

reviewed journal or national/regional American Association for Agricultural Education (AAAE) research conference proceedings, (b) to include research specifically pertaining to SAE, (c) to be readily available and easily accessible through the search procedures, and (d) to be published between January 1994 and December 2014. It is important to note that research studies not readily available and easily accessible through the search strategy were not included. It is also important to note that it is common for studies presented at national or regional research conferences to be published later in peer-reviewed journals. In cases in which a study was included in a conference proceeding and published in a peer-reviewed journal with no substantive changes, only the journal articles were included in this study.

Articles and conference proceedings that met the inclusion criteria were analyzed and coded within a coding matrix (Cooper, 2010). This matrix included (a) year published, (b) title, (c) author(s), (d) publication, (e) methods/procedures, (f) conclusion(s)/comments, (g) preliminary theme, and (h) final theme. Manuscripts in the matrix were then coded into final themes that emerged based on content. Research studies often address more than one specific area; therefore, they could potentially fit into more than one theme. Studies that fit into multiple themes were coded for final theme based on the predominant theme addressed in the findings and conclusions. The coding matrix categories for publication, methods/procedures, and final theme were analyzed using the IBM SPSS Statistics 19 statistical package, and descriptive statistics were reported.

#### Findings

The search strategies revealed 75 research studies that fit the inclusion criteria. The primary publication used for dissemination of SAE research was the *Journal of Agricultural Education* (n = 48). Peer-reviewed journal articles that met the inclusion criteria were also found in the *Journal of Southern Agricultural Education Research* (n = 12) and the *Journal* 

of Career and Technical Education (n = 3). Altogether, 63 of the 75 manuscripts that fit within the search criteria were published in peer-reviewed journals. Research was also published in the national (n = 6) and regional (n = 6) conference proceedings of the AAAE.

Most SAE research methods were descriptive and often based on the participants' perceptions. The most common method of data collection was a survey instrument (n = 45) followed by Delphi techniques (n = 7). However, research studies were also identified that used mixed methods; qualitative methods such as interviews, focus groups, historical perspectives, and research syntheses; as well as quantitative analyses of longitudinal trend studies, economic impact, or test scores.

Research studies that met the inclusion criteria were coded into themes based on the predominant theme addressed in their findings and conclusions. The themes that emerged from this synthesis were (a) participation, (b) teacher education, (c) benefits, (d) professional development, (e) supervision, (f) scope/structure, (g) economic impact, (h) learning theory, (i) program quality, and (j) international settings (Figure 1).



*Figure 4.1.* The frequency of themes of SAE research articles, 1994-2014.

# Participation

Historically, SAE participation has been a concern for agriculture teachers since the beginning of SBAE (Bird, Martin, & Simonsen, 2013). Participation in SAE has been shown to be continually declining (Croom, 2008; Lewis et al., 2012a, 2012b; Retallick & Martin, 2008, Steele, 1997). Steele (1997) found a 10% reduction in SAE participation in New York between 1983 and 1997. In an 11-year trend study, Retallick and Martin (2008) identified a reduction in the percentage of Iowa students participating in SAE, although the overall SBAE enrollment was increasing, indicating a widening gap between SBAE enrollment and SAE participation. Only 46.1% of students in Florida, Indiana, Missouri, and Utah reported having an SAE (Lewis et al., 2012b). SAE participation in practice does not adequately reflect the conceptual foundation of the three-circle agricultural education model (Lewis et al., 2012a, 2012b; Retallick, 2010; Retallick & Martin, 2008).

Although agriculture teachers articulate the value of SAE as they describe it conceptually, they are having difficulty implementing it in practice (Retallick, 2010; Wilson & Moore, 2007). As Wilson and Moore (2007) stated, "there is a paradox between the value teachers place on SAE and the manner in which SAE is being implemented" (p. 89). Considering this paradox, Wilson and Moore suggested that teachers realize the importance of SAE, so rather than spending time and resources to convince agriculture teachers of the value of SAE, resources would be better utilized in training teachers to implement new types of SAE.

Wilson and Moore (2007) argued, even if teachers perceive a task as worthwhile, they may not carry out the task because of the barriers they perceive. According to Wilson and Moore (2007), "the third stage of Locke's motivational schema (1991) states if teachers perceive barriers to performing a task, even if it is a worthwhile task, they still may not carry

out the task" (p. 90). Retallick (2010) identified barriers to SAE implementation as "(a) changing demographics and societal attitudes, (b) mechanics and structure of schools, (c) resource availability, (d) image, and (e) agricultural education system" (p. 64) based on the perspective of agriculture teachers. Additionally, Graham and Birkenholtz (1999) identified a lack of background, training, and educational materials as a barrier to engaging nontraditional students in SAE. Similarly, Wilson and Moore identified a need for teachers to be trained in new SAE types; "given the number of students that teachers have in their classes and the time constraints, it may be time to radically think outside the box and embrace new SAE concepts such as agricultural service learning" (p. 90).

From the students' perspectives, encouragement from agriculture teachers was perceived as an important factor that influenced their participation in SAE (Lewis et al., 2012a). However, in a Delphi study of the characteristics of innovative SBAE programs the agricultural education panelists did not reach consensus on the statement that every student should be involved in a specific SAE (Rayfield, Murphy, Briers, & Lewis, 2012). Additionally, students indicated that they disagreed with the notion that involvement in other school and community activities decreased their participation in SAE programs and indicated that awards had little influence on their participation (Lewis et al., 2012a). With the understanding that agriculture teachers cannot be in more than one place at a time, the help and encouragement of teachers has an influence on student SAE participation (Lewis et al., 2012a). Agriculture teachers who believe that SAE is important and have effective strategies to overcome barriers are more likely to implement SAE (Retallick, 2010).

# **Teacher Education**

Preservice agriculture teachers are prepared for the teaching profession using a combination of coursework, early field experience (EFE), and student-teaching. McLean and

Camp (2000) found "curricular structure differs widely among agricultural teacher education institutions" (p. 31). In a study of 10 selected agriculture teacher education programs, all of the programs included SAE or an equivalent topic at various points within their curriculum; however, only three of the selected institutions reported a separate SAE course (McLean & Camp, 2000).

Wolf (2011) found that beginning teachers reported the least self-efficacy in the SAE domain in comparison to the classroom and FFA domains, suggesting that more emphasis should be placed on SAE in teacher preparation. In a separate study, Rubenstein, Thoron, and Estepp (2014) found that preservice teachers who had completed their student teaching internship reported moderately high self-efficacy for SAE competencies. These preservice teachers also regarded SAE as an important part of SBAE with 95% of study participants reporting that SAE was important or somewhat important (Rubenstein et al., 2014).

In a study of Texas A&M University agricultural education student teachers, Harlin, Edwards, and Briers (2002) found that, although student teachers continued to regard SAE as an important component of SBAE, perceptions of the importance of SAE declined after their 11-week student teaching experience. However, in a similar study of Oklahoma State University student teachers, the mean composite score for the SAE construct increased following student teaching (Young & Edwards, 2006a). Although Oklahoma preservice teachers perceived that SAE was more important after their student teaching experience, the element related to SAE was rated of lowest importance among all of the elements of their student teaching experience in both the pretest and posttest (Young & Edwards, 2006a). This lower rating of importance in comparison to the other elements of the student teaching experience mirrored the ranking of the SAE construct by Oklahoma cooperating teachers

(Young & Edwards, 2006b). Texas cooperating teachers also indicated that they perceived the SAE construct as important; however, they indicated that it was less important than all but one of the constructs comprising the essential elements of the student teaching experience (Edwards & Briers, 2001).

Student teachers have the opportunity to supervise SAE regardless of the semester in which their student teaching experience occurs; however, student teachers in the spring semester devoted more time to supervising SAEs (Robinson, Krysher, Haynes, & Edwards, 2010). Student teachers should supervise a variety of SAEs, but they are limited to the SAEs in existence at their cooperating centers (Robinson et al., 2010). According to Rubenstein et al. (2014), "SBAE preservice programs should work to promote authentic experiences for preservice teachers to develop, implement, maintain, sustain, evaluate, supervise, and communicate an SAE program" (p. 81).

# Benefits

SAE is considered to be beneficial in developing career skills. Ramsey and Edwards (2011) found that a panel of industry experts agreed that students should learn entry-level technical skills through their SAE that will enhance their employability in the agriculture industry. Similarly, a panel of agriculture teachers reached consensus on entry-level career skills that could be learned in each of the seven Oklahoma SBAE pathways (Ramsey & Edwards, 2012). Additionally, Robinson and Haynes (2011) found that alternatively certified teachers in Oklahoma valued SAE as a method to prepare students for careers by developing college and life skills and "these teachers expect the SAE program to teach students responsibility, accountability and work ethic" (p. 54). Considering the benefits students receive from SAE participation, North Carolina teachers believed students with special needs

received the same benefits from participation as do other students but identified fewer opportunities for SAE involvement (Johnson, Wilson, Flowers, & Croom, 2012).

Researchers have also investigated whether there is an academic benefit to SAE participation. Cheek, Arrington, Carter, and Randal (1994) found a low but positive correlation between SAE participation and students' achievement in agriscience courses. There was also a low but positive association on the science portion of the Georgia High School Graduation Test (GHST) between SAE engagement and student achievement (Ricketts, Duncan, & Peake, 2006). However, in a separate study limited to regular and special education students, SAE activity level did not have a statistically significant relationship with GHST science achievement (Clark, Parr, Peake, & Flanders, 2013).

Marx, Simonsen, and Kitchel (2014) found that SAE has less influence on students' career decisions than does classroom instruction or FFA. However, SAE offers the opportunity for students to network and build relationships with community members (Robinson & Haynes, 2011).

### **Professional Development**

Developing SAE opportunities for students has been consistently identified among the professional development needs for agriculture teachers (Garton & Chung, 1996, 1997; Layfield & Dobbins, 2002; Ricketts, Duncan, Peake, & Uesseler, 2005; Sorensen, Tarpley, & Warnick, 2010). Wolf (2011) recommended that SAE management become "a focus of professional development for beginning teachers" (p. 172) to increase their self-efficacy in the SAE domain. The need for professional development regarding developing SAE opportunities for students as well as supervising SAE programs for all students ranked highly in a study of middle school and high school agriculture teachers, with middle school teachers ranking these two topics higher than high school teachers did (Roberts & Dyer, 2003). In addition to developing and supervising SAE programs, agriculture teachers perceived preparing FFA proficiency award and degree applications as areas in which they needed continuing education (Garton & Chung, 1996, 1997; Layfield & Dobbins, 2002; Ricketts et al., 2005; Sorensen et al., 2010; Swafford & Friedel, 2010).

#### Supervision

To be successful, agriculture teachers must be capable of facilitating SAE by actively supervising student projects through planning and visits (Roberts, Dooley, Harlin, & Murphrey, 2007). Similarly, Roberts and Dyer (2004) described the characteristics of effective teachers related to SAE as having SAE knowledge as well as actively supervising and encouraging their students' projects. Tennessee agriculture teachers indicated that teachers should be involved in planning and supervising SAEs and that SAE supervision should be part of their duties during their extended summer contract (Swortzel, 1996). However, the amount of time agriculture teachers spent supervising SAEs varies throughout the year (Torres, Ulmer, & Aschenbrener, 2008). Torres et al. (2008) recommended "teachers need to distribute their time more consistently over the year when making SAE observations rather than allowing this task to be a seasonal effort" (p. 85).

Administrators in Oklahoma indicated that the first-year agriculture teachers they supervised performed in the range from good to excellent in providing adequate supervision to students' projects and requiring students to maintain record books but only fair to good in requiring all students to conduct meaningful SAE programs (Weeks & Terry, 1999). Similarly, principals in North Carolina expressed positive perceptions of SAE but did not think that SAE opportunities were provided to all students (Rayfield & Wilson, 2009). These North Carolina principals agreed that agriculture teachers should be employed on a year-round contract but did not think that agriculture teachers were conducting SAE visits during

the summer months (Rayfield & Wilson, 2009). Rayfield and Wilson (2009) recommended that principals express their perceptions of the value of SAE to teachers through recognition and evaluations based on SAE implementation and supervision.

# Scope/Structure

The scope and structure of SAE have evolved over time. The Vocational Education Act of 1963 expanded the scope of agricultural education and ended the mandatory SAE (Graham & Birkenholtz, 1999; Martin, 2010). Prior to the passage of the act, local programs were already developing a broader view of SAE (Martin, 2010). According to Martin (2010), "the rise of nonproduction SAEs and agriculturally-related occupational curriculum was stimulated by local community needs and not federal legislation" (p. 51). More recently, increasing enrollment of nonfarm students in agricultural education led to an increase in placement SAEs in Missouri between 1988 and 1997 (Graham & Birkenholtz, 1999). In addition to changing demographics, "as the scope of agriculture broadens, our concept of Supervised Agricultural Experience must be altered to meet the demand of students interested in new areas of agriculture" (Camp, Clarke, & Fallon, 2000, p. 20). For example, Texas agriculture teachers acknowledged that students should be involved in biotechnologyrelated SAEs (Mowen, Wingenbach, Roberts, & Harlin, 2007).

Roberts and Harlin (2007) recommended that agriculture teachers consider the individual goals of students to encourage appropriate projects. According to Roberts and Harlin (2007), "this implies that although two students may have similar projects, the intended learning outcomes may differ considerably (e.g., technical skill mastery vs. personal development)" (p. 53). For example, Rayfield and Croom (2010) proposed developing and encouraging age-appropriate research and exploratory SAEs in middle school programs that can be expanded upon when the students reach high school. Although new classifications of

projects have been added to be more inclusive of the types of projects students conduct, there is a risk that the scope of innovative projects may be changed to fit into an existing category (Roberts & Harlin, 2007).

### **Economic Impact**

SAE has been shown to have a substantial economic impact (Graham & Birkenholtz, 1999; Hanagriff, Murphy, Roberts, Briers, & Linder, 2010; Retallick & Martin, 2005; West & Iverson, 1999). Graham and Birkenholtz (1999) reported that in 1997 the average SAE student labor income from ownership and placement SAEs in Missouri was \$1,994 per student for a statewide total of over \$31.8 million in SAE labor income. This total is nearly double the total of SAE student labor income in Missouri for 1988 (Graham & Birkenholtz, 1999). Research conducted by West and Iverson (1999) showed that typical Georgia SBAE programs in the late 1990s contributed \$31,336 from entrepreneurship, \$39,176 from placement, and \$832 from improvement SAEs for a total contribution of \$71,344 per department to their local economies. This local SAE program economic value was extrapolated to estimate a statewide total economic value of over \$12 million derived from SAE programs in Georgia (West & Iverson, 1999). More recently, an 11-year trend study in Iowa showed that the average return from SAE per tax dollar invested in a SBAE program was \$1.66 and that the annual growth rate of return on tax dollars was 5.47% (Retallick & Martin, 2005). Over these 11 years (1991-2001), the total value of SAE earned income and value of unpaid hours in Iowa grew at an average annual rate of 6.05% from nearly \$10.4 million to nearly \$18.7 million (Retallick & Martin, 2005). In Texas, Hanagriff et al. (2010) showed annual economic impact of nearly \$189.4 million from animal, horticulture, and crop entrepreneurship SAEs and associated travel expenses.

# **Program Quality**

Researchers have investigated SAE program quality in an effort to identify and develop program quality indicators. Quality indicators for SAEs identified by Jenkins and Kitchel (2009) included diversity in SAE types; time for agriculture teacher supervision; upto-date recordkeeping; assistance by instructors, parents, and employers; goal setting; and student satisfaction. Similar SAE quality themes emerged from a focus group of American FFA Degree Star finalists including goal planning and authentic learning that leads to career growth, utilization of program partners (e.g., agriculture teachers, parents, and the community), personal satisfaction, and complete records (Rubenstein & Thoron, 2014). Additional SAE quality themes identified by the American FFA Degree Star finalists included income from the SAE program, FFA participation awards, and degrees, as well as hard work and program growth (Rubenstein & Thoron, 2014).

# Learning Theory

According to Baker, Robinson, and Kolb (2012), "traditionally, educators have identified SAE programs as the primary experiential learning tool in agricultural education" (p. 8). Experiential learning theory is based on the constructivist view that learning is a process of connecting experiences (Baker et al., 2012). This relationship with constructivism is further described as SAE practice being rooted in the middle-range theory of experiential learning and falls within the spectrum of the grand theories of social constructivism and cognitive constructivism (Martin & Henry, 2011).

Baker et al. (2012) stated that SAE does not necessarily need to be directly connected to what is taught in the classroom, adding, "what is most important, however, is allowing students to identify an area of interest or passion and assisting them in building a project around that area of interest" (p. 6). Meaningful learning in SAE requires purposeful

processing to make meaning of concrete experiences (Baker et al., 2012). According to Martin and Henry (2011), "learning needs to be intentional not accidental" (p. 221).

#### **International Settings**

Two studies were found that described the concept of SAE applied in international settings. Although this synthesis was focused primarily on SAE as a component of SBAE in the United States, these two studies were included because they show how the same SAE concept can be applied in areas around the world and because the inclusion criteria did not limit SAE to the United States. A study conducted in Uganda showed that the SAE method contributed to students' learning and the transfer of that learning to the students' home farms (Okiror, Matsiko, & Oonyu, 2011). The study found that of the two groups—home gardening and school gardening—the school gardening group was slightly more successful in comparison to the students with home gardens. Okiror et al. (2011) attributed the lower performance of the home gardening groups to weaker supervision by teachers during home visits and, furthermore, found that home gardens, as well as school gardens, should be used in agricultural education in Uganda and that the teachers should be trained in SAE methods to better supervise home visits. Egyptian agricultural technical school teachers were surveyed to determine their knowledge and application of placement SAE competencies (Barrick, Roberts, Samy, Thoron, & Easterly, 2011). In comparison to needs assessments conducted in the United States that include SAE, the Egyptian teachers had in-service needs similar to their counterparts in the United States (Barrick et al., 2011).

# **Conclusions and Recommendations**

Contemporary SAE research has focused primarily on student participation, the benefits of SAE, preservice teacher education, and professional development for practicing teachers. The most common research methods revealed in this synthesis were descriptive

and based primarily on study participants' perceptions. SAE research was contextually broad and, with few exceptions, focused on relatively small populations, such as single states. The extensive use of survey methods and the broad context of research conducted are consistent with the findings of Dyer and Osborne (1995, 1996) and Dyer and Williams (1997a, 1997b) relating to SAE research conducted between 1964 and 1993. Together with the previous work of Dyer and his colleagues, this synthesis provides a 50-year overview of SAE research. Over this period, it is apparent that there is a need for experimental and quasiexperimental research in addition to larger multistate and national descriptive studies to provide empirical data relating to SAE research questions.

Although agriculture teachers value the concept of SAE and can describe it conceptually, they are having difficulty implementing it in practice (Dyer & Osborne, 1995; Retallick, 2010; Wilson & Moore, 2007). Wilson and Moore (2007) concluded professional development for agriculture teachers should not be focused on the need for SAE or its value; "teachers already know the politically correct answer" (p. 89). Rather, teachers need professional development focused on improving quality and implementation of SAE in their programs (Wilson & Moore, 2007). Descriptive and empirical research are needed to identify practical methods that preservice and in-service agriculture teachers can use to implement and manage SAE programs as well as research to identify how best to disseminate this information to preservice and in-service teachers. More research is also needed to identify where and to what extent SAE instruction occurs within agriculture teacher education programs as well as the content and context of the preservice SAE curriculum. Two such research topics to consider are the extent to which the SAE philosophy (AAAE, 2013a) and SAE competencies (AAAE, 2013b) for agriculture teacher education are

incorporated into the teacher education curriculum in programs across the country as well as the approach teacher educators use to teach these competencies and objectives.

Research has shown that SAE can be a beneficial learning experience (Dyer & Williams, 1997a; Ramsey & Edwards, 2004; Rickets et al., 2006) and is valued by stakeholders (Rayfield & Wilson, 2009). However, more research is needed to identify new methods and strategies to overcome barriers and increase participation in this learning opportunity for all SBAE students. Wilson and Moore (2007) suggested that agriculture teachers should have professional development focused on implementing new types of SAE such as service learning. The NCAE (2015) has recognized school-based enterprise and service learning as new SAE types. Professional development efforts are needed to increase awareness of these new SAE types and to provide teachers with the tools to implement them. Agriculture teachers play a role in student participation by encouraging the students to develop an SAE (Lewis et al., 2012a). These new SAE types offer agriculture teachers new options to use to encourage students to develop SAE programs. Research should be conducted to describe how and to what extent agriculture teachers encourage participation.

Additional research should be conducted to develop SAE quality indicators based on learning objectives. It is imperative for the profession to decide what learning outcomes are expected from a quality SAE program. SAE is perceived to build employability skills, such as responsibility and positive work attitudes (Dyer & Williams, 1997a; Robinson & Haynes, 2011), as well as provide students with entry-level career skills (Ramsey & Edwards, 2011, 2012). A method or guideline to quantify the extent to which these skills are achieved is needed. Multistate or national studies should be conducted to determine quality indicators

for all SAE types and if the same quality indicators apply to all SAE programs or if program quality is best determined at the local level.

SAE continues to be an area of the SBAE model that has difficulty achieving a high degree of participation (Bird et al., 2013; Croom, 2008; Lewis et al., 2012a, 2012b; Retallick & Martin, 2008, Steele, 1997). Standards, best practices, and educational materials should be developed and improved to help agriculture teachers involve more of their students in SAEs as well as plan and supervise the broad variety of SAEs. SAE competencies, course objectives, and lesson plans have been developed for teacher education (Barrick et al., 2015). These educational materials are readily available and provide a framework to prepare preservice teachers to conduct successful SAE programs. A similar effort is needed to develop national competencies, professional development, and curriculum materials to assist teachers in overcoming perceived barriers to implementing SAE and to communicate clear learning objectives to students, parents, and school administrators. If SAE is to remain a viable part of SBAE for all students, it is essential to develop quality indicators and learning outcomes for each type of SAE to measure its effectiveness as well as develop SAE educational materials agriculture teachers can use to facilitate student learning.

#### References

American Association for Agricultural Education. (2013a). *Proposed philosophy on SAE instruction in agriculture teacher education programs*. Retrieved from http://aaaeonline.org/Resources/Documents/SIG%20Files/SAE%20Teacher%20Educ ation%20Philosophy.pdf

American Association for Agricultural Education. (2013b). *Proposed competencies for teacher preparation in SAE*. Retrieved from

http://aaaeonline.org/Resources/Documents/SIG%20Files/SAE%20Competencies.pdf

- Baker, M. A., Robinson, J. S., & Kolb, D. A. (2012). Aligning Kolb's experiential learning theory with a comprehensive agricultural education model. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 53(4), 1-16. doi:10.5032/jae.2012.04001
- Barrick, R. K., De Lay, A., Foster, D. D., Lawver, R. G., Ramsey, J. W., Rayfield, J. S., & Retallick, M. S. (2015). SAE unit plans for agricultural teacher education. Retrieved from http://aec.ifas.ufl.edu/ag-stem-lab/SAEplans.shtml
- Barrick, K. R., Roberts, T. G., Samy, M. M., Thoron, A. C., & Easterly, R. G. (2011). A needs assessment to determine knowledge and ability of Egyptian agricultural technical school teachers related to supervised agricultural experience. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 52(2), 1-11. doi:10.5032/jae.2011.02001
- Bird, W. A., Martin, M. J., & Simonsen, J. C., (2013). Student motivation for involvement in supervised agricultural experiences: An historical perspective. *Journal of Agricultural Education 54*(1), 31-46. doi:10.5032/jae.2013.01031
- Camp, W. G., Clarke, A., & Fallon, M. (2000). Revisiting supervised agricultural experience. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 41(3), 13-22. doi:10.5032/jae.2000.03013
- Cheek, J. G., Arrington, L. R., Carter, S., & Randell, R. S. (1994). Relationship of supervised agricultural experience program participation and student achievement in agricultural education. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 35(2), 1-5. doi:10.5032/jae.1994.02001
- Clark, S. V., Parr, B., Peake, J., & Flanders, F. (2013). Correlation of secondary agricultural education students' science achievement to FFA and supervised agricultural experience participation. *Journal of Southern Agricultural Education Research*, 63(1). Retrieved from http://jsaer.org/vol63.html

- Cooper, H. M. (2010). *Research synthesis and meta-analysis: A step-by-step approach* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Croom, D. B. (2008). The development of the integrated three-component model of agricultural education. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 49(1), 110-120. doi:10.5032/jae.2008.01110
- Dyer, J. E., & Osborne, E. W. (1995). Participation in supervised agricultural experience programs: A synthesis of research. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 36(1), 6-14. doi:10.5032/jae.1995.01006
- Dyer, J. E., & Osborne, E. W. (1996). Developing a model for supervised agricultural experience program quality: A synthesis of research. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 37(2), 24-33. doi:10.5032/jae.1996.02024
- Dyer, J. E., & Williams, D. L. (1997a). Benefits of supervised agricultural experience programs: A synthesis of research. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 38(4), 50-58. doi:10.5032/jae.1997.04050
- Dyer, J. E., & Williams, D. L. (1997b). Supervision of agricultural experience programs: A synthesis of research. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 38(4), 59-67.
   doi:10.5032/jae.1997.04059
- Edwards, M. C., & Briers, G. E. (2001). Cooperating teachers' perceptions of important elements of the student teaching experience: A focus-group approach with quantitative follow-up. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, *42*(3), 30-41. doi:10.5032/jae.2001.03030

- Garton, B. L., & Chung, N. (1996). The inservice needs of beginning teachers of agriculture as perceived by beginning teachers, teacher educators, and state supervisors. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, *37*(3), 52-58. doi:10.5032/jae.1996.03052
- Garton, B. L., & Chung, N. (1997). An assessment of the inservice needs of beginning teachers of agriculture using two assessment models. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 38(3), 51-58. doi:10.5032/jae.1997.03051
- Graham, J., & Birkenholtz, R. (1999). Changes in Missouri SAE programs. *Proceedings of the 26th Annual National Agricultural Education Research Conference*. Orlando, FL.
- Hanagriff, R. D., Murphy, T. H., Roberts, T. G., Briers, G. E., & Lindner, J. R. (2010).
  Economic impact of supervised agricultural experiences: Returns from SAE investment costs in Texas, 2007-2008. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 51(4), 71-81. doi:10.5032/jae.2010.04071
- Harlin, J. F., Edwards, M. C., & Briers, G. E. (2002). A comparison of student teachers' perceptions of important elements of the student teaching experience before and after an 11-week field experience. *Journal of Agricultural Education 43*(3), 72-83. doi:10.5032/jae.2002.03072
- Jenkins, C. C., & Kitchel, T. (2009). Identifying quality indicators of SAE and FFA: A Delphi approach. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 50(3), 33-42. doi:10.5032/jae.2009.03033
- Johnson, L., Wilson, E., Flowers, J., & Croom, B. (2012). Perceptions of North Carolina high school agricultural educators regarding students with special needs participating in supervised agricultural experience and FFA activities. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 53(4), 41-54. doi:10.5032/jae.2012.04041

Layfield, K. D., & Dobbins, T. R. (2002). Inservice needs and perceived competencies of South Carolina agricultural educators. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 43(4), 46-55. doi:10.5032/jae.2002.04046

- Lewis, L. J., Rayfield, J., & Moore, L. L. (2012a). An assessment of students' perceptions toward factors influencing supervised agricultural experience participation. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 53(4), 55-69. doi:10.5032/jae.2012.04055
- Lewis, L. J., Rayfield, J., & Moore, L. L. (2012b). Supervised agricultural experience: An examination of student knowledge and participation. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 53(4), 70-84. doi:10.5032/jae.2012.04070
- Locke, E. A. (1991). The motivation sequence, the motivation hub, and the motivation core. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, *50*, 288-299.

Martin, M. (2010). The community problems and local program transformations of vocational agriculture before the Vocational Education Act of 1963. *Research Conference Proceedings North Central Region American Association for Agricultural Education* (pp. 44-57). Retrieved from

http://aaaeonline.org/Resources/Documents/Research%20Conference%20Proceeding s,%20North%20Central%202010.pdf

Martin, M. J., & Henry, A. (2011). Supervised agricultural experiences and learning theories: evaluating the experience through a cognitive constructivist lens. *Research Conference Proceedings North Central Region American Association for Agricultural Education* (pp. 213-229). Retrieved from http://aaaeonline.org/Resources/Documents/Research%20Conference%20Proceeding

s, %20North%20Central%202011.pdf

- Marx, A. A., Simonsen, J. C., & Kitchel, T. (2014). Secondary agricultural education program and human influences on career decision self-efficacy. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 55(2), 214-229. doi:10.5032/jae.2014.02214
- McLean, R. C., & Camp, W. G. (2000). An examination of selected preservice agricultural teacher education programs in the United States. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 41(2), 25-35. doi:10.5032/jae.2000.02025
- Mowen, D. L., Wingenbach, G. J., Roberts, T. G., & Harlin, J. F. (2007). Agricultural science teachers' barriers, roles and information source preferences for teaching biotechnology topics. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 48(2), 103-113. doi:10.5032/jae.2007.02103
- National Council for Agricultural Education. (2015). *Philosophy and guiding principles for execution of the supervised agricultural experience component of the total schoolbased agricultural education program.* Retrieved from https://www.ffa.org/SiteCollectionDocuments/sae guiding principles.pdf
- Okiror, J. J., Matsiko, B. F., & Oonyu, J. (2011). Just how much can student pupils learn from school gardening? A study of two supervised agricultural experience approaches in Uganda. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 52(2), 24-35. doi:10.5032/jae.2011.02024
- Ramsey, J. W., & Edwards, C. M. (2004). Informal learning in science: Does agricultural education have a role? *Journal of Southern Agricultural Education Research*, 54(1), 86-99.
- Ramsey, J. W., & Edwards, M. C. (2011). Entry-level technical skills that agricultural industry experts expected students to learn through their supervised agricultural

experiences: A modified Delphi study. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 52(2), 82-94. doi:10.5032/jae.2011.02082

- Ramsey, J. W., & Edwards, M. C. (2012). Entry-level technical skills that teachers expected students to learn through supervised agricultural experiences (SAEs): A modified Delphi study. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, *53*(3), 42-55. doi:10.5032/jae.2012.03042
- Rayfield, J., & Croom, B. (2010). Program needs of middle school agricultural education teachers: A Delphi study. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 51(4), 131-141. doi:10.5032/jae.2010.04131
- Rayfield, J., & Wilson, E. (2009). Exploring principals' perceptions of supervised agricultural experience. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, *50*(1), 70-80. doi:10.5032/jae.2009.01070
- Rayfield, J., Murphy, T., Briers, G., & Lewis, L. (2012). Identifying innovative Agricultural Education programs. *Journal of Career and Technical Education*, 27(2), 38-50.
  Retrieved from http://scholar.lib.vt.edu/ejournals/JCTE/v27n2/pdf/rayfield.pdf
- Retallick, M. S. (2010). Implementation of supervised agricultural education programs: The agriculture teachers' perspective. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, *51*(4), 59-70. doi:10.5032/jae.2010.04059
- Retallick, M. S., & Martin, R. A. (2005). Economic impact of supervised agricultural experience in Iowa: A trend study. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 46(1), 44-54. doi:10.5032/jae.2005.01044
- Retallick, M. S., & Martin, R. A. (2008). Fifteen-year enrollment trends related to the three components of comprehensive agricultural education programs. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 49(1), 28-38. doi:10.5032/jae.2008.01028
- Ricketts, J. C., Duncan, D. W., & Peake, J. B. (2006). Science achievement of high school students in complete programs of agricultural education. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 47(2), 48-55. doi:10.5032/jae.2006.02048
- Ricketts, J. C., Duncan, D. W., Peake, J. B., & Uesseler, J. (2005). Teacher preparation and in-service needs associated with management of the total program of agricultural education in Georgia. *Journal of Southern Agricultural Education Research*, 55(1), 46-59. Retrieved from http://jsaer.org/pdf/vol55Whole.pdf
- Roberts, T. G., & Dyer, J. E., (2003). A comparison of in-service needs of middle and high school agriculture teachers. *Journal of Southern Agricultural Education Research*, 53(1), 153-163. Retrieved from http://jsaer.org/pdf/vol53Whole.pdf
- Roberts, T. G., & Dyer, J. E., (2004). Characteristics of effective agriculture teachers. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 45(4), 82-95. doi:10.5032/jae.2004.04082
- Roberts, T. G., & Harlin, J. F. (2007). The project method in agricultural education: Then and now. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 48(3), 46-56. doi:10.5032/jae.2007.03046

https://ejournals.lib.vt.edu/index.php/JCTE/article/view/455/399

Robinson, J. S., Krysher, S., Haynes, J. C., & Edwards, M. C. (2010). How Oklahoma State University spent their time student teaching in agricultural education: A fall versus spring semester comparison with implications for teacher education. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 51(4), 142-153. doi:10.5032/jae.2010.04142

Robinson, J. S., & Haynes, J. C. (2011). Value and expectations of supervised agricultural experiences as expressed by agriculture instructors in Oklahoma who were alternatively certified. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 52(2), 47-57. doi:10.5032/jae.2011.02047

- Rubenstein, E. D., & Thoron, A. C. (2014). Successful supervised agricultural experience programs as defined by American FFA Degree Star finalists. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 55(3), 162-174. doi:10.5032/jae.2014.03162
- Rubenstein, E. D., Thoron, A. C., & Estepp, C. M. (2014). Perceived self-efficacy of preservice agriculture teachers toward specific SAE competencies. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 55(4), 72-84. doi:10.5032/jae.2014.04072
- Sorensen, T. J., Tarpley, R. S., & Warnick, B. K. (2010). Inservice needs of Utah agriculture teachers. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 51(3), 1-11. doi:10.5032/jae.2010.03001
- Steele, R. (1997). Analysis of continuing decline in use of supervised agricultural experience (SAE) in New York State. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 38(2), 49-58. doi:10.5032/jae.1997.02049
- Swafford, M. R., & Friedel, C. R. (2010). A comparison of the inservice needs of traditionally and alternative certified beginning agriscience science teachers in Louisiana. *Journal of Southern Agricultural Education Research*, 60(1), 90-98. Retrieved from http://jsaer.org/pdf/vol60Whole.pdf

- Swortzel, K. A. (1996). Perceptions regarding planning activities and supervision strategies for supervised agricultural experience programs. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 37(2), 47-55. doi:10.5032/jae.1996.02047
- Talbert, B. A., Vaughn, R., Croom, D. B., & Lee, J. S. (2014). Foundations of agricultural education (3rd ed.). Danville, IL: Professional Educators.
- Thieman, E. B., Henry, A. L., & Kitchel, T. (2012). Resilient agricultural educators: Taking stress to the next level. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, *53*(1), 81-94. doi:10.5032/jae.2012.01081
- Torres, R. M., Ulmer, J. D., & Aschenbrener, M. S. (2008). Workload distribution among agriculture teachers. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 49(2), 75-87. doi:10.5032/jae.2008.02075
- Weeks, W. G., & Terry, R. (1999). Administrator satisfaction with first-year agriculture teachers. *Journal of Southern Agricultural Education Research*, 50(1), 152-157.
   Retrieved from http://jsaer.org/pdf/vol50Whole.pdf
- West, D., & Iverson, M. (1999). Economic impact of supervised agricultural experience programs in Georgia. *Proceedings of the 26th Annual National Agricultural Education Research Conference* (pp. 149-156). Orlando, FL.
- Wilson, E. B., & Moore, G. E. (2007). Exploring the paradox of supervised agricultural experience programs in agricultural education. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 48(4), 82-92. doi:10.5032/jae.2007.04082
- Wolf, K. J. (2011). Agricultural education perceived teacher self-efficacy: A descriptive study of beginning agricultural education teachers. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 52(2), 163-176. doi:10.5032/jae.2011.02163

Young, R. B., & Edwards, M. C. (2006a). A comparison of student teachers' perceptions of important elements of the student teaching experience before and after a 12-week field experience. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 47(3), 45-57. doi:10.5032/jae.2006.03045

Young, R. B., & Edwards, M. C. (2006b). Important elements of the student teaching experience in agricultural education: A comparison of cooperating teachers' and student teachers' perspectives. *Journal of Southern Agricultural Education Research*, 56(1), 89-100.

# CHAPTER V. SUPERVISED AGRICULTURAL EXPERIENCE INSTRUCTION IN AGRICULTURAL TEACHER EDUCATION PROGRAMS: A NATIONAL DESCRIPTIVE STUDY

A manuscript prepared for submission to the Journal of Agricultural Education

Bryan D. Rank and Michael S. Retallick

### Abstract

Faculty in agricultural teacher education programs have the responsibility for preparing future teachers to lead effective school-based agricultural education programs. One component of an effective school-based agricultural education program is supervised agricultural experience. However, agriculture teachers are having difficulty implementing supervised agricultural experience, even though they value it and can talk about it conceptually as part of the school-based agricultural education model. In an effort to improve supervised agricultural experience instruction in teacher education, the American Association for Agricultural Education has adopted a guiding philosophy and competencies for teacher preparation in supervised agricultural experience. The purpose of this national descriptive study was to identify where and to what extent supervised agricultural experience instruction was included within agriculture teacher education curriculum and describe the level of instruction occurring in agriculture teacher education programs in the United States for each of the *Competencies for Agriculture Teacher Preparation in SAE*. The findings of this study show that there was a broad range in the level of instruction occurring for each of these competencies within individual teacher education programs. These results provide a snapshot of one-moment-in-time and serve as a starting point to begin a conversation about how supervised agricultural experience should be taught in agricultural teacher education. It

is recommended that supervised agricultural experience competencies be taught using inquiry-based or problem-solving methods guided by the experiential learning process. *Keywords:* Supervised agricultural experience; SAE; Teacher education; Experiential learning

### Introduction

Faculty in university agricultural teacher education programs bear the responsibility of preparing future teachers to lead effective school-based agricultural education (SBAE) programs (Roberts & Dyer, 2004). Roberts and Dyer (2004) further stated, "Creating effective agriculture teachers is imperative for the long-term sustainability of agricultural education programs" (p. 94). Similarly, Myers and Dyer (2004) proposed "the goal of teacher education is to make the most effective use of the time available to prepare future educators for the task awaiting them" (p. 47). To meet these goals, preservice agriculture teachers are prepared using a combination of coursework, early field experience (EFE), and student-teaching. However, the coursework comprising the curricular structure of individual programs varies widely across agricultural teacher education programs (McLean & Camp, 2000).

In a study of 10 selected agriculture teacher education programs, all of the programs included SAE or an equivalent topic at various points within their curriculum; however, only three (30%) of the selected institutions reported a separate SAE course (McLean & Camp, 2000). As part of agriculture teacher education, "SBAE preservice programs should work to promote authentic experiences for preservice teachers to develop, implement, maintain, sustain, evaluate, supervise, and communicate an SAE program" (Rubenstein et al., 2014, p. 81).

### **Conceptual Framework**

The components of an effective SBAE program are commonly depicted in a Venn diagram as three intersecting circles consisting of contextual, inquiry-based learning through classroom and laboratory interaction, leadership engagement through the National FFA Organization, and planned and supervised, experience-based learning through SAE (Talbert, Vaughn, Croom, & Lee, 2014), which is the focus of this study. Over time, SAE has evolved from vocational training in a production agriculture context to include a broader variety of SAE types. Currently, the National Council for Agricultural Education ([NCAE], 2015) defines the types of SAE as exploratory, placement/internship, ownership/entrepreneurship, research, school-based enterprise, and service learning.

Although SAE is often thought of as the primary experiential learning component of the SBAE model (Baker, Robinson, & Kolb, 2012; Barrick & Hughes, 1993; Bird, Martin, & Simonsen, 2013), experiential learning occurs within the context of formal classroom instruction or FFA activities as well (NCAE, 2015). The SAE component differs from other forms of experiential learning practiced in SBAE such as inquiry-based classroom or lab instruction, field trips, or FFA competitive events because it includes career planning, is managed by the student, occurs outside of classroom instruction, and occurs in a real-world or a simulated workplace environment (NCAE, 2015).

The NCAE (2015) has determined "each portion of the title 'Supervised Agricultural Experience' is significant in describing what is expected of all teachers and students of agricultural education" (p. 1). Agriculture teachers should provide onsite supervision when possible, but also through other methods such as computer technology, written reports, and group meetings to assist students in planning and conducting their SAE (NCAE, 2015). Contextually, the SAE is based on agriculture and should form a linkage between agriculture,

food, and natural resources (AFNR) instruction, the students' interests, and career exploration (NCAE, 2015).

Agriculture teachers have an influence on the implementation and success of SAE programs (Dyer & Osborne, 1995; Philipps, Osborn, Dyer, & Ball, 2008; Retallick, 2010; Rubenstein, Thoron, & Estepp, 2014; Swortzel, 1996). However, "there is a paradox between the value teachers place on SAE and the manner in which SAE is being implemented" (Wilson & Moore, 2007, p. 89). Agriculture teachers have difficulty implementing SAE in practice even though they value it conceptually (Dyer & Osborne, 1995; Retallick, 2010; Wilson & Moore, 2007). Wilson and Moore (2007) suggested that agriculture teachers are not implementing SAE because of a lack of rewards in the second phase and perceived barriers in the third phase of Locke's (1991) motivational schema. In the motivation hub, actions toward a goal are influenced by the value placed on the goal and by the perceived ability to take the actions necessary to achieve the goal (Locke, 1991). Perceived barriers limit the implementation of SAE even though agriculture teachers consider SAE programs to be valuable (Retallick, 2010; Wilson & Moore, 2007).

SAE instruction in agriculture teacher education programs plays a role in how teachers conceptualize and implement SAE. A guiding philosophy, as well as competencies for teacher preparation in SAE, has been developed by the American Association for Agricultural Education ([AAAE], 2013a; 2013b). The need exists for a national study to identify how and to what extent these SAE competencies are incorporated within agricultural teacher education programs in the United States.

### **Purpose and Objectives**

The purpose of this study was to identify where and to what extent SAE instruction was included within agriculture teacher education curricula and describe the level of

instruction occurring in agriculture teacher education programs in the United States for each of the *Competencies for Agriculture Teacher Preparation in SAE* (AAAE, 2013b). Specific objectives of this study were to (a) describe the agriculture teacher education programs that are teaching SAE objectives; (b) determine the level of instruction of each of the AAAE teacher education SAE competencies within the agriculture teacher education programs; and (c) identify the program representatives' perceptions of their programs' SAE instruction in relation to the agricultural education model.

### Methods

The population for this study was all agriculture teacher education programs in the United States. One faculty member from each agriculture teacher education program was contacted as the representative of their institution's program. The population and program representatives were identified using the AAAE Directory of University Faculty in Agricultural Education (Dyer, 2003), AAAE Agricultural Education Directory online, NAAE Teach Ag website, and university or departmental websites. The program representatives were agriculture teacher education coordinators, department heads, or faculty members designated as program contacts. Designated departmental contacts were screened using university/departmental website information to ensure that they were faculty members rather than staff. If no agriculture teacher education coordinator or designated departmental contact was identified by an institution on the institution's website, the department chair was asked to represent the department. In instances where more than one faculty member was listed as a contact, faculty biography pages were analyzed, and a representative was selected based on their research and teaching relating to SAE and SBAE. If no agriculture teacher education program was listed by an institution that appears in one or more of the directories, a phone call was made to the institution to verify the existence of an agricultural teacher education

program and identify a representative. This search resulted in the identification of 95 agriculture teacher education programs.

A survey instrument was developed using Qualtics following the Tailored Design Method for Internet Surveys (Dillman, Smyth, & Christian, 2014). The instrument consisted of three sections based on the three objectives of the study. Content validity was evaluated by a panel consisting of SAE experts (n = 5) from across the United States. A separate panel of SAE experts (n = 4) reviewed the survey and evaluated face validity including the overall clarity and ease of navigation of the instrument. Feedback from both panels was considered, and adjustments to the survey instrument were made based on their recommendations. After the survey instrument was revised and IRB approval was received, an invitation was sent via email to the agriculture teacher education program representatives to explain the purpose of the study and emphasize the importance of their response. This invitation included a link to access the survey. Following the invitation, three reminder emails were sent to nonresponders. These reminder emails were spaced several days apart over approximately two weeks. Dates and times for the reminder emails were purposefully selected to avoid the reminders being received by respondents on weekends or Monday mornings.

Email requests for participation were sent to representatives of 95 institutions across the United States. The response rate for this survey was 78.95%. Of the 75 institutions responding, 5 indicated that they did not have any currently enrolled students or graduates within the past 5 years who had a major in agriculture teacher education. An additional two respondents indicated SAE was not part of their instruction. Institutions that indicated they did not have current students or recent graduates or that did not teach SAE within their curriculum were directed to the end of the survey and thanked for their participation, leaving 68 usable responses for a usable response rate of 71.58%.

The first section of the survey instrument collected programmatic information regarding the type of institution as well as the department or school that housed the agriculture teacher education program. Additionally, respondents were asked to select the type/level of agricultural teacher education in which SAE instruction was offered at their institution, category of courses in which SAE objectives were included, and the SAE course content offered in stand-alone courses or embedded within the curriculum in their agricultural teacher education program.

The second section of the survey instrument consisted of statements derived from the *Competencies for Agriculture Teacher Preparation in SAE* (AAAE, 2013b). Participants were asked to rate their institution's level of instruction for each statement using an ordinal scale. Early and late responders were compared to control for nonresponse error on the ordinal scale questions. A wave of late responders could not be identified, so late responders were defined operationally as the latter 50% of responders (Lindner, Murphy, & Briers, 2001). An independent samples *t*-test showed no statistically significant (p > 0.05) difference between early and late responders on the ordinal scale questions.

The ordinal scale for these items in the second section was adapted from the *West Virginia State Community and Technical College General Education Core-Audit Grid* (Scroggins, 2004) and consisted of a 5-point ordinal scale. The ordinal scale items are described in Table 5.1.

In the third section, respondents were asked to indicate the area of the agricultural education model as currently depicted by the national FFA organization that most closely

approximated the focus of their institution's agriculture teacher education program. A heat map was used to show the areas of the agricultural education model that were selected by the respondents. The heat map used a color scale to visually represent the area of the model selected by each respondent. The corresponding colors ranged from gray indicating no selection to bright red indicating that multiple respondents selected an area.

Table 5.1

Ordinal Scale Level	Description
Not at all	Not introduced
Introduced	Introduces students to a content area or skill they are not familiar with
Emphasized	Content area or skill has been introduced and students have a basic knowledge, instruction is focused on enhancing content and building a more complex understanding
Reinforced	Instruction builds upon a competency that has been previously introduced/emphasized and reinforces the content or skill
Applied	Applies the content or skill in a problem solving or real world setting

Description of Ordinal Scale Levels

*Note.* Ordinal scale adapted from the West Virginia State Community and Technical College General Education Core-Audit Grid.

Responses to the survey instrument were analyzed using the IBM SPSS 23 statistical package. Mode, median, and frequencies are appropriate for reporting stand-alone Likert-type responses (Boone & Boone, 2012). Findings were reported using descriptive statistics including the frequency, median, mode, mean, and standard deviation for ordinal responses and as percentages or counts for other responses. In addition, the survey instrument contained short answer questions to provide a richer description related to some responses. Confidentiality was maintained, and individual faculty or institutions were not identified in any reported data.

### Findings

The responding programs represented 1862 land grant institutions (n = 34), regional/state institutions (n = 28), 1890 land grant institutions (n = 3), and private institutions (n = 3). Agriculture teacher education programs were housed in a variety of departments or schools (Table 5.2). The most common category was a traditional agricultural education department such as the departments of Agricultural Leadership, Education and Communications, or Agricultural and Extension Education. However, agricultural teacher education was also administered through departments or schools of agriculture; agricultural content areas such as animal science or horticulture; education; nonagricultural content areas; or interdisciplinary programs.

### Table 5.2

	Responses $(n = 68)$						
Department or School	f	%					
Agricultural Education (i.e., AGEDS; ALEC)	32	47.06					
Agriculture or agricultural content area (i.e., animal science;	18	26.47					
horticulture)							
Education	10	14.71					
Non-agricultural content area (i.e., community development)	3	4.41					
Interdisciplinary	3	4.41					
CTE	1	1.47					
Academic Programs	1	1.47					

Category of Department or School Responsible for Agriculture Teacher Education

The respondents indicated that SAE content was most often taught by tenured/tenuretrack faculty. However, non-tenure track faculty and to a lesser extent, graduate students also taught SAE objectives (Table 5.3).

### Faculty Appointment of Those Teaching SAE Curriculum

	Response	es(n = 65)
Type of Appointment	n	%
Tenured/tenure track	54	83.08
Non-tenure track	24	36.92
Graduate assistant	6	9.23

*Note.* SAE may be taught by people with different appointment types within the same institution.

Additionally, the respondents indicated that undergraduate programs were the most

common type of program that included SAE instruction (Table 5.4). SAE objectives were

also taught in graduate programs as well as through professional development and alternative

certification programs.

Table 5.4

Agriculture Teacher Education Programs Offering SAE Instruction by Level(s)/Type(s) of Program

	Responses $(n = 6)$				
Level/Type of Program	f	%			
Undergraduate	64	94.12%			
Graduate	27	39.71%			
Professional development	13	19.12%			
Alternative certification	6	8.82%			

*Note.* Institutions may offer more than one level/type of teacher education program resulting in a total f > 68.

The most common context in which SAE objectives are taught in both undergraduate and graduate programs is during student teaching (Table 5.5). SAE or experiential learning courses are offered in 53.13% of undergraduate and 44.44% of graduate programs responding to this study. The course category with the lowest number of undergraduate programs (n = 2) and graduate programs (n = 1) reporting SAE instruction was educational psychology. Text responses for undergraduate "Other" were agriscience methods, summer experience class, and teaching practicum. Text responses for graduate "Other" were agriscience methods and youth organizations.

Additionally, respondents were asked to select the SAE course content offered in stand-alone courses or embedded within the curriculum in their agricultural teacher education programs (Table 5.6). The most frequent responses were types of SAE (n = 60) and supervision (n = 60). Specific recordkeeping systems were taught in 70.59% (n = 48) of the responding programs. Text responses for "Other" included "child labor laws," "I do not teach the course so there could be other topics," and "State-level economic impact; research and literature on SAE."

Table 5.5

	Undergraduate	( <i>n</i> = 64)	Graduate $(n = 27)$				
Course Category	f	%	f	%			
Student teaching	53	82.81	19	70.37			
Program planning	42	65.63	19	70.37			
SAE/experiential learning	34	53.13	12	44.44			
Teaching methods	34	53.13	12	44.44			
Early field experience	34	53.13	9	33.33			
Introduction/orientation	29	43.31	3	11.11			
Foundations	23	35.94	8	29.63			
Other	3	4.69	2	11.11			
Educational psychology	2	3.13	1	3.70			

*Courses in Which SAE Instruction was Offered* (n = 68)

*Note.* Institutions may offer SAE instruction in more than one course.

Respondents who indicated their program taught a specific recordkeeping system (n = 48) were directed to an open-ended question to list the name of the recordkeeping system that was taught in their program. These text responses (n = 44) were coded for recordkeeping system and are listed by category in Table 5.7. The most common recordkeeping system used was the agricultural experience tracker (AET). A total of 77.28% of the programs that

reported using a specific recordkeeping system used either the AET alone or in conjunction

with a state record book system and/or Excel.

Table 5.6

SAE Content Taught within the Curriculum

	Responses	s(n = 68)
Content	f f	%
Types of SAE (i.e., entrepreneurship)	60	88.24
Supervision	60	88.24
Recordkeeping/accounting	56	82.35
Proficiency award and FFA degree applications	56	82.35
Experiential learning theory	55	80.88
Historical context of SAE	53	77.94
SAE selection, creation, and growth	50	73.53
Specific recordkeeping systems (i.e., paper-based or electronic)	48	70.59
Safety/liability	44	64.71
SAE reporting/communication	42	61.76
Diversity/options for all students	36	52.94
Stakeholder involvement	35	51.47
Summer programs	35	51.47
Specific agriculture skills	24	35.29
Specific home improvement skills	14	20.59
Other	3	4.41

Table 5.7

Text Responses for Specific Recordkeeping Systems

	Responses $(n = 44)$					
Specific Recordkeeping System	f	%				
AET	29	65.91				
State record book system	7	15.90				
AET and state record book system	2	4.55				
AET and Excel	2	4.55				
AET/state/Excel	1	2.27				
State and Excel	1	2.27				
Practicing teachers present their designated system to class	1	2.27				
Record book for the SAEP in agricultural science and technology	1	2.27				

The second section was based on objective two and was designed to measure the level

of instruction occurring in each of the Competencies for Agriculture Teacher Preparation in

*SAE* (AAAE, 2013b). Each of the seven competencies consisted of one to three related objectives.

Competency one (Table 5.8) consisted of three objectives related to all students having SAE programs based on career pathways/clusters/interests and agricultural curriculum standards. Two objectives in competency one had a mode of 2, indicating that these objectives were most often taught at the emphasized level. However, 1 of these 2 objectives was taught at an applied level in 21 programs yielding a median of 3.00 as a measure of central tendency. It should be noted in regard to objectives in competency one, the NCAE has added the categories of school-based enterprise and service learning as recognized types of SAE (NCAE, 2015) and that the recognized SAE types are currently different than the types recognized when these data were collected. The lowest rated objective in competency one was most frequently taught at the introduced level (Mdn = 2, Mode = 1).

Competency two (Table 5.9) consisted of three objectives relating to SAE being planned, developed, and managed by the student with instruction and support by the agriculture teacher, parents, and/or employer. Two of the objectives in competency two had a mode of 2 indicating that these two objectives are most frequently taught at the emphasized level. The remaining objective in competency two had a mode of 1 indicating that it was most frequently taught at an introduced level. All three objectives in competency two had a median of 2.00 indicating a central tendency of the objectives being taught at an emphasized level.

Two statements relating to accurate records of SAE supervision by the agriculture teacher comprised competency three (Table 5.10). Both of the competencies had a median of

2.00. However, one competency, which was focused on formulating a recordkeeping strategy to document SAE outcomes had a mode of 4 indicating that it was most frequently taught at the applied level.

Competency four (Table 5.11) consisted of three statements related to continual instruction and supervision of SAE programs provided by the agriculture teacher throughout the calendar year. One of the objectives in competency four that focused specifically on SAE supervision had a mode of 4 indicating this objective is most frequently taught at the applied level. Another objective had a mode of 2 indicating that the objective was most frequently taught at the emphasized level. The remaining objective had a mode of 1 indicating that designing a reporting procedure to school administration is most frequently taught at an introduced level.

Competency five (Table 5.12) consisted of three statements related to each agriculture student maintaining up-to-date SAE records. Two objectives in competency five each had a mode of 4. However, all three objectives in this competency had a median of 2.00 indicating that although the first two objectives were most frequently rated as applied, there was a broad range of responses and the center of the response distribution for each of these three objectives was in the emphasized level of instruction.

Two statements regarding completing and submitting an annual summary of students' SAE programs to appropriate entities comprised competency six (Table 5.13). One objective was most frequently taught at the emphasized level (Mode = 2) with a median of 2.00. The remaining objective was most frequently taught at the introduced level (Mode = 1) with a median of 1.00.

The final competency, competency seven, consisted of one objective related to students having comprehensive SAE programs that show evidence of growth in size and/or scope. This objective was most frequently rated as emphasized (Mode = 2). The center of the distribution for this objective was also within the emphasized response (Mdn = 2.00).

The statement "conduct an SAE supervisory visit and enlist the assistance of others in SAE supervision" (M = 2.89, SD = 1.252) in competency four was the highest rated objective statement among all of the *Competencies for Agricultural Teacher Preparation in SAE*. Additionally, the mode for this statement (Mode = 4) indicated that the most common response to this statement was applied. The lowest rated item was for the statement "design a strategy to compare and contrast student progress toward selected college and/or career readiness and prepare a summary report of findings to appropriate entities on a four-year time period" (Mdn = 1, Mode = 1, M = 1.58, SD = 1.345) found in competency six (Table 5.13).

There were four items with a mode of 4 indicating that "applied" was the most frequent level of instruction for these competency items. These items were "Formulate a record keeping strategy to document student SAE outcomes based upon the concept of career pathway progression" from competency three (Table 5.10), "Conduct an SAE supervisory visit and enlist the assistance of others in SAE supervision" from competency four (Table 5.11), as well as "Design a curriculum unit in which students are introduced to the basic elements of record keeping as they relate to enterprise development and management" and "Adapt an SAE record keeping format appropriate for an enterprise in each of the four SAE types recognized by The National Council for Agricultural Education" from competency five (Table 5.12).

Level of Instruction Pertaining to the AAAE Competencies for Teacher Education in SAE Competency 1

		Not at All		Introduced		Emphasized		Reinforced		Applied					
Competency 1	n	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	Mdn	Mode	M	SD
Define, by example, the	64	1	1.56	7	10.94	23	35.94	12	18.75	21	32.81	3.00	2	2.70	1.094
four recognized SAE															
types (i.e.,															
entrepreneurship,															
placement, research and experimentation, and															
Articulate the theories of	63	1	1 50	16	25 40	10	20.16	10	15 97	17	26.08	2 00	2	2 11	1.86
experiential learning as	05	1	1.39	10	23.40	19	30.10	10	13.87	1/	20.98	2.00	2	2.41	1.00
they relate to school-															
based agricultural															
education.															
Relate the process of	64	1	1.56	23	35.94	21	32.81	8	12.50	11	17.19	2.00	1	2.08	1.117
student SAE selection,															
creation, and growth															
toward college and/or															
career readiness to your															
state's interpretation of															
Career Clusters and															
Pathways.															

Level of Instruction Pertaining to the AAAE Competencies for Teacher Education in SAE Competency 2
--

		Not at All		Introduced		Emphasized		Reinforced		Applied					
Competency 2	n	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	Mdn	Mode	М	SD
Interpret the positive	65	2	3.08	18	27.69	20	30.76	18	27.69	7	10.77	2.00	2	2.15	1.049
instructional relationship.															
Create a sequential	63	5	7.94	13	20.63	28	44.44	4	6.35	13	20.63	2.00	2	2.11	1.193
curriculum to guide students through SAE															
selection, creation, and															
analysis.															
Design a formal	65	7	10.77	23	35.38	14	21.54	16	24.62	5	7.69	2.00	1	1.83	1.153
incorporating the															
employer relationship															
into the establishment															
and experimental															
progression of an															
exploratory or placement $S \Delta F$															
D11L.															

Level of Instruction Pertaining to the AAAE Competencies for Teacher Education in SAE Competency 3

		Not at All		Introduced		Emphasized		Reir	nforced	Applied					
Competency 3	n	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	Mdn	Mode	М	SD
Describe the relationship	65	3	4.62	7	10.77	23	35.38	18	27.69	14	21.54	2.00	2	2.51	1.091
of instructional SAE															
visitations as a means of															
individualized learning to															
support college and/or															
career readiness of the															
school-based agricultural															
education student.															
Formulate a record	64	6	9.38	12	18.75	15	23.44	11	17.19	20	31.25	2.00	4	2.42	1.355
keeping strategy to															
document student SAE															
outcomes based upon the															
concept of career															
pathway progression.															

		No	Not at All		Introduced		Emphasized		nforced	Applied					
Competency 4	n	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	Mdn	Mode	M	SD
Conduct an SAE	65	4	6.15	6	9.23	12	18.46	14	21.54	29	44.62	3.00	4	2.89	1.252
supervisory visit and															
enlist the assistance of															
others in SAE															
supervision.	65	6	0.02	16	04 61	20	20 77	14	01.54	0	12.05	2 00	2	2.06	1 104
Illustrate to school	65	6	9.23	16	24.61	20	30.77	14	21.54	9	13.85	2.00	2	2.06	1.184
auministration the intra-															
as an extended teaching															
strategy for student															
learning within a selected															
career pathway.															
Design a reporting	65	13	20.00	17	26.15	16	24.62	12	18.46	7	10.77	2.00	1	1.74	1.278
procedure to school															
administration that															
measures and validates															
student learning															
outcomes as a result of															
year-round supervision.															

Level of Instruction Pertaining to the AAAE Competencies for Teacher Education in SAE Competency 4

Level of Instruction Pertaining to the AAAE Competencies for Teacher Education in SAE Competency 5

		Not at All		Introduced		Emphasized		Reinforced		Applied					
Competency 5	n	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	Mdn	Mode	М	SD
Devise a plan to	65	2	3.08	13	20.00	20	30.77	12	18.46	18	27.69	2.00	2	2.48	1.187
incorporate SAE															
involvement into the															
school-based agricultural															
education program															
grading system.	65	4	C 15	17	26.15	15	22.00	7	10 77	22	22.05	2 00	4	2 40	1 250
Design a curriculum unit	65	4	6.15	17	26.15	15	23.08	/	10.77	22	33.85	2.00	4	2.40	1.330
introduced to the basic															
elements of record															
keeping as they relate to															
enterprise development															
and management.															
Adapt an SAE record	65	5	7.69	19	29.23	10	15.38	8	12.31	23	35.38	2.00	4	2.38	1.422
keeping format															
appropriate for an															
enterprise in each of the															
four SAE types															
recognized by The															
National Council for															
Agricultural Education.															

Level of Instruction Pertaining to the AAAE Competencies for Teacher Education in SAE Competency 6

		Not at All		Introduced		Emphasized		Reinforced		Applied					
Competency 6	n	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	Mdn	Mode	М	SD
Write measurable student	65	8	12.31	15	23.08	17	26.15	11	16.92	14	21.54	2.00	2	2.12	1.329
learning outcomes that															
provide evidence of															
progress toward selected															
career pathway goals and															
college and/or career															
readiness based upon															
various SAE records.															
Design a strategy to	65	15	23.08	22	33.85	13	20.00	5	7.69	10	15.38	1.00	1	1.58	1.345
compare and contrast															
individual student															
progress toward selected															
college and/or career															
readiness, and prepare a															
summary report of															
finding to appropriate															
entities on a four-year															
time period.															

Level of Instruction	Pertaining to the AAAB	<i>Competencies for Teacher</i>	Education in SAE Competency 7
·····			$\mathbf{r}$

		Not at All		Introduced		Emphasized		Reinforced		Applied					
Competency 7	n	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	Mdn	Mode	М	SD
Develop a plan of	65	14	21.54	16	24.62	23	35.38	5	7.69	7	10.77	2.00	2	1.62	1.221
comprehensive student															
growth toward college															
and/or career readiness															
within each of the four															
recognized types of SAE															
(i.e., entrepreneurship,															
placement, research &															
experimentation, and															
exploratory).															
$\overline{Note. \text{ Scale: } 0} = \text{Not at All},$	1 = In	trodu	ced, 2 = 1	Emph	asized, 3	B = Re	inforced,	$4 = A_i$	pplied						

In the third section of the survey instrument, respondents indicated the area of the agricultural education model that most closely approximates the focus of their institution's agriculture teacher education program. A heat map was used to show the areas of the agricultural education model that were selected by the respondents (Figure 1). The heat map depicts areas that respondents (n = 55) selected in a color range from gray representing no response to bright red, with the areas selected most frequently depicted in bright red. The respondents most commonly indicated that they perceived the focus of their institution's agricultural teacher instruction to be somewhat centered in the middle of the agricultural education model.





*Note*. Color corresponds to the frequency of response. Scale: Gray = No Response (0); Bright Red = Multiple Responses (11)

### **Conclusions, Implications, and Recommendations**

SAE instruction is embedded throughout the agriculture teacher education curriculum. Although each institution had its own unique curriculum and included SAE at varying points, nationally, SAE instruction is most commonly embedded within student teaching and in program planning courses. Interestingly, 34 (53.13%) undergraduate programs (n = 64) and 12 (44.44%) graduate programs (n = 27) indicated that they taught an SAE/Experiential Learning course. In a previous study of 10 selected agriculture teacher education programs, McLean and Camp (2000) reported that although all of the institutions in their study reported teaching SAE or a similar topic, only three institutions (30%) reported a separate SAE course. The findings of the current study indicate a possible increase in the number of programs including separate SAE/Experiential Learning courses offered as a part of teacher preparation compared to the findings of McLean and Camp.

Although many (n = 39, 57.35%) of the institutions that participated in this study included all of the *Competencies for Teacher Preparation in SAE* (AAAE, 2013b) within their agriculture teacher education curriculum, there was a broad range in the level of instruction reported by individual programs. Among the 17 objectives associated with the 7 SAE teacher preparation competencies, 4 statements were most frequently rated as "Introduced" (*Mode* = 1), 9 statements were most commonly rated as "Emphasized" (*Mode* = 2), and 4 statements were most frequently rated as "Applied" (*Mode* = 4). The majority of the SAE teacher preparation competencies being rated as introduced and emphasized may contribute to how SAE is implemented in practice by agriculture teachers. If teacher education in SAE is approached in an introduced or emphasized manner, preservice teachers may develop a conceptual knowledge or "know the politically correct answer" (Wilson & Moore, 2007, p. 89). However, agriculture teachers may lack the experience and the tools to

overcome barriers to the implementation of SAE (Retallick, 2010; Wilson & Moore, 2007). Concrete experiences should be included in the preservice SAE curriculum. Kolb's (2015) experiential learning process can help preservice teachers grasp and make meaning of these experiences through reflection and experimentation. These initial experiences in teacher education can be transformed and built upon in a spiraling cycle of new experiences.

Teacher educators have the task of making the most efficient use of the available time to prepare preservice teachers (Meyers & Dyer, 2004). Considering SAE is only one area and many other requirements must be included in teacher education, it may not be practical to teach each component using a real-world or problem-solving method. It may be more practical, given the time limitations in teacher education, to target specific objectives to teach with applied methods within the curriculum that will help teachers to implement SAE programs. Research should be conducted to determine how and to what extent each of the AAAE preservice SAE competencies could be taught at an applied level to best prepare agriculture teachers to implement SAE programs. In addition, time for faculty to prepare new content to teach SAE may be an issue. In an effort to provide assistance to agriculture teacher educators, curriculum has been designed to teach these SAE competencies and is available free of charge (Barrick et al., 2015).

Interestingly, each of the statements that specifically mentioned recordkeeping had a mode of 4 indicating that most agriculture teacher education programs teach recordkeeping using a real-world or problem-solving method at the applied level. However, these recordkeeping statements each had medians that indicated the distribution of responses was centered on the "Emphasized" (Mdn = 2) response. The modes of 4 and medians of 2 indicate a broad range of responses revealing differences in how recordkeeping is taught

among individual institutions. The large standard deviation for all statements indicated a wide variety among institutions in the level of instruction for each competency within their respective curriculum. In contrast, the statement "Design a strategy to compare and contrast individual student progress toward selected college and/or career readiness, and prepare a summary report of finding to appropriate entities on a four-year time period" from competency six was the lowest rated statement overall (Mdn = 1.00, Mode = 1, M = 1.58, SD = 1.345). One potential method to help teacher educators teach this objective of competency six in an applied manner is to incorporate it as a part of the recordkeeping instruction that is already being taught in a real-world or problem-solving context. For example, a recordkeeping unit could include teaching the students to use the report generating functions available in the AET to develop a report for the appropriate entities.

To be successful, agriculture teachers must be capable of facilitating SAE by actively supervising student projects through planning and visits (Roberts, Dooley, Harlin, & Murphrey, 2007). According to the NCAE (2015), "teachers should provide supervision of and guidance for the student's program while engaging other necessary partners such as parents and/or employers" (p. 1). Agriculture teacher education programs are using real-world or problem-solving methods to develop the SAE supervision skills of preservice teachers. The statement with the highest overall frequency of "Applied" responses (f = 29, 44.62%) was "conduct an SAE supervisory visit and enlist the assistance of others in SAE supervision" (Mdn = 3.00, Mode = 4, M = 2.89, SD = 1.252) from competency four. Further research should be conducted to determine where in the curriculum this objective is taught. A likely place to include applied learning in SAE supervision is within the student teaching

experience. However, there may be opportunities to incorporate applied supervision learning objectives embedded within EFE or other courses as well as in student teaching.

The findings from this study provide a snapshot of one-moment-in-time and serve as a starting point to begin a conversation about how SAE should be taught in agricultural teacher education. Previous research has indicated that agriculture teachers value SAE and can talk about it conceptually. However, they are having difficulty implementing it in practice (Dyer & Osborne, 1995; Retallick, 2010; Wilson & Moore, 2007). Using applied methods to teach the SAE competencies in the preservice curriculum may reduce the difficulty of implementing SAE programs. SAE is often thought of as the primary experiential learning component of the SBAE model (Baker, Robinson, & Kolb, 2012). As such, SAE instruction in agriculture teacher education should follow Kolb's (2015) experiential learning process. It is recommended that agriculture teacher educators incorporate experience and reflection through applied problem-solving or real-world experiences within their curriculum to move preservice teachers beyond a conceptual knowledge of the SAE competencies and develop a skill set to help agriculture teachers overcome barriers to the implementation and management of SAE.

### References

American Association for Agricultural Education. (2013a). *Philosophy on SAE instruction in agriculture teacher education programs*. Retrieved from http://aaaeonline.org/Resources/Documents/SIG%20Files/SAE%20Teacher%20Educ ation%20Philosophy.pdf

American Association for Agricultural Education. (2013b). Competencies for teacher preparation in SAE. Retrieved from

http://aaaeonline.org/Resources/Documents/SIG%20Files/SAE%20Competencies.pdf

- Baker, M. A., Robinson, J. S., & Kolb, D. A. (2012). Aligning Kolb's experiential learning theory with a comprehensive agricultural education model. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 53(4), 1-16.
- Barrick, R. K., De Lay, A., Foster, D. D., Lawver, R. G., Ramsey, J. W., Rayfield, J. S., & Retallick, M. S. (2015). SAE unit plans for agricultural teacher education. Retrieved from http://aec.ifas.ufl.edu/ag-stem-lab/SAEplans.shtml
- Barrick, K., & Hughes, M. (1993). A model for agricultural education in public schools. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 34(3), 59-67. doi:10.5032/jae.1993.03059
- Bird, W., Martin, M. J., & Simonsen, J. (2013). Student motivation for involvement in Supervised Agricultural Experience: An historical perspective. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 54(1), 31-46. doi:10.5032/jae.2013.01031
- Boone, H. N., & Boone, D. A. (2012) Analyzing Likert scales. *Journal of Extension*, 50(2),
  1-5. Retrieved from: http://www.joe.org/joe/2012april/tt2.php
- Boone, H. N., Doefert, D. L., & Elliot, J. (1987). Supervised occupational experience programs: History, philosophy, current status, and future implications. *Journal of the American Association of Teacher Educators in Agriculture*, 28(4), 57-64. doi:10.5032/jaatea.1987.04057
- Croom, D. B. (2008). The development of the integrated three component model of agricultural education. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 49(1), 110-120. doi:10.5032/jae.2008.01110.

Dewey, J. (1938). Experience and education. New York, NY: Simon and Schuster.

- Dillman, D. A., Smyth, J. D., & Christian, L. M. (2014). Internet, phone, mail and mixedmode surveys: The tailored design method (4th ed.) Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley and Sons.
- Dyer, J. E. (Ed.). (2003). Directory. American Association for Agricultural Education.
- Dyer, J. E., & Osborne, E. W. (1995). Participation in supervised agricultural experience programs: A synthesis of research. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 36(1), 6-14. doi:10.5032/jae.1995.01006
- Knobloch, N. (2003). Is experiential learning authentic? *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 44(4), 22-33. doi:10.5032/jae.2003.04022.
- Kolb, D. A. (2015). Experiential learning: Experience as the source of learning and development (2nd ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.
- Lindner, J. R., Murphy, T. H., & Briers, G. E. (2001). Handling nonresponse in social science research. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 42(4), 43-53. doi:10.5032/jae.2001.04043
- Locke, E. A. (1991). The motivation sequence, the motivation hub, and the motivation core. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, *50*, 288-299.
- McLean, R. C., & Camp, W. G. (2000). An examination of selected preservice agricultural teacher education programs in the United States. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 41(2), 25-35. doi:10.5032/jae.2000.02025
- Myers, B. E., & Dyer, J. E. (2004). Agriculture teacher education programs: A synthesis of the literature. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 45(3), 44-52.
  doi:10.5032/jae.2004.03044

National Council for Agricultural Education. (2015). Philosophy and guiding principles for execution of the supervised agricultural experience component of the total schoolbased agricultural education program. Retrieved from

https://www.ffa.org/SiteCollectionDocuments/sae\_guiding \_principles.pdf

- Phipps, L. J., Osborne, E. W., Dyer, J. E., & Ball, A. (2008). Handbook on agricultural education in public schools (6th ed.). Clift Park, NY: Thomson Delmar.
- Retallick, M. S. (2010). Implementation of supervised agricultural experience programs: the agriculture teachers perspective. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 51(4), 59-70. doi:10.5032/jae.2010.04059
- Roberts, T. G. (2006). A philosophical examination of experiential learning theory for agricultural educators. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 47(1), 17-29. doi:10.5032/jae.2006.01017
- Roberts, T. G., Dooley, K. E., Harlin, J. F., & Murphrey, T. P. (2007). Competencies and traits of successful agricultural science teachers. *Journal of Career and Technical Education*, 22(2), 6-17. Retrieved from

https://ejournals.lib.vt.edu/index.php/JCTE/article/view/ 455/399

- Roberts, T. G., & Dyer, J. E. (2004). Characteristics of effective agriculture teachers. *Journal* of Agricultural Education, 45(4), 82-95. doi:10.5032/jae.2004.04082
- Rubenstein, E. D., Thoron, A. C., & Estepp, C. M. (2014). Perceived self-efficacy of preservice agriculture teachers toward specific SAE competencies. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 55(4), 72-84. doi:10.5032/jae.2014.04072
- Talbert, B. A., Vaughn, R., Croom, D. B., & Lee, J. S. (2014). Foundations of agricultural education (3rd ed.). Danville, IL: Professional Educators Publications.

- Scroggins, B. (2004, November). The teaching-learning cycle: Using student learning outcome results to improve teaching and learning. Retrieved from: http://www.elcamino.edu/ academics/slo/docs/SLOFocusOnResults.doc
- Stimson, R. W. (1919). *Vocational agricultural education by home projects*. New York, NY: The MacMillian Company.
- Swortzel, K. A. (1996). Perceptions regarding planning activities and supervision strategies for supervised agricultural experience programs. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 37(4), 47-55. doi:10.5032/jae.1996.02047
- Wilson, E. B., & Moore, G. E. (2007). Exploring the paradox of supervised agricultural experience programs in agricultural education. *Journal of Agricultural Education*. 48(4), 82-92. doi:10.5032/jae.2007.04082

## CHAPTER VI. AN ANALYSIS OF SUPERVISED AGRICULTURAL EXPERIENCE CONTENT IN AGRICULTURAL TEACHER EDUCATION

A manuscript prepared for submission to the Journal of Agricultural Education

Bryan D. Rank and Michael S. Retallick

### Abstract

Faculty in university agricultural teacher education programs bear the responsibility of preparing future teachers to lead effective school-based agricultural education programs. In an effort to provide guidance for supervised agricultural experience instruction in agricultural teacher education, the American Association for Agricultural Education has developed a philosophy and competencies for agricultural teacher preparation in supervised agricultural experience. However, among agricultural teacher education programs, there is a broad range in the level of instruction occurring within each of the supervised agricultural experience teacher preparation competencies. The purpose of this study was to describe the content and placement of supervised agricultural experience curricula within agricultural teacher education programs as evidenced by course syllabi and other documents such as handbooks or unit instructional plans. A total of 88 documents from 28 agricultural teacher education programs were analyzed. Inductive coding using constant comparison revealed 10 themes addressed within the course materials provided in this study. The themes that emerged were (a) structure, (b) record book, (c) supervision, (d) overall school-based agricultural education program, (e) selection and growth, (f) experiential learning, (g) history and philosophy, (h) specific agricultural or career skills, (i) agriculture teacher responsibilities, and (j) legal and ethical. Recordkeeping was the most common aspect of the supervised agricultural experience curriculum to be taught using an obviously experiential or project-based method.
It is recommended that agricultural teacher educators use the experiential learning process to move preservice teachers beyond conceptual supervised agricultural experience knowledge by developing the knowledge and skills necessary to overcome the barriers to the implementation and management of supervised agricultural experience.

Keywords: SAE, Supervised agricultural experience, Experiential learning

# Introduction

Faculty in university agricultural teacher education programs bear the responsibility of preparing future teachers to lead effective school-based agricultural education (SBAE) programs (Roberts & Dyer, 2004). Myers and Dyer (2004) proposed "the goal of teacher education is to make the most effective use of the time available to prepare future educators for the task awaiting them" (p. 47). To meet these goals, preservice agriculture teachers are prepared using a combination of coursework and experiences. However, the combination of coursework comprising the curricular structure of individual programs varies widely across agricultural teacher education programs (McLean & Camp, 2000).

In an effort to provide guidance for SAE instruction in agricultural teacher education, the AAAE has developed a *Philosophy on SAE Instruction in Agriculture Teacher Education Programs* (AAAE, 2013a) as well as *Competencies for Agriculture Teacher Preparation in SAE* (AAAE 2013b). Among agricultural teacher education programs, there is a broad range in the level of instruction occurring within each of the SAE agriculture teacher preparation competencies (Rank & Retallick, 2016). Within agriculture teacher education, "SBAE preservice programs should work to promote authentic experiences for preservice teachers to develop, implement, maintain, sustain, evaluate, supervise, and communicate an SAE program" (Rubenstein, Thoron, & Estepp, 2014, p. 81).

### **Conceptual Framework**

The components of an effective SBAE program are commonly depicted in a Venn diagram as three intersecting circles consisting of contextual, inquiry-based learning through classroom and laboratory interaction, leadership engagement through the National FFA Organization, and planned and supervised, experience-based learning through SAE, which is the focus of this study (Talbert, Vaughn, Croom, & Lee, 2014). Over time, SAE has evolved from vocational training in a production agriculture context to include a broader variety of SAE types. Currently, the National Council for Agricultural Education ([NCAE], 2015) defines the types of SAE as exploratory, placement/internship, ownership/entrepreneurship, research, school-based enterprise, and service learning.

Although SAE is often thought of as the primary experiential learning component of the SBAE model (Baker, Robinson, & Kolb, 2012; Barrick & Hughes, 1993; Bird, Martin, & Simonsen, 2013), experiential learning occurs within the context of formal classroom instruction or FFA activities as well (NCAE, 2015). The SAE component differs from other forms of experiential learning practiced in SBAE such as inquiry-based classroom or lab instruction, field trips, or FFA competitive events because it includes career planning, is managed by the student, occurs outside of classroom instruction, and occurs in a real-world or a simulated workplace environment (NCAE, 2015).

The NCAE (2015) has determined "each portion of the title 'Supervised Agricultural Experience' is significant in describing what is expected of all teachers and students of agricultural education" (p. 1). The agricultural teacher should provide onsite supervision when possible, but also through other methods such as computer technology, written reports, and group meetings to assist students in planning and conducting their SAE (NCAE, 2015). Contextually, the SAE is based on agriculture and should form a linkage between agriculture,

food, and natural resources (AFNR) instruction, the students' interests, and career exploration (NCAE, 2015).

Agriculture teachers have an impact on the implementation and success of SAE programs (Dyer & Osborne, 1995; Philipps, Osborn, Dyer, & Ball, 2008; Retallick, 2010; Rubenstein, et al., 2014; Swortzel, 1996). Dyer and Osborne (1995) found "teacher attitudes toward SAE programs are a key factor in student participation" (p. 8). In addition to teacher attitudes, the role agriculture teachers play in selecting, planning, and developing appropriate SAEs is critical to the success of the SAE program (Swortzel, 1996).

However, "there is a paradox between the value teachers place on SAE and the manner in which SAE is being implemented" (Wilson & Moore, 2007, p. 89). Agriculture teachers have difficulty implementing SAE in practice even though they value it conceptually (Dyer & Osborne, 1995; Retallick, 2010; Wilson & Moore, 2007). Wilson and Moore (2007) suggested that teachers are not implementing SAE because of a lack of rewards in the second phase and perceived barriers in the third phase of Locke's (1991) motivational schema. In the motivation hub, actions toward a goal are influenced by the value placed on the goal and by the perceived ability to take the actions necessary to achieve the goal (Locke, 1991). Perceived barriers limit the implementation of SAE even though agriculture teachers consider SAE programs to be valuable (Wilson & Moore, 2007).

SAE is included at varying points throughout the agricultural teacher education curriculum (Rank & Retallick, 2016; Wilson & Moore, 2007). The need exists to identify the SAE content and its placement within agricultural teacher education course materials to provide evidence about how and where SAE instruction is included within agricultural teacher education.

# **Purpose and Objectives**

The purpose of this study was to describe the content and placement of SAE curriculum within agricultural teacher education programs as evidenced by course syllabi and other documents such as handbooks or unit instructional plans. The objective of this study was to (a) describe the SAE content included in documents used by agricultural teacher education programs and (b) describe themes that emerged from a content analysis.

#### Methods

The population for this study was all agriculture teacher education programs in the United States. The population and program representatives were identified using the *AAAE Directory of University Faculty in Agricultural Education* (Dyer, 2003), AAAE Agricultural Education Directory online, NAAE Teach Ag website, and university or departmental websites. This search resulted in the identification of 95 agriculture teacher education programs.

Requests for documents that included SAE content were sent via email to representatives of 95 institutions across the United States. The documents that were requested included course syllabi, handbooks, unit instructional plans, and any other documents containing SAE content that were deemed important by the faculty contacts. Faculty representatives were asked to reply to the email with attached digital copies of the requested documents. A reminder email was sent eight days after the initial invitation to encourage non-responders to submit documents.

A total of 92 documents were received from 28 agricultural teacher education programs. An initial analysis revealed duplicate documents (n = 2) and documents that did not specifically address SAE or a similar experience-based program referred to by a different name such as experiential learning (n = 2). These four documents were removed leaving 88

usable documents to be analyzed. Each document was assigned an identification number. The identification numbers and descriptive characteristics for the usable documents were entered into a coding matrix (Cooper, 2010).

In the first step of the content analysis, the documents were inductively coded using a constant comparison qualitative research strategy to determine themes emerging from the existing documents (Meriam, 2009). Although the constant comparative method was first proposed as a data analysis method in the grounded theory methodology, it has been widely used in qualitative research without building a grounded theory (Merriam, 2009).

The focus of coding using constant comparison in qualitative content analysis is to extract themes from the data (Cho & Lee, 2014). Codes that were identified within the course materials were recorded within the coding matrix and arranged into tentative themes based on the content of the code. These tentative themes were then compared and reduced to final themes (Merriam, 2009).

The second step of the content analysis was designed to assess the reliability of the inductive coding process. In the second phase, a deductive coding instrument was created with descriptions of the final themes and the course components that were identified by the principle researcher. The coding instrument was used by a critical friend as a triangulation method to assess reliability (Johnson & Christensen, 2014). Johnson and Christensen (2014) described a critical friend as someone who could be trusted to provide honest and open feedback on the researcher's actions throughout the research process.

The critical friend in this study was a graduate student with a general knowledge of SAE but who had not implemented SAE as part of an SBAE program. This critical friend was selected to help ensure that the researcher was not biased in selecting codes that were not

directly related to SAE based on the researcher's subjectivity. The critical friend used the coding instrument to deductively code a random sample consisting of 10 documents. After the critical friend deductively coded the random sample of documents, the researcher and critical friend met to compare their analyses. The only discrepancy between the researcher and the critical friend was found in one of the sample documents where the term *experiential learning* was used rather than SAE to describe individual projects outside of the agricultural education classroom.

Findings were reported as a description of the themes that emerged based on the constant comparison qualitative analysis. In addition, frequencies of the types of documents received as well as frequencies of codes identified within each theme were reported.

#### **Reporting of Results**

The first objective of this study was to describe the SAE content included in documents used by agricultural teacher education programs. The documents included syllabi, assignment descriptions, handbooks, resources, lesson plans, PowerPoint presentations, and course calendars. To provide a breakdown of the types of documents that were analyzed, the frequencies for the types of documents analyzed are shown in Figure 6.1.





The documents that were analyzed in this study addressed SAE instruction in a variety of ways. To provide a richer description regarding how SAE content was included within agricultural teacher education programs, course components were identified as part of the inductive coding process. These course components included lecture or lab topics, learning objectives, assignments, activities, observations, and resources. Lecture or lab topics were defined as a lecture or lab focus that was not stated as an objective. Learning objectives were clearly stated as objectives in the course materials. Assignments were considered to be different from activities because they were larger projects that counted as a grade and were listed in the syllabus or assignment description as an assignment. Activities were defined as short, in or out of class projects that may be graded. Typically, activities occurred in student teaching; however, activities were also included as a part of a lesson within a course. Observations were specific field experiences that included observing and/or

interviewing an agriculture teacher. Resources consisted of documents that included informational materials such as flow charts or outlines.

The second objective of this study was to describe themes that emerged from the content analysis. Inductive coding using constant comparison revealed 10 themes that emerged from the course materials analyzed in this study. The themes that emerged were (a) structure, (b) record book, (c) supervision, (d) overall SBAE program, (e) selection and growth, (f) experiential learning, (g) history and philosophy, (h) specific agricultural or career skills, (i) agriculture teacher responsibilities, and (j) legal and ethical. The frequency of codes related to each theme is reported in Figure 6.2.





Note. Documents may contain multiple themes.

# Structure

The structure theme was composed of SAE content that referenced the types of SAE,

components of an SAE, evaluation of SAE quality, and partnerships within the community

that support SAE. Although there are some similarities between the structure theme and the selection and growth theme, the structure theme was considered to be a theme that focused on the overall SAE context within an SBAE program whereas the selection and growth theme was focused on the implementation and expansion of individual student SAEs.

Most agricultural teacher education programs in this study included SAE content that fit within the structure theme. Often, course materials include specific learning objectives based on identifying or describing the approved types of SAE, as well as identifying resources that could be used to help establish SAE programs. These course materials also included broader lecture or lab topics related to a general conceptualization of SAE. A common example of a broad lecture or lab topic within the structure theme would be "What is an SAE?" or a similar question. In line with the structure theme, one agriculture teacher program provided a resource with SAE program examples.

Activities that contained SAE content that was considered to be part of the structural theme were found within documents used in the student teaching experience. Student teachers were often required to work with parents and employers to develop SAE opportunities. In addition to working with parents and employers, one student teaching handbook required student teachers to determine the percentage of each type of SAE at their cooperating center.

The content analysis also discovered assignments that contained SAE content related to the structure theme. For example, one assignment was to design a new SAE category based on the needs of 21st-century students. Another example of an assignment within this theme was a placement SAE case study. Assignments within the structural theme were focused on programmatic aspects of SAE.

Course materials also included observations that contained SAE content that was considered to be part of the structural theme. These observations included collecting SAE materials from cooperating teachers during field experiences as well as providing specific examples of the SAEs in which SBAE students participate as part of an observation.

#### **Record Book**

The record book theme was derived from SAE content that specifically addressed recordkeeping and/or using record books to complete award and degree applications. Many agricultural teacher education programs included lecture and/or lab topics within their course materials that address the general importance of recordkeeping for SAE management and/or applying for FFA awards and degrees. These topics may also introduce a specific recordkeeping system such as the AET web-based recordkeeping program.

SAE content within the record book theme was also identified within specific learning objectives that focused on developing and using recordkeeping skills. For example, one learning objective was to be able to teach others to use the AET. Other examples of learning objectives were to document the outcomes of an SAE or to find information using the help feature in the AET.

All of the assignments containing SAE content related to the record book theme included some form of simulated record book entries. For example, one agricultural teacher education program assigned diversified livestock entries as a record book simulation. Another agricultural teacher education program required each student to complete an electronic recordbook using mock data. Among the simulated record book assignments, nine specifically stated using the AET.

The activities identified within the record book theme were also part of the student teaching experience. As part of student teaching, preservice teachers were required to assist their students with recordkeeping as well as in completing award and degree applications. One handbook also stated that student teachers would generate year-end summary financial SAE reports.

### Supervision

The supervision theme included SAE content that was related to agricultural teachers overseeing students' SAE programs including SAE visits. Many agricultural teacher education programs included lecture and or lab topics that included conducting SAE visits, developing year-round supervision plans, and/or planning summer programs to emphasize SAE.

SAE content related to supervision that was identified within specific learning objectives focused on the role of the instructor in SAE supervision. For example, one objective was to interpret the importance of the instructor in effectively supervising SAE. In addition, learning objectives also focused on supervision skill development and identifying best practices for agricultural teachers supervising SAE.

Within the supervision theme, SAE content was identified within student teaching activities. These student teaching activities often included at least one SAE visit at a student's home or workplace. However, student teaching activities could also include discussions with the cooperating teacher about the importance of an extended contract for SAE supervision.

Within the supervision theme, SAE content was identified within role-playing assignments. For example, one syllabus included an SAE visit role-playing assignment based on one of four scenarios provided by the instructor. In another course, preservice teachers designed and presented their own role-playing scenario that included eight questions they would ask of parents, the student, and the agricultural teacher during an SAE visit.

Examples of activities containing SAE content related to the supervision theme were conducted during student teaching and include "Discuss with your cooperating teacher the importance of an extended contract for successful SAEs" and "Identify one student with an SAE program and conduct a visit (at home, on the job, or at school facilities)."

Observations containing SAE content within the supervision theme often included SAE visits with the cooperating teacher during a field experience. However, one syllabus included three SAE visits at three different schools for a total of six clock hours of observation. SAE content related to the supervision theme was also identified within resources such as an SAE visitation form as well as outlines that provide steps for SAE supervision success.

#### **Overall SBAE Program**

The overall SBAE program theme was constructed from SAE content that was related to SAE's role within a complete SBAE program or as part of the agricultural education model. Many agricultural teacher education programs included lecture topics based on the relationship among classroom learning, SAE, and FFA as well as the role of SAE within SBAE.

SAE content that was related to the overall SBAE program theme was identified within learning objectives that were focused on the total SBAE program. For example, explaining the role of SAE within SBAE or a similar learning objective was included within many course syllabi. One course included developing a personal philosophy/rationale for implementing SAE/FFA into a total SBAE program as a learning objective.

Assignments containing SAE content that was associated with the overall SBAE program theme were also focused on the conceptualization of SAE as part of a complete SBAE program. One assignment was to create an FFA/SAE policy statement that

encompassed and reflected the students' philosophy and understanding of the experiential learning and student leadership organization components of a total agricultural education program. Another example of an assignment was to identify at least three SMART goals in each component of an SBAE program.

As part of early field experience, SAE content that fit within the overall SBAE program theme was identified within observations. Suggested observations included observing how SAE fits into the SBAE program. Agricultural teacher education programs also included interview questions related to how the teacher incorporates the Ag Ed model into their program as part of an observation. The overall SBAE program theme also included SAE content from a student teaching activity in which student teachers were asked to "relate classroom instruction to students' SAEs."

#### **Selection and Growth**

The selection and growth theme focused on advising SBAE students in choosing an SAE and improving or expanding the SBAE students SAE over time. SAE content related to SAE selection and growth was identified in lecture topics that were focused on planning SAE growth and development, selecting an SAE, and SAE agreements and plans.

A variety of assignments included SAE content that fit within the selection and growth theme. Two agricultural teacher education programs included a semester-long SAE project conducted by the preservice teachers in a course. In this project, the preservice teachers were required to design, implement, and conduct an SAE individually or in small groups as a course assignment. Other assignments were focused on the initial selection of an SAE. In these assignments, teacher education students plan and conduct an "SAE fair" for students and parents at a local high school as a course project or create a promotional item that can be used to market SAE. Another example of an assignment within the selection and growth theme was to develop a personal philosophy regarding the management and structure of local SAE and FFA programs. Additionally, one syllabus required an SAE research project as an assignment.

Learning objectives within the selection and growth theme were focused on developing strategies to assist high school students in planning and developing SAE programs. Additionally, some learning objectives were more specific and included working with special needs students to establish SAE programs as well as assisting youth in planning experiential learning projects based on individual and community needs.

Many agricultural teacher education programs included student teaching activities that included SAE content that fit within the selection and growth theme. Examples of student teaching activities that were considered to be part of the selection and growth theme were helping students with SAE plans and agreements and guiding students in the selection and/or expansion of their SAE. Two examples of resources within the selection and growth theme were a dichotomous key that could be used to select an SAE and a list of innovative SAE ideas.

# **Experiential Learning**

The experiential learning theme was inductively coded based on course content that linked experiential learning theory and/or the experiential learning process to SAE. SAE content that fit within the experiential learning theme was identified within lecture topics that focused on the importance of experiential learning in SAE or on promoting learning through SAE.

SAE content related to the experiential learning theme was also identified within learning objectives. For example, one course included describing Kolb's model for experiential learning and how it is aligned with the agricultural education program as a

learning objective. Another example of a learning objective was to identify principles involved in developing and conducting SAE programs and the implications for an effective learning situation.

SAE content that was considered to be part of the experiential learning theme was identified within two assignments. One assignment consisted of developing an experiential learning plan for students in youth organizations and the other focused on developing an experiential learning philosophy.

#### **History and Philosophy**

The history and philosophy theme specifically addressed the philosophical and historical perspective that led to the SAE. SAE content that fit within this theme was only identified within lecture topics and learning objectives. Lecture topics containing SAE content that addressed the history and philosophy theme were extremely broad. Typically, a lecture topic in this theme was some variation of "history of SAE" or "SAE history." Learning objectives containing SAE content considered to fit within the history and philosophy theme were based on the historical perspective of SAE. Two examples of learning objectives within the history and philosophy theme were to acquire an historical perspective of the FFA and SAE programs and to demonstrate knowledge of the historical perspective of the FFA and SAE programs.

#### **Specific Agriculture or Career Skills**

The specific agriculture or career skills theme was inductively coded from SAE content that addressed agricultural career skills or general employability skills. Learning objectives containing SAE content considered to be within the specific agriculture or career skills theme were focused on employability skills. Examples of these learning objectives were to identify the characteristics of a successful worker in modern agriculture, identify the

knowledge and skills necessary for various careers in agriculture, and discuss procedures for applying, obtaining, and maintaining employment in agriculture and related fields.

The assignments that contained SAE content within the specific agriculture or career skills theme were focused on skill development. One example of an assignment within the specific agriculture or career skills theme was to "participate in three planned practicums." Examples of these planned practica were show animal castration, show animal trimming, leadership development events, and/or SAE record book activities. The other assignment identified within this theme was service learning based on livestock team presentations.

Student teaching activities that contained SAE content included within the specific agriculture or career skills theme were based on general employability skills. One example of an activity within this theme was to teach two lessons integrating personal finance into SAE. Although the SAE content within this activity could potentially have been coded as recordkeeping, it was coded as a specific agricultural or career skill because it was based on the general skill of managing personal finance rather than keeping records on an SAE. Another student teaching activity within this theme was to help students understand how SAE relates to tasks performed by people in agricultural occupations.

#### **Agriculture Teacher Responsibilities**

The agriculture teacher responsibilities theme focused on agriculture teacher responsibilities other than supervision. SAE content considered to be within this theme was only found within course objectives and one resource. Learning objectives were focused on describing the agriculture teacher's role and responsibilities related to SAE and establishing an evaluation system for SAE projects. One course included the Competencies for teacher preparation in SAE (AAAE, 2013b) as a resource within the course syllabus.

# Legal and Ethical

The legal and ethical theme contained SAE content that focused on the legal and ethical responsibilities of agricultural teachers. SAE content that fit within the legal and ethical theme was only identified within lecture topics and learning objectives. The topics that contained SAE content related to the legal and ethical theme were focused on child labor laws, legal issues, contracts, and work agreements. The two learning objectives that were coded as part of the legal and ethical theme were "Discuss child labor laws and their effect on SAEPs" and "Distinguish legal and ethical issues related to SAEs (e.g., child labor laws and validation issues)."

# **Summary of Findings**

Among the 10 themes that emerged from the SAE content identified within course materials provided by agricultural teacher educators, assignments containing SAE content were most prevalent within the record book theme. Record book assignments were typically simulations using the AET electronic recordkeeping system. Some variations of the AET simulations included completing simulated proficiency award or FFA degree applications in addition to SAE recordkeeping. An experiential approach to recordkeeping was also noted in activities associated with student teaching. As part of the student teaching experience, preservice agriculture teachers were frequently required to assist SBAE students with recordkeeping as well as in completing award and degree applications. The prevalence of record book simulations and experiences in student teaching support the findings reported by Rank and Retallick (2016) regarding the perception of agricultural teacher educators that recordkeeping was being taught at an applied level in agricultural teacher education programs. Although recordkeeping was often taught as a concrete experience, no evidence was identified within the documents that indicated the transformation of the experience through reflective observation or active experimentation.

SAE content within the 10 themes that emerged from the analysis was segmented and most often focused on a conceptual and/or theoretical understanding of SAE. For example, most of the SAE content that fit within the structure theme included topics describing the types of SAE. However, the types of SAE that were the focus of most course materials were the traditional entrepreneurship and placement SAEs. Although some course materials contained content that mentioned other SAE types, no content was identified that referred to all of the current types of SAE as approved by the National Council for Agricultural Education ([NCAE], 2015).

Although there was a continual focus on the conceptual and theoretical aspects of SAE, the content analysis identified some instances in which the course materials included SAE content that could help preservice teachers develop operational skills. Many of these instances were activities that were part of the student teaching experience such as planning SAEs with students or conducting SAE visits. However, other courses used methods that could help to develop operational skills as well. One example was using role-playing scenarios to simulate an SAE visit. Another example was a semester-long SAE program developed, implemented, and managed by preservice teachers enrolled in the course.

#### Limitations

The themes that emerged in this study provide a snapshot of the SAE content contained within course materials provided by 28 agricultural teacher education programs. Although documents provide an objective source of data (Merriam, 2009), the results of this content analysis were limited to the data that were included in the documents. The actual teaching can and likely does go far beyond the course components that were explicitly stated

within the course materials. For example, a topic such as "the types of SAE" could be presented in an almost infinite number of ways using any variety of methods.

# **Conclusions, Implications, and Recommendations**

SAE instruction was included at various points throughout the agricultural teacher education curriculum. However, the SAE content was segmented and inconsistent among agricultural teacher education programs. Typically, SAE content was focused on the conceptualization of SAE as part of the SBAE model, identifying the types of SAE, the need for supervision, and recordkeeping. The content in these areas was often taught from a conceptual and/or theoretical perspective. However, recordkeeping often also included assignments that used record book simulation.

Recordkeeping was the most common aspect of the SAE curriculum to be taught using an obviously experiential or project-based method. To a lesser extent, some programs incorporated an SAE project to be conducted by preservice teachers as a course assignment. Although these are examples of concrete experiences, neither of these examples include references to the transformation modes of reflective observation or active experimentation that are necessary to transform the experience into knowledge.

Concrete experiences such as recordkeeping simulations are an entry point into the experiential learning process. Similarly, abstract conceptualization such as developing an SAE philosophy can be used to grasp experience. However, there are other modes within Kolb's (2015) experiential learning process that are essential to the development of knowledge from experience. The experiential learning process is a cycle of grasping and transforming experience (Kolb, 2015). To complete the cycle and create knowledge, experience needs to be transformed through either reflective observation or active experimentation. It is possible that preservice teachers become stuck in the modes of

grasping experience and never develop useful knowledge because reflective observation and active experimentation are often left to chance.

Previous research findings suggest that agriculture teachers have difficulty implementing SAE even though they value SAE and can talk about it conceptually (Dyer & Osborne, 1995; Retallick, 2010; Wilson & Moore, 2007). Wilson and Moore (2007) suggested that a lack of rewards in the second phase and perceived barriers in the third phase of Locke's (1991) motivational schema limit SAE implementation even though agriculture teachers consider SAE to be valuable. Approaching SAE instruction in agricultural teacher education from the perspective of the complete experiential learning process could help preservice teachers gain the knowledge needed to overcome perceived barriers when they become agriculture teachers.

In an effort to provide assistance to agriculture teacher educators, curriculum has been designed to teach preservice SAE competencies that is available to teacher educators free of charge (Barrick et al., 2015). This curriculum provides a resource that can help to ensure that preservice teachers have the philosophical foundation as well as the training in the SAE teacher preparation competencies to successfully implement and manage SAE programs. It is recommended that agricultural teacher educators use these lesson plans to supplement or replace their current SAE curriculum to help ensure that all of the SAE agriculture teacher preparation competencies are addressed in their program in a coherent and structured manner.

It is further recommended that agricultural teacher educators purposefully incorporate the transforming modes within Kolb's (2015) experiential learning process into their SAE instruction to help preservice teachers make meaning of their experience. Purposefully

facilitating the full experiential learning process will assist preservice teachers to develop knowledge and skills necessary to overcome the barriers to the implementation and management of SAE.

#### References

American Association for Agricultural Education. (2013a). *Philosophy on SAE instruction in agriculture teacher education programs*. Retrieved from http://aaaeonline.org/Resources/Documents/SIG%20Files/SAE%20Teacher%20Educ ation%20Philosophy.pdf

American Association for Agricultural Education. (2013b). Competencies for teacher preparation in SAE. Retrieved from http://aaaeonline.org/Resources/ Documents/SIG% 20Files/SAE%20Competencies.pdf

- Baker, M. A., Robinson, J. S., & Kolb, D. A. (2012). Aligning Kolb's experiential learning theory with a comprehensive agricultural education model. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 53(4), 1-16. doi:10.5032/jae.2012.04001
- Barrick, R. K., De Lay, A., Foster, D. D., Lawver, R. G., Ramsey, J. W., Rayfield, J. S., & Retallick, M. S. (2015). SAE unit plans for agricultural teacher education. Retrieved from http://aec.ifas.ufl.edu/ag-stem-lab/SAEplans.shtml
- Barrick, K., & Hughes, M. (1993). A model for agricultural education in public schools. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 34(3), 59-67. doi:10.5032/jae.1993.03059
- Bird, W., Martin, M. J., & Simonsen, J. (2013). Student motivation for involvement in supervised agricultural experience: An historical perspective. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 54(1), 31-46. doi:10.5032/jae.2013.01031

- Cho, J., Y., & Lee, E., H. (2015). Reducing confusion about grounded theory and qualitative content analysis: Similarities and differences. *The Qualitative Report*, 19(32), 1-20. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol19/iss32/2
- Cooper, H. M. (2010). *Research synthesis and meta-analysis: A step-by-step approach* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Dyer, J. E. (Ed.). (2003). Directory. American Association for Agricultural Education.
- Dyer, J. E., & Osborne, E. W. (1995). Participation in supervised agricultural experience programs: A synthesis of research. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 36(1), 6-14. doi:10.5032/jae.1995.01006
- Johnson, R. B., & Christensen, L. B. (2014) *Educational research methods: Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed approaches* (5th ed.). Los Angeles, CA: Sage. Retrieved from http://www.sagepub.com/bjohnson5e/main.htm
- Kolb, D. A. (2015). Experiential learning: Experience as the source of learning and development (2nd ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.
- Locke, E. A. (1991). The motivation sequence, the motivation hub, and the motivation core. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, *50*, 288-299.
- Merriam, S. B. (2009). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. San Francisco, CA: Josey-Bass.

Myers, B. E., & Dyer, J. E. (2004). Agriculture teacher education programs: A synthesis of the literature. *Journal of agricultural Education*, 45(3), 44-52.
doi:10.5032/jae.2004.03044

McLean, R. C., & Camp, W. G. (2000). An examination of selected preservice agricultural teacher education programs in the United States. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 41(2), 25-35. doi:10.5032/jae.2000.02025

National Council for Agricultural Education. (2015). *Philosophy and guiding principles for execution of the supervised agricultural experience component of the total schoolbased agricultural education program.* Retrieved from https://www.ffa.org/SiteCollectionDocuments /sae\_guiding \_principles.pdf

- Talbert, B. A., Vaughn, R., Croom, D. B., & Lee, J. S. (2014). Foundations of agricultural education (3rd ed.). Danville, IL: Professional Educators Publications.
- Phipps, L. J., Osborne, E. W., Dyer, J. E., & Ball, A. (2008). Handbook on agricultural education in public schools (6th ed.). Clift Park, NY: Thomson Delmar.
- Retallick, M. S. (2010). Implementation of supervised agricultural experience programs: The agriculture teachers perspective. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 51(4), 59-70. doi:10.5032/jae.2010.04059
- Rank, B. D., & Retallick, M. S. (2016). Supervised agricultural experience instruction in agricultural teacher education programs: A national descriptive study. Unpublished manuscript. Ames, IA: Department of Agricultural Education and Studies, Iowa State University.
- Roberts, T. G., & Dyer, J. E. (2004). Characteristics of effective agriculture teachers. *Journal* of Agricultural Education, 45(4), 82-95. doi:10.5032/jae.2004.04082
- Rubenstein, E. D., Thoron, A. C., & Estepp, C. M. (2014). Perceived self-efficacy of preservice agriculture teachers toward specific SAE competencies. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 55(4), 72-84. doi:10.5032/jae.2014.04072

Swortzel, K. A. (1996). Perceptions regarding planning activities and supervision strategies for supervised agricultural experience programs. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 37(4), 47-55. doi:10.5032/jae.1996.02047

Wilson, E. B., & Moore, G. E. (2007). Exploring the paradox of supervised agricultural experience programs in agricultural education. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 48(4), 82-92. doi:10.5032/jae.2007.04082

# **CHAPTER VII. GENERAL CONCLUSIONS**

The purpose of this dissertation was to explore how and to what extent SAE instruction was included in agricultural teacher education programs in the United States. To accomplish this purpose, this dissertation consisted of three manuscripts that focused on three primary research objectives. The first research objective was to synthesize the peer-reviewed SAE research published between 1994 and 2014. The second objective focused on identifying where and to what extent SAE instruction was included within agricultural teacher education programs in the United States. The third objective was to describe the content and placement of SAE curriculum materials within agricultural teacher education programs. In this chapter, the general conclusions of this study are discussed, and recommendations for the agricultural teacher education profession are suggested.

Conclusions that can be drawn from investigating the first research objective were that SAE continues to be a focus of research in the agricultural education profession. SAE research published between 1994 and 2014 was focused primarily on student participation, the benefits of SAE, preservice teacher education, and professional development for practicing teachers. The most common research methods revealed in this synthesis were descriptive and based primarily on study participants' perceptions. SAE research was contextually broad and, with few exceptions, focused on relatively small populations, such as single states.

Regarding the second and third objectives, it can be concluded that SAE instruction is embedded throughout the agriculture teacher education curriculum. Each institution had its own unique curriculum and included SAE at varying points making SAE content segmented and inconsistent among agricultural teacher education programs. Although SAE instruction

and placement differed among individual programs, SAE content was typically focused on the conceptualization of SAE as part of the SBAE model, identifying the types of SAE, the need for supervision, and recordkeeping. The content in these areas was often taught from a conceptual and/or theoretical perspective. Among agricultural teacher education programs nationally, SAE instruction is most commonly embedded within student teaching and in program planning courses.

Although many institutions include all of the *Competencies for Teacher Preparation in SAE* (AAAE, 2013b) within their agriculture teacher education curriculum, there was a broad range in the level of instruction reported by individual programs. The majority of the SAE teacher preparation competencies being rated as introduced and emphasized may contribute to how SAE is implemented in practice by agriculture teachers. If teacher education in SAE is approached in an introduced or emphasized manner, preservice teachers may develop a conceptual knowledge or "know the politically correct answer" (Wilson & Moore, 2007, p. 89). However, agriculture teachers may lack the experience and the tools to overcome barriers and implement SAE (Retallick, 2010; Wilson & Moore, 2007).

In contrast to the other competencies, SAE teacher preparation competencies that were focused on recordkeeping were most often taught at the applied level. Additionally, recordkeeping assignments were identified within course syllabi. For example, simulated record books using the AET electronic recordkeeping system and/or simulated award or degree applications were included within course syllabi as assignments. Although recordkeeping was included as a concrete experience, no evidence was found to suggest that reflection was incorporated to move beyond the concrete experience of entering data into the recordkeeping system.

This dissertation builds upon the previous research synthesis conducted by Dyer and Osborne (1995, 1996) and Dyer and Williams (1997a, 1997b) to provide an overview of over 50 years of SAE research. Over this period, considerable effort has been focused on researching aspects of SAE. In addition to research published in peer-reviewed journals and conference proceedings, the NCAE has developed a philosophy and guiding principles for including SAE as a component of SBAE. These NCAE documents outline the purpose of SAE as well as describe the types of SAE that SBAE students can conduct (NCAE, 2015).

Additionally, the AAAE has developed a guiding philosophy as well as competencies for agricultural teacher preparation in SAE (AAAE, 2014a; 2014b). Unit plans and other educational materials based on these AAAE agriculture teacher preparation competencies have been developed and are readily available to assist teacher educators as they teach the preservice agriculture teachers in their programs (Barrick et al., 2015).

It is evident from the amount of research that has been published as well as the work of the NCAE, AAAE, and faculty members who have helped to develop curriculum, that SAE is valued by many agriculture teacher educators. However, in SBAE the SAE component is not practiced as it was conceptualized (Retallick, 2010; Wilson & Moore, 2007). In Locke's (1991) motivational schema, the motivation hub describes the performance of a task as resulting from the interaction between one's goals and the belief that one can achieve those goals. Continuing research is needed to clearly identify the goals of SAE and to develop the ability of agriculture teachers to achieve these goals.

In Locke's (1991) motivational sequence, goals in the motivation hub are based on the values and motives that comprise the motivation core. Research has shown that agriculture teachers value SAE (Harlin, Edwards, & Briers, 2002; Retallick, 2010;

Rubenstein, Thoron, & Estepp, 2014; Wilson & Moore, 2007). However, agriculture teachers and teacher educators need to determine what is valuable about SAE and why they value it. It is time to ask the question: "Is SAE valued because of its traditional inclusion in the SBAE model, or is SAE included in the SBAE model because it is a valuable learning method?" If the profession is clinging to SAE simply because it is traditionally thought to be a component of a successful SBAE program, agriculture teachers may not be motivated to overcome barriers to SAE implementation, thus, contributing to the paradox between conceptualization and practice identified by Wilson and Moore (2007). However, if SAE is valued as an effective teaching and learning method, it should be adapted and designed to reach specific learning outcomes.

A clearly identified list of universal goals and specific learning outcomes that all SAEs should address is needed. Considerable effort has been expended to articulate the goals of SAE. However, these statements about the purpose or goals of SAE are typically broad generalities. For example, the NCAE (2015) stated:

Through their involvement in the SAE program, students are able to consider multiple careers and occupations, learn expected workplace behavior, and develop specific skills within an industry, and are provided opportunities to apply academic and occupational skills in the workplace or a simulated workplace environment. (p. 1)

While this is an excellent general description of the goals of SAE, more specific details may be needed for agricultural teachers to embrace these goals. For example, learning workplace behavior is a general goal that agricultural teachers may readily agree is an important outcome of an SAE. However, the specific workplace behaviors should be identified, and a rationale for the importance of these behaviors should be developed.

One possible universal learning outcome for all SAEs may be recordkeeping skill development. This dissertation found that recordkeeping is frequently taught in agricultural teacher education programs using applied methods such as a simulated record book. Through these applied record book simulations, preservice teachers can develop the technical skill to use and teach recordkeeping. If recordkeeping is determined to be a universal learning outcome that is common to all SAE programs, the purpose of recordkeeping needs to be clearly identified.

There are many possible purposes for recordkeeping that may be considered important by agriculture teachers. One purpose of record keeping may be skill development in data entry that could transfer to a variety of careers. Another could be to use SAE record keeping as a method to facilitate reflection on the student's experience conducting an SAE. A third possible purpose of record keeping could be simply to record the information necessary for FFA award and degree applications. Although, if the purpose of record keeping is to record information for FFA award and degree applications it could be argued that SAE should not be a component of the SBAE model but rather a part of FFA participation similar to career development events.

Additionally, a framework should be developed to help agriculture teachers identify barriers to participation their students may have and recommend SAE types that may overcome these barriers. For example, one of the barriers to SAE participation identified by Retallick (2010) was resource availability. A student may not have the resources to participate in a traditional entrepreneurship SAE or lack the transportation to be able to participate fully in a placement SAE. Perhaps this student would be able to explore career options with an exploratory SAE or perhaps he or she can learn workplace behavior through

a school-based enterprise in a simulated workplace environment. Agriculture teachers guide students in selecting an SAE program. However, a framework could be a helpful tool that agriculture teachers can use to help students from diverse backgrounds select an SAE that meets the students' needs while overcoming barriers.

This list of universal competencies and the framework for overcoming barriers could be used to ensure that the universal goals of SAE are identified and that agriculture teachers have a guide to help match SBAE students with SAE opportunities based on their individual goals and potential barriers. The essential component is to decide what is valuable about SAE and then develop a program that supports these values.

Within agricultural teacher education, more consistency is needed regarding SAE instruction. In an effort to provide assistance to agriculture teacher educators, curriculum has been designed to teach preservice SAE competencies that is available to teacher educators free of charge (Barrick et al., 2015). This curriculum provides a resource that can help to ensure that preservice teachers have the philosophical foundation as well as the training in the AAAE agricultural teacher preparation SAE competencies to successfully implement and manage SAE programs. It is recommended that agricultural teacher educators use these lesson plans to supplement or replace their current SAE curriculum to help ensure that all of the agriculture teacher preparation SAE competencies are addressed in their program in a coherent and structured manner. New agriculture teachers entering the profession with a strong foundation based on the AAAE SAE competencies for teacher preparation and clearly identified universal SAE learning outcomes may be able to overcome barriers to SAE implementation.

Currently, SAE instruction is embedded throughout the agriculture teacher education curriculum. The findings of this dissertation reveal that most of the SAE teacher preparation competencies are taught at an introduced and emphasized level. Teaching these SAE competencies at the introduced or emphasized level rather than at an applied level may contribute to how SAE is implemented in practice by agriculture teachers. For example, if preservice teachers are introduced to and taught to value the conceptualization of SAE as part of the SBAE model their teaching may reflect this conceptualization. However, without specific goals for SAE and the skills to meet these goals, SAE implementation is questionable.

Within agricultural teacher education programs preservice teachers are expected to develop an abstract conceptualization of SAE that may include SAE as part of the SBAE model, supervision, SAE selection and growth, and a variety of other components of SAE. These abstract conceptualizations are developed based on course content such as lecture topics or assignments. Agricultural teacher education programs also include concrete experiences, particularly in student teaching, in which preservice teachers gain experience planning and supervising SAE.

However, participating in a concrete experience or abstract conceptualization are only the grasping experience piece of Kolb's (2015) experiential learning cycle. Other modes within the experiential learning process are essential to the development of knowledge from experience. The experiential learning process is a cycle of grasping and transforming experience (Kolb, 2015). To complete the cycle and create knowledge, experience needs to be transformed through either reflective observation or active experimentation. It is possible that preservice teachers become stuck continually grasping experience, whether through

concrete experience or abstract conceptualization, and never develop knowledge that could help overcome barriers to SAE implementation because reflective observation and active experimentation are left to chance.

Agricultural teacher education programs need to ensure that the experience transformation modes of Kolb's (2015) experiential learning process are purposefully included in SAE instruction in agricultural teacher education to help preservice teachers make meaning of the experience they grasp through abstract conceptualization and participating in a concrete experience. By purposefully using all of the modes of the experiential learning process, agricultural teacher education programs cannot only facilitate reflective observation and active experimentation to complete the experiential learning cycle but they will also model the experiential learning cycle within the curriculum. Modeling the experiential learning process within agricultural teacher education may help the preservice teachers use this process in their teaching once they enter the profession.

The experiential learning process is not limited to SAE. Experiential learning theory is a theory that describes how knowledge is formed (Kolb, 2015). As such, the interaction of the grasping and transformation modes in the experiential learning process should be applied throughout SBAE. An understanding of the experiential learning process developed within agricultural teacher preparation may help agriculture teachers enhance SBAE student learning in the total SBAE program.

#### References

American Association for Agricultural Education. (2013a). *Proposed philosophy on SAE instruction in agriculture teacher education programs*. Retrieved from http://aaaeonline.org/Resources/Documents/SIG%20Files/SAE%20Teacher%20Educ ation%20Philosophy.pdf

American Association for Agricultural Education. (2013b). *Proposed competencies for teacher preparation in SAE*. Retrieved from

http://aaaeonline.org/Resources/Documents/SIG%20Files/SAE%20Competencies.pdf

- Barrick, R. K., De Lay, A., Foster, D. D., Lawver, R. G., Ramsey, J. W., Rayfield, J. S., & Retallick, M. S. (2015). SAE unit plans for agricultural teacher education. Retrieved from http://aec.ifas.ufl.edu/ag-stem-lab/SAEplans.shtml
- Dyer, J. E., & Osborne, E. W. (1995). Participation in supervised agricultural experience programs: A synthesis of research. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 36(1), 6-14. doi:10.5032/jae.1995.01006
- Dyer, J. E., & Osborne, E. W. (1996). Developing a model for supervised agricultural experience program quality: A synthesis of research. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 37(2), 24-33. doi:10.5032/jae.1996.02024
- Dyer, J. E., & Williams, D. L. (1997a). Benefits of supervised agricultural experience programs: A synthesis of research. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 38(4), 50-58. doi:10.5032/jae.1997.04050
- Dyer, J. E., & Williams, D. L. (1997b). Supervision of agricultural experience programs: A synthesis of research. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 38(4), 59-67. doi:10.5032/jae.1997.04059
- Harlin, J. F., Edwards, M. C., & Briers, G. E. (2002). A comparison of student teachers' perceptions of important elements of the student teaching experience before and after an 11-week field experience. *Journal of Agricultural Education 43*(3), 72-83. doi:10.5032/jae.2002.03072

- Kolb, D. A. (2015). Experiential learning: Experience as the source of learning and development (2nd ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.
- Locke, E. A. (1991). The motivation sequence, the motivation hub, and the motivation core. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, *50*, 288-299.

National Council for Agricultural Education. (2015). *Philosophy and guiding principles for execution of the supervised agricultural experience component of the total schoolbased agricultural education program.* Retrieved from https://www.ffa.org/SiteCollectionDocuments/sae guiding principles.pdf

- Retallick, M. S. (2010). Implementation of supervised agricultural education programs: The agriculture teachers' perspective. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 51(4), 59-70. doi:10.5032/jae.2010.04059
- Rubenstein, E. D., Thoron, A. C., & Estepp, C. M. (2014). Perceived self-efficacy of preservice agriculture teachers toward specific SAE competencies. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 55(4), 72-84. doi:10.5032/jae.2014.04072
- Wilson, E. B., & Moore, G. E. (2007). Exploring the paradox of supervised agricultural experience programs in agricultural education. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 48(4), 82-92. doi:10.5032/jae.2007.04082

# APPENDIX A. INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL

# **IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY**

OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

Institutional Review Board Office for Responsible Research Vice President for Research 1138 Pearson Hall Ames, Iowa 5001 1-2207 515 294-4500 FAX 515 294-4267

Date:	3/27/2015				
То:	Bryan Dean Rank 223B Curtiss Hall	CC:	Dr. Michael Retallick 206 Curtiss Hall		
From:	Office for Responsible Research				
Title:	Supervised Agricultural Experience Instruction in Agriculture Teacher Education: A National Descriptive Study				
IRB ID:	15-204				

Study Review Date: 3/27/2015

The project referenced above has been declared exempt from the requirements of the human subject protections regulations as described in 45 CFR 46.101(b) because it meets the following federal requirements for exemption:

- (2) Research involving the use of educational tests (cognitive, diagnostic, aptitude, achievement), survey or interview procedures with adults or observation of public behavior where

   Information obtained is recorded in such a manner that human subjects cannot be identified directly or through

  - Any disclosure of the human subjects' responses outside the research could not reasonably place the subject at risk of criminal or civil liability or be damaging to their financial standing, employability, or reputation.

#### The determination of exemption means that:

You do not need to submit an application for annual continuing review.

You must carry out the research as described in the IRB application. Review by IRB staff is required prior to You must carry out the research as described in the IRB application. Keview by IRB starts required prior to implementing modifications that may change the exempt status of the research. In general, review is required for any modifications to the research procedures (e.g., method of data collection, nature or scope of information to be collected, changes in confidentiality measures, etc.), modifications that result in the inclusion of participants from vulnerable populations, and/or any change that may increase the risk or discomfort to participants. Changes to key personnel must also be approved. The purpose of review is to determine if the project still meets the federal criteria for exemption.

Non-exempt research is subject to many regulatory requirements that must be addressed prior to implementation of the study. Conducting non-exempt research without IRB review and approval may constitute non-compliance with federal regulations and/or academic misconduct according to ISU policy.

Detailed information about requirements for submission of modifications can be found on the Exempt Study Modification Form. A Personnel Change Form may be submitted when the only modification involves changes in study staff. If it is determined that exemption is no longer warranted, then an Application for Approval of Research Involving Humans Form will need to be submitted and approved before proceeding with data collection.

Please note that you must submit all research involving human participants for review. Only the IRB or designees may make the determination of exemption, even if you conduct a study in the future that is exactly like this study.

Please be aware that approval from other entities may also be needed. For example, access to data from private records (e.g. student, medical, or employment records, etc.) that are protected by FERPA, HIPAA, or other confidentiality policies requires permission from the holders of those records. Similarly, for research conducted in institutions other than ISU (e.g., schools, other colleges or universities, medical facilities, companies, etc.), investigators must obtain permission from the institution(s) as required by their policies. An IRB determination of exemption in no way implies or guarantees that permission from these other entities will be granted.

Please don't hesitate to contact us if you have questions or concerns at 515-294-4566 or IRB@iastate.edu.

# IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY

OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY

Institutional Review Board Olfice for Responsible Research Vice President for Research 1138 Pearson Hall Ames, Iowa 50011-2207 515 294-4566 FAX 515 294-4267

Date:	10/23/2015			
To:	Bryan Dean Rank 223B Curtiss Hall	CC:	Dr. Michael Retallick 206 Curtiss Hall	
From:	Office for Responsible Research			
Project Title:	A Content Analysis of Supervised Agricultural Experience Syllabi in Agricultural Teacher Education			
The Co-Chair of	the ISU Institutional Review Board (IRB) has reviewed	d the p	project noted above and determined that the project:	

Does not meet the definition of research according to federal regulations,



Is research that does not involve human subjects according to federal regulations.

Accordingly, this project does not need IRB approval and you may proceed at any time. We do, however, urge you to protect the rights of your participants in the same ways you would if IRB approval were required. For example, best practices include informing participants that involvement in the project is voluntary and maintaining confidentiality as appropriate.

If you modify the project, we recommend communicating with the IRB staff to ensure that the modifications do not change this determination such that IRB approval is required.
# APPENDIX B. CONTENT AND PLACEMENT SURVEY INSTRUMENT

# SAE Content and Placement

Q30. Thank you for participating in this survey. Supervised agricultural experience (SAE) is one component of a complete school-based agricultural education program. Through SAE, students are able to apply knowledge and learn skills in a real-world context through planned and supervised experience. Your responses will help to identify how SAE instruction and content is delivered in agricultural teacher education programs across the nation. Please keep in mind that your responses represent your program as a whole and not just the individual courses you may teach. You are being asked to respond as the representative of your agriculture teacher education department. This survey is confidential. Responses will not be linked to your name or your institution in any reports of data. Participation in this survey is voluntary, and you may skip any questions you prefer not to answer. If you have any questions or comments, please contact Bryan Rank (406.860.8609 or bdrank@iastate.edu) or Dr. Retallick (515.294.4810 or msr@iastate.edu). Please check the box below to indicate your consent to participate in this survey.

 $\Box$  I consent to participate in this survey. (1)

Q8. Does your institution have any current students or recent graduates (within 5 years) with a teaching certification/licensure major in Agriculture Education? (choose one)

**O** Yes (1)

**O** No (2)

If No Is Selected, Then Skip to End of Survey

Q30. My institution's agriculture teacher education program is housed within a department or school of . . .

- □ Agricultural Education (1)
- □ Career and Technical Education (2)
- $\Box \quad \text{Education (3)}$
- □ Other (4) \_\_\_\_\_

Q17. Please select the context(s) in which your institution offers SAE instruction. (Select all that apply.)

- □ Undergraduate (1)
- Graduate (2)
- □ Continuing Education / Professional Development (3)
- □ Alternative certification programs not offered for graduate credit (4)
- □ SAE is not part of our instruction (6)

□ Other (5) \_\_\_\_

If SAE is not part of our inst . . . Is Selected, Then Skip to End of Survey

Answer If Please select the context(s) in which your institution offers SAE instruction. (select all that a

Answer If Please select the context(s) in which your institution offers SAE instruction. (select all that a... Undergraduate Is Selected

Q4. In which category of undergraduate agriculture teacher education courses are objectives specifically related to SAE addressed? (select all that apply)

- □ Introduction / Orientation (1)
- □ Foundations (2)
- **Teaching Methods (3)**
- D Program Planning (4)
- □ SAE / Experiential Learning Course (5)
- **G** Educational Psychology (6)
- □ Early Field Experience (7)
- □ Student Teaching (8)
- □ Other (Please identify in the space provided.) (9) \_

... Graduate Is Selected

Q34. In which category of graduate agriculture teacher education courses are objectives specifically related to SAE addressed? (select all that apply)

- □ Introduction / Orientation (1)
- □ Foundations (2)
- **Teaching Methods (3)**
- D Program Planning (4)
- □ SAE / Experiential Learning Course (5)
- □ Educational Psychology (6)
- □ Early Field Experience (7)
- □ Student Teaching (8)

□ Other (Please identify in the space provided.) (9)

Answer If Please select the context(s) in which your institution offers SAE instruction. (select all that a... Alternative certification programs not offered for graduate credit Is Selected

Q35. In the space provided, please describe your institution's alternative certification SAE instruction.

Q2. Please choose content from the list below that describes the SAE content that is delivered at your institution. (select all that apply)

- $\Box$  Historical Context of the SAE (1)
- Experiential Learning Theory (2)
- □ Record Keeping / Accounting (3)
- □ Specific Record Keeping Systems (i.e. paper-based or electronic) (4)
- □ Types of SAE (i.e. entrepreneurship) (5)
- □ Proficiency Award and FFA Degree Applications (6)
- □ SAE Selection, Creation, Management and Growth (7)
- □ Stakeholder Involvement (8)
- □ Summer Programs (20)
- □ Supervision (9)
- □ Safety / Liability (10)
- Diversity / Options for All Students (11)
- □ Specific Agriculture Skills (12)
- □ Specific Home Improvement Skills (17)
- □ SAE Reporting / Communication (16)
- □ Other (15) \_\_\_\_\_

Answer If Please choose topics from the list below that describe the SAE content that is delivered in your... Specific Record Keeping Systems (i.e. paper-based or electronic) Is Selected

Q16. Please enter the name(s) of the specific record keeping system(s) you teach.

Q15. The following questions measure the level of instruction in SAE at your institution. The scale is described as: Not at All - Not Introduced. Introduced - Introduces students to a content area or skill they are not familiar with. Emphasized - Content area or skill has been introduced and students have a basic knowledge. Instruction is focused on enhancing content and building a more complex understanding. Reinforced - Instruction builds upon a competency that has been previously introduced/emphasized and reinforces the content or skill. Applied - Applies the content or skill in a problem-solving or real-world context. Please rate the competencies from "Not at All" to "Applied" based on the degree to which they are incorporated into your institution's teacher education curriculum.

Q8. Please indicate the level of instruction, if at all, in your agriculture teacher education curriculum relating to the following statements. Our agriculture teacher education curriculum prepares candidates to:

Articulate the theories of experiential learning as they relate to school- based agricultural education. (1)	О	О	О	О	0
Define, by example, the four recognized SAE types (i.e. entrepreneurship, placement, research and experimentation, and exploratory). (2)	0	0	O	0	0
Relate the process of student SAE selection, creation, and growth toward college and/or career readiness to your state's interpretation of Career Clusters & Pathways. (3)	О	0	О	0	0
Create a sequential curriculum to guide students through SAE selection and creation, management, and analysis. (4)	О	0	0	О	0

Q9. Please indicate the level of instruction, if at all, in your agriculture teacher education curriculum relating to the following statements. Our agriculture teacher education curriculum prepares candidates to:

	Not at All (0)	Introduced (1)	Emphasized (2)	Reinforced (3)	Applied (4)
Interpret the positive impacts of developing an instructional relationship involving parents/guardians in the establishment and management of an SAE. (1)	0	0	o	o	0
Design a formal procedure for incorporating the employer relationship into the establishment and experiential progression of an exploratory or placement SAE. (2)	o	0	o	o	0
Describe the relationship of instructional SAE visitations as a means of individualized learning to support college and/or career readiness of the school-based agricultural education student. (3)	o	0	o	о	o
Formulate a record keeping strategy to document student SAE outcomes based upon the concept of career pathway progression. (4)	o	0	o	o	o

Q11. Please indicate the level of instruction, if at all, in your agriculture teacher education curriculum relating to the following statements. Our agriculture teacher education curriculum prepares candidates to:

Illustrate to school administration the intra- curricular nature of SAE as an extended teaching strategy for learning within a selected career pathway. (1)	О	0	О	0	0
Conduct an SAE supervisory visit and enlist the assistance of others in SAE supervision. (2)	О	O	O	O	О
Design a reporting procedure to school administration that measures and validates student learning outcomes as a result of year-round SAE supervision. (3)	O	O	O	O	O

Q12. Please indicate the level of instruction, if at all, in your agriculture teacher education curriculum relating to the following statements. Our agriculture teacher education curriculum prepares candidates to:

Design a curriculum unit in which students are introduced to the basic elements of record keeping as they relate to enterprise development and management. (1)	0	0	O	0	0
Adapt an SAE record keeping format appropriate for an enterprise in each of the four recognized types of SAE (i.e. entrepreneurship, placement, research and experimentation, and exploratory). (2)	0	0	O	0	0
Devise a plan to incorporate SAE involvement into the school-based agricultural education program grading system. (3)	0	O	O	0	0

Q14. Please indicate the level of instruction, if at all, in your agriculture teacher education curriculum relating to the following statements. Our agriculture teacher education curriculum prepares candidates to:

	Not at A11 (0)	Introduced (1)	Emphasized (2)	Reinforced (3)	Applied (4)
Write measurable student learning outcomes that provide evidence of progress toward selected career pathway goals and college and/or career readiness based upon various student SAE records. (1)	0	o	o	o	o
Design a strategy to compare and contrast individual student progress toward selected college and/or career readiness, and prepare a summary report of findings to appropriate entities based on a four year time period. (2)	0	0	0	0	0
Develop a plan of comprehensive student growth toward college and /or career readiness within each of the four recognized types of SAE (i.e. entrepreneurship, placement, research and experimentation, and exploratory). (3)	0	0	0	0	o

Q18. Assuming that theoretical, conceptual and practical are categories of instruction on a continuum, please slide the bar to indicate where your agriculture teacher education program's SAE instruction would fall when responding to the following statement. The categories of instruction are described as: Theoretical - Discusses experiential learning theory and its role in SAE. Conceptual - Introduces and discusses SAE as part of the three component model and its role in SBAE. Practical - Students apply theoretical and/or conceptual knowledge in a problem-solving or real-world context.

\_\_\_\_\_ Do you consider your institution's SAE instruction to be more theoretical, conceptual or practical? (1)

Does your institution require documented SAE visits as part of early field experience? (1)	O	0
Does your institution require documented SAE visits as part of student teaching? (2)	0	Ο
Does your institution teach time management strategies as a part of the SAE curriculum? (3)	O	O
Does your institution require students to create an SAE plan? (4)	0	0
Does your institution require students to prepare a report of summer supervision activities? (5)	0	Ο
Does your institution share best practices to increase SAE participation? (6)	0	Ο

Q38. Please answer Yes or No to each of the following questions.





Q26. Please select the type of institution you are affiliated with.

- **O** 1862 Land Grant (1)
- **O** 1890 Land Grant (2)
- O Regional/State (3)
- **O** Private (4)

Q29. Who teaches SAE content (stand-alone or embedded) at your institution? (select all that apply)

- □ Tenured / Tenure Track Faculty (1)
- □ Non-Tenure Track Faculty (2)
- Graduate Teaching Assistant(s) (3)

Answer If Who teaches SAE content (stand-alone or embedded) at your institution? (select all that apply) Tenured / Tenure Track Faculty Is Selected

Q26. Are your institution's Tenured / Tenure Track Faculty trained in agricultural education? (Yes or No)

- **O** Yes (1)
- **O** No (2)

Answer If Who teaches SAE content (stand-alone or embedded) at your institution? (select all that apply) Non-Tenure Track Faculty Is Selected

Q27. Are your institution's Non-Tenure Track Faculty trained in agricultural education? (Yes or No)

- **O** Yes (1)
- **O** No (2)

# APPENDIX C. CONTENT ANALYSIS DEDUCTIVE CODING FORM

# **Coding Document**

# Themes

- 1. Agriculture Teacher Responsibilities (Responsibilities that are not directly supervision)
- 2. Experiential learning in SAE (Addresses EL or Learning)
- 3. History and Philosophy (Historical/Philosophical Context)
- 4. Legal and Ethical (Legal and Ethical Responsibilities)
- 5. Overall SBAE Program (Relation within total program, 3-circle model)
- **6. Record Book** (Recordkeeping, Accounting, AET)
- 7. Selection and Growth (4-year plans, selecting and SAE, expanding and SAE)
- 8. Specific Agriculture or Career Skills (Skills in agriculture or 21st-Century Skills)
- 9. Structure (Types of SAE, Evaluating SAE, and Partnerships with community)
- 10. Supervision (Supervision, SAE Visits)

# Component

- 1. Activity (In class or out of class, short time frame, may or may not be graded, worksheet)
- 2. Assignment (Larger project, counts as a grade, listed in syllabus as an assignment)
- 3. Objective (Learning Objective)
- 4. Observation (Specific field experience observation or interview)
- 5. Resource (Flow chart, List, Informational Handout)
- 6. Topic (Lecture topic, Lab Topic, Focus, not stated as a learning objective)

# Directions

Highlight SAE content or component codes in the document. Label highlighted codes with the numbers corresponding to the theme and content. For example, a code that was thought to be part of the supervision theme and contained an assignment would be highlighted and labeled as 10-2.

# APPENDIX D. REPRINTING PERMISSIONS



Permissions 200 OLD TAPPAN ROAD OLD TAPPAN, NJ 07675 USAPermissions@pearson.com

Jun 27, 2016

PE Ref # 195962

Bryan Rank Iowa State University 1305 S. G Ave #3 Nevada, IA 50201

Dear Bryan Rank,

You have our permission to include content from our text, EXPERIENTLAL LEARNING: EXPERIENCE AS THE SOURCE OF LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT, 2nd Ed. by KOLB, DAVID A., in your dissertation or thesis at IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY.

Content to be included is: page 68 Figure 3.1

Please credit our material as follows: KOLB, DAVID A., EXPERIENTIAL LEARNING: EXPERIENCE AS THE SOURCE OF LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT, 2nd, ©2015. Reprinted by permission of Pearson Education, Inc., New York, New York.

Sincerely, Julia Payle, Permissions Administrator



Bryan Rank <bdrank@iastate.edu>

# Permission Request: Model that appears in a JAE article

Bryan Rank <br/>bdrank@iastate.edu><br/>To: harry.boone@mail.wvu.edu

Mon, Jun 13, 2016 at 2:25 PM

Dear Dr. Boone,

I am writing to ask permission to use a model that appears in an article published in the *Journal of Agricultural Education* as part of the literature review for my dissertation. The title of the model is Figure 3. *Comprehensive model for secondary agricultural education*. The model appears on page 9 of the article referenced below.

Baker, M. A., Robinson, J. S., & Kolb, D. A. (2012). Aligning Kolb's experiential learning theory with a comprehensive agricultural education model. *Journal of Agricultural Education*, 53(4), 1–16. doi:10.5032/jae.2012.04001

Thank you for your assistance.

Bryan

Bryan D. Rank Graduate Assistant Agricultural Education and Studies

223B Curtiss Hall Ames, IA 50011-1050

Iowa State University

Phone: 406.860.8609 (cell) Fax: 515.294.0530



Bryan Rank <bdrank@iastate.edu>

# Permission Request: Model that appears in a JAE article

Harry Boone <hnboone@wvu.edu> To: Bryan Rank <bdrank@iastate.edu> Tue, Jun 14, 2016 at 10:32 AM

Bryan,

I have included a copy of the copyright statement for the *Journal*. Based on your statement (intended use) there would not be an issue included the model in a review of literature. Be sure to give the author's credit through proper citations.

© Journal of Agricultural Education, a publication of the American Association for Agricultural Education. Permission is granted to use materials for personal reference, academic uses, and inclusion in authors' employing universities' institutional repositories. Materials may not otherwise be reproduced, copied, altered in any way, or transmitted to others without the written permission of the Journal of Agricultural Education. Contact the editor to seek permission to use these materials.

# Harry N. Boone, Jr., Ph.D.

Professor and Chair Agricultural and Extension Education School of Design and Community Development Davis College of Agriculture, Natural Resources and Design West Virginia University 2058 Agricultural Sciences Building P.O. Box 6108 Morgantown, WV 26506 (304) 293-5451 harry.boone@mail.wvu.edu

# https://s100.copyright.com/App/PrintableLicenseFrame.jsp?publisherI...

## ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

May 14, 2016

This is a License Agreement between Bryan D Rank ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier, and the payment terms and conditions.

# All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

Supplier	Elsevier Limited The Boulevard,Langford Lane Kidlington,Oxford,OX5 1GB,UK
Registered Company Number	1982084
Customer name	Bryan D Rank
Customer address	1305 S. G Ave #3
	NEVADA, IA 50201
License number	3867710695094
License date	May 14, 2016
Licensed content publisher	Elsevier
Licensed content publication	Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes
Licensed content title	The motivation sequence, the motivation hub, and the motivation core
Licensed content author	Edwin A Locke
Licensed content date	December 1991
Licensed content volume number	50
Licensed content issue number	2
Number of pages	12
Start Page	288
End Page	299
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables /illustrations	1
Format	both print and electronic
Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	No
Will you be translating?	No
Original figure numbers	1

https://s100.copyright.com/App/PrintableLicenseFrame.jsp?publisherI...

Title of your thesis/dissertation	SUPERVISED AGRICULTURAL EXPERIENCE INSTRUCTION IN AGRICULTURAL TEACHER EDUCATION: A NATIONAL DESCRIPTIVE STUDY
Expected completion date	Jun 2016
Estimated size (number of pages)	150
Elsevier VAT number	GB 494 6272 12
Permissions price	0.00 USD
VAT/Local Sales Tax	0.00 USD / 0.00 GBP
Total	0.00 USD
Terms and Conditions	

# INTRODUCTION

1. The publisher for this copyrighted material is Elsevier. By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the Billing and Payment terms and conditions established by Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. ("CCC"), at the time that you opened your Rightslink account and that are available at any time at http://myaccount.copyright.com).

## GENERAL TERMS

2. Elsevier hereby grants you permission to reproduce the aforementioned material subject to the terms and conditions indicated.

3. Acknowledgement: If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source, permission must also be sought from that source. If such permission is not obtained then that material may not be included in your publication/copies. Suitable acknowledgement to the source must be made, either as a footnote or in a reference list at the end of your publication, as follows:

"Reprinted from Publication title, Vol /edition number, Author(s), Title of article / title of chapter, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier [OR APPLICABLE SOCIETY COPYRIGHT OWNER]." Also Lancet special credit - "Reprinted from The Lancet, Vol. number, Author(s), Title of article, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier."

Reproduction of this material is confined to the purpose and/or media for which permission is hereby given.

5. Altering/Modifying Material: Not Permitted. However figures and illustrations may be altered/adapted minimally to serve your work. Any other abbreviations, additions, deletions and/or any other alterations shall be made only with prior written authorization of Elsevier Ltd. (Please contact Elsevier at permissions@elsevier.com)

6. If the permission fee for the requested use of our material is waived in this instance, please be advised that your future requests for Elsevier materials may attract a fee.
7. Reservation of Rights: Publisher reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

8. License Contingent Upon Payment: While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the

### https://s100.copyright.com/App/PrintableLicenseFrame.jsp?publisherI...

transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by publisher or by CCC) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and publisher reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

9. Warranties: Publisher makes no representations or warranties with respect to the licensed material.

10. Indemnity: You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless publisher and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

11. No Transfer of License: This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned, or transferred by you to any other person without publisher's written permission.
12. No Amendment Except in Writing: This license may not be amended except in a writing signed by both parties (or, in the case of publisher, by CCC on publisher's behalf).
13. Objection to Contrary Terms: Publisher hereby objects to any terms contained in any purchase order, acknowledgment, check endorsement or other writing prepared by you, which terms are inconsistent with these terms and conditions or CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. These terms and conditions, together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein), comprise the entire agreement between you and publisher (and CCC) concerning this licensing transaction. In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

14. Revocation: Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center may deny the permissions described in this License at their sole discretion, for any reason or no reason, with a full refund payable to you. Notice of such denial will be made using the contact information provided by you. Failure to receive such notice will not alter or invalidate the denial. In no event will Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center be responsible or liable for any costs, expenses or damage incurred by you as a result of a denial of your permission request, other than a refund of the amount(s) paid by you to Elsevier and/or Copyright Clearance Center for denied permissions.

## LIMITED LICENSE

The following terms and conditions apply only to specific license types: 15. **Translation**: This permission is granted for non-exclusive world **English** rights only unless your license was granted for translation rights. If you licensed translation rights you may only translate this content into the languages you requested. A professional translator must perform all translations and reproduce the content word for word preserving the integrity of the article.

16. Posting licensed content on any Website: The following terms and conditions apply as follows: Licensing material from an Elsevier journal: All content posted to the web site must

#### https://s100.copyright.com/App/PrintableLicenseFrame.jsp?publisherI...

maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image; A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx or the Elsevier homepage for books at http://www.elsevier.com; Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu.

Licensing material from an Elsevier book: A hyper-text link must be included to the Elsevier homepage at <a href="http://www.elsevier.com">http://www.elsevier.com</a>. All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image.

**Posting licensed content on Electronic reserve**: In addition to the above the following clauses are applicable: The web site must be password-protected and made available only to bona fide students registered on a relevant course. This permission is granted for 1 year only. You may obtain a new license for future website posting.

17. For journal authors: the following clauses are applicable in addition to the above: **Preprints:** 

A preprint is an author's own write-up of research results and analysis, it has not been peer-reviewed, nor has it had any other value added to it by a publisher (such as formatting, copyright, technical enhancement etc.).

Authors can share their preprints anywhere at any time. Preprints should not be added to or enhanced in any way in order to appear more like, or to substitute for, the final versions of articles however authors can update their preprints on arXiv or RePEc with their Accepted Author Manuscript (see below).

If accepted for publication, we encourage authors to link from the preprint to their formal publication via its DOI. Millions of researchers have access to the formal publications on ScienceDirect, and so links will help users to find, access, cite and use the best available version. Please note that Cell Press, The Lancet and some society-owned have different preprint policies. Information on these policies is available on the journal homepage. **Accepted Author Manuscripts:** An accepted author manuscript is the manuscript of an article that has been accepted for publication and which typically includes authorincorporated changes suggested during submission, peer review and editor-author communications.

Authors can share their accepted author manuscript:

#### immediately

- via their non-commercial person homepage or blog
- by updating a preprint in arXiv or RePEc with the accepted manuscript
- via their research institute or institutional repository for internal institutional uses or as part of an invitation-only research collaboration work-group
- directly by providing copies to their students or to research collaborators for their personal use
- for private scholarly sharing as part of an invitation-only work group on commercial sites with which Elsevier has an agreement
- after the embargo period
  - via non-commercial hosting platforms such as their institutional repository
  - via commercial sites with which Elsevier has an agreement

https://s100.copyright.com/App/PrintableLicenseFrame.jsp?publisherI...

In all cases accepted manuscripts should:

- link to the formal publication via its DOI
- bear a CC-BY-NC-ND license this is easy to do
- if aggregated with other manuscripts, for example in a repository or other site, be shared in alignment with our hosting policy not be added to or enhanced in any way to appear more like, or to substitute for, the published journal article.

**Published journal article (JPA):** A published journal article (PJA) is the definitive final record of published research that appears or will appear in the journal and embodies all value-adding publishing activities including peer review co-ordination, copy-editing, formatting, (if relevant) pagination and online enrichment.

Policies for sharing publishing journal articles differ for subscription and gold open access articles:

<u>Subscription Articles:</u> If you are an author, please share a link to your article rather than the full-text. Millions of researchers have access to the formal publications on ScienceDirect, and so links will help your users to find, access, cite, and use the best available version. Theses and dissertations which contain embedded PJAs as part of the formal submission can be posted publicly by the awarding institution with DOI links back to the formal publications on ScienceDirect.

If you are affiliated with a library that subscribes to ScienceDirect you have additional private sharing rights for others' research accessed under that agreement. This includes use for classroom teaching and internal training at the institution (including use in course packs and courseware programs), and inclusion of the article for grant funding purposes.

<u>Gold Open Access Articles:</u> May be shared according to the author-selected end-user license and should contain a <u>CrossMark logo</u>, the end user license, and a DOI link to the formal publication on ScienceDirect.

Please refer to Elsevier's posting policy for further information.

18. For book authors the following clauses are applicable in addition to the above: Authors are permitted to place a brief summary of their work online only. You are not allowed to download and post the published electronic version of your chapter, nor may you scan the printed edition to create an electronic version. Posting to a repository: Authors are permitted to post a summary of their chapter only in their institution's repository. 19. Thesis/Dissertation: If your license is for use in a thesis/dissertation your thesis may be submitted to your institution in either print or electronic form. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission. These requirements include permission for the Library and Archives of Canada to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for Proquest/UMI to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission which contain embedded PJAs as part of the formal submission can be posted publicly by the awarding institution with DOI links back to the formal publications on ScienceDirect.

## Elsevier Open Access Terms and Conditions

You can publish open access with Elsevier in hundreds of open access journals or in nearly 2000 established subscription journals that support open access publishing. Permitted third party re-use of these open access articles is defined by the author's choice of Creative

#### https://s100.copyright.com/App/PrintableLicenseFrame.jsp?publisherI...

Commons user license. See our open access license policy for more information. Terms & Conditions applicable to all Open Access articles published with Elsevier: Any reuse of the article must not represent the author as endorsing the adaptation of the article nor should the article be modified in such a way as to damage the author's honour or reputation. If any changes have been made, such changes must be clearly indicated. The author(s) must be appropriately credited and we ask that you include the end user license and a DOI link to the formal publication on ScienceDirect. If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source it is the responsibility of the user to ensure their reuse complies with the terms and conditions determined by the rights holder. Additional Terms & Conditions applicable to each Creative Commons user license: CC BY: The CC-BY license allows users to copy, to create extracts, abstracts and new works from the Article, to alter and revise the Article and to make commercial use of the Article (including reuse and/or resale of the Article by commercial entities), provided the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, indicates if changes were made and the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. The full details of the license are available at http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0.

CC BY NC SA: The CC BY-NC-SA license allows users to copy, to create extracts, abstracts and new works from the Article, to alter and revise the Article, provided this is not done for commercial purposes, and that the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, indicates if changes were made and the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. Further, any new works must be made available on the same conditions. The full details of the license are available at <a href="http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0">http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0</a>. CC BY NC ND: The CC BY-NC-ND license allows users to copy and distribute the Article,

provided this is not done for commercial purposes and further does not permit distribution of the Article if it is changed or edited in any way, and provided the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, and that the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. The full details of the license are available at <u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0</u>. Any commercial reuse of Open Access articles published with a CC BY NC SA or CC BY NC ND license requires permission from Elsevier and will be subject to a fee. Commercial reuse includes:

- Associating advertising with the full text of the Article
- Charging fees for document delivery or access
- Article aggregation
- Systematic distribution via e-mail lists or share buttons

Posting or linking by commercial companies for use by customers of those companies.

## 20. Other Conditions:

## v1.8

https://s100.copyright.com/App/PrintableLicenseFrame.jsp?publisherI...

5/14/2016 11:02 AM